ISSN (on-line) 2178-7875

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia

Volume 26 Issue 1 March 2018

www.museu-goeldi.br/rbo



Published by the Brazilian Ornithological Society Rio Grande - RS

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia

EDITOR IN CHIEF	Leandro Bugoni, E-mail: lbugoni@	<i>Universidade Federal do Rio Grande - FURG</i> , Rio Grande, RS byahoo.com.br
MANAGING OFFICE	Vitor Moretti	
ASSOCIATE EDITORS		
Evolutionary Biology:	Fá G	ábio Raposo do Amaral, <i>Universidade Federal de São Paulo</i> , Diadema, SP Justavo Sebastián Cabanne, <i>Museo Argentino de Ciencias Naturales "Bernadino Rivadavia</i> ", Buenos Aires, Argentina
Behavior:	C C Ed	arla Suertegaray Fontana, <i>Pontificia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul</i> , Porto Alegre, RS ristiano Schetini de Azevedo, <i>Universidade Federal de Ouro Preto</i> , Ouro Preto, MG duardo S. Santos, <i>Universidade de São Paulo</i> , São Paulo, SP
Ecology & Conservation:	С	aio Graco Machado, <i>Universidade Estadual de Feira de Santana</i> , Feira de Santana, BA
Systematics, Taxonomy, and I	Distribution: Lu M	uís Fábio Silveira, <i>Universidade de São Paulo</i> , São Paulo, SP Iarcos Pérsio Dantas Santos, <i>Universidade Federal do Pará</i> , Belém, PA
EDITORIAL COUNCIL	E R Jo M Lu	nrique Bucher, <i>Universidad Nacional de Córdoba</i> , Argentina ichard O. Bierregaard Jr., <i>University of North Carolina</i> , USA osé Maria Cardoso da Silva, <i>Conservation International</i> , USA figuel Ângelo Marini, <i>Universidade de Brasília</i> , Brasília, DF uiz Antônio Pedreira Gonzaga, <i>Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro</i> , Rio de Janeiro, RJ

** The work of the Editor in Chief, Managing Office, Associate Editors, and the Editorial Council of Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia is strictly voluntary, and does not involve the use of any resources and infrastructure other than the personal ones**

SOCIEDADE BRASILEIRA DE ORNITOLOGIA (Established in 1987) www.ararajuba.org.br

ELECTED BOARD	President	: Carla Suertegaray Fontana, Pontificia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul – PUCRS, Porto Alegre, RS
(2018–2019)	1 st Secreta	ary: Patrícia Pereira Serafini, Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade, Centro Nacional de Pesquisa e Conservação
	das Aves S	Silvestres – CEMAVE, Florianópolis, SC
	2 nd Secret	ary: Elizabeth Höfling, <i>Museu de História Natural de Taubaté e Universidade de São Paulo</i> , São Paulo, SP
	1 st Treasu	rer: Thaiane Weinert da Silva, Pontificia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul – PUCRS, Porto Alegre, RS
	2 nd Treasu	ırer: Helder F. Pereira de Araújo, <i>Universidade Federal da Paraíba,</i> Areia, PB
ELECTED COUNCIL	ORS	Miguel Ângelo Marini (2016–2019), <i>Universidade de Brasília,</i> Brasília, DF
		Marcos André Raposo Ferreira (2016–2019), Museu Nacional – UFRJ, Rio de Janeiro, RJ
		Luiz dos Anjos (2018–2021), Universidade Estadual de Londrina, Londrina, PR
FINNANCIAL COUN	CIL	Maria Alice dos Santos Alves, Universidade Estadual do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, RJ
(2018-2019)		Cristina Yumi Miyaki, Universidade de São Paulo – USP, São Paulo, SP
		Pedro Ferreira Develey, <i>Sociedade para a Conservação das Aves do Brasil – SAVE Brasil,</i> São Paulo, SP

The *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* (ISSN 2178-7867 and 2178-7875) is an open access journal edited by the Elected Board and Councilors of the Brazilian Ornithological Society and published four times a year. It aims to publish papers, short communications, reviews, news, and editorials on ornithology in general, with an emphasis on Neotropical birds. All volumes of *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* can be downloaded for free at http://www.museu-goeldi.br/rbo

Cover: The Burrowing Owl (*Athene cunicularia*) is a widely distributed species in Neotropics, common in human-altered environments, including farms and cities. In this issue, Franco & Marçal-Junior studied its distribution and burrow characteristics in a range of urban habitats in southeastern Brazil, while Cavalli *et al.* (in this issue) compared blood stress indicators in owls from rural and urban areas in Argentina. Photo author: Ronald Gruijters.

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia

Volume 26 Issue 1 March 2018

www.museu-goeldi.br/rbo

Published by the Brazilian Ornithological Society Rio Grande - RS

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia

Impact Factor: 0.414 This is a Qualis CAPES B3 journal.

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia is published with funds from:



Manuscripts published by *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* are covered by the following indexing databases: Biological Abstracts, EBSCO, Scopus (Biobase, Geobase, and EMBiology), Zoological Record and Web of Science[®].

> ZooBank Register urn:lsid:zoobank.org:pub:6F023490-1FF1-41FD-A720-84F548E5D65C

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia / Sociedade Brasileira de Ornitologia. Vol. 26, n.1 (2018) -Belém, A Sociedade, 2005 v. : il. ; 30 cm. Continuation of:. Ararajuba: Vol.1 (1990) - 13(1) (2005). ISSN: 2178-7867 (printed) ISSN: 2178-7875 (on-line) 1. Ornitologia. I. Sociedade Brasileira de Ornitologia.

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia

Volume 26 – Issue 1 – March 2018

CONTENTS

BEHAVIOR

Influence of urbanization on the distribution and defense strategies of the Burrowing Owl Athene cunicularia in the city of Uberlândia, southeastern Brazil	
Felipe Fina Franco & Oswaldo Marçal-Junior	1
A review of flocking behavior by Hook-billed Kite, Chondrohierax uncinatus, in South America	
Sidnei de Melo Dantas, Carlos Eduardo Bustamante Portes, Eleonora Pinheiro & Guy M. Kirwan	9
Several cavity-nesting birds fight for a single tree hollow in an Atlantic Forest fragment: consequence of increasing nest-site limitation?	
Alexander V. Christianini	12
ECOLOGY & CONSERVATION	
A review of the ornithological knowledge of the northern Serra do Mar mountains in the state of São Paulo, southeastern Brazil	
Fabio Schunck, José Fernando Pacheco, Alexsander Z. Antunes, Ricardo Luís Gagliardi & Luís Fábio Silveira	15
Leukocyte profiles and body condition of free-living Burrowing Owls (<i>Athene cunicularia</i>) from rural and urban areas in the Argentinean Pampas	
Matilde Cavalli, Alejandro V. Baladrón, Juan P. Isacch, Verónica D'Amico & María S. Bó	45
Diet of the Spectacled Owl (Pulsatrix perspicillata) in Zapotillo, southwestern Ecuador	
Adrian Orihuela-Torres, Leonardo Ordóñez-Delgado, Andrés Verdezoto-Celi & Jorge Brito	52

SYSTEMATICS, TAXONOMY AND DISTRIBUTION

Rapid southward and upward range expansion of a tropical songbird, the Thrush-like Wren (<i>Campylorhynchus turdinus</i>), in South America: a consequence of habitat or climate change?	
Floyd E. Hayes, Peter Lecourt & Hugo del Castillo	57
New and noteworthy records of waterbirds from Paraguay	
Arne J. Lesterhuis, Robert P. Clay & Paul Smith	65
Instructions to Authors	74

Influence of urbanization on the distribution and defense strategies of the Burrowing Owl *Athene cunicularia* in the city of Uberlândia, southeastern Brazil

Felipe Fina Franco^{1,2,3} & Oswaldo Marçal-Junior²

³ Corresponding author: felipefinafranco@hotmail.com

Received on 19 September 2017. Accepted on 19 January 2018.

ABSTRACT: Urbanization causes drastic changes in habitat and species behavior. In birds, these changes influenced the extinction of some species. The Burrowing Owl *Athene cunicularia* (Molina, 1782) (Aves: Strigiformes) has achieved some success in its adaptive process in anthropic environments. The main objective of this study was to measure distribution of this species in urban areas. The specific objectives were to quantify and compare the occurrence of this owl and its satellite burrows among urban biotopes; evaluate the importance of satellite burrows as a defense strategy and compare the depth of burrows in different biotopes. Field activities were carried out from August 2015 to November 2016. Sixty areas were sampled in different urban regions. The species was present in 29 of the 60 sites investigated, totaling 112 individuals, 88 adults, 14 young and 10 chicks; 98 burrows were recorded, from which 22 were refuges, seven nests and 67 satellite burrows. Residential and Urban Green Area biotopes had the highest number of individuals and burrows with a significant difference relative to the Commercial/Industrial biotope. A greater number of individuals were found in areas with a high number of burrows showing a positive linear relationship between these variables. The burrows were deepest, on average, in Urban Green Area biotopes. We conclude that the species has a wide distribution in the city with significantly high numbers in the Residential biotope. This same tendency is verified for the distribution of burrows. In areas with a large number of individuals, the same was observed for the number of satellite burrows. Deeper burrows in the Urban Green Areas are perhaps due to the greater transit of people, one of the main features of this biotope and one of the major threats to the Burrowing Owls.

KEY-WORDS: biotope, habitat, occurrence, satellite burrows, survival.

INTRODUCTION

Urbanization can be defined as a process of anthropic occupation that gradually transforms natural environments and includes the presence of relatively permanent human populations on the site (Marzluff et al. 2001). On a global scale, anthropic pressures have influenced the structure and behavior of faunal populations and communities, and also of ecosystems in remnants of natural areas (Bradshaw & Holzapfel 2006, Delibes et al. 2011). Human presence can lead to population decline, persistence, or even the expansion of bird distributions (Sih et al. 2011). Furthermore, the disturbances caused by anthropic actions seem to be causing changes in the distribution and behavior of birds and might also be leading many species to extinction (Silva & Nakano 2008).

Many birds have adapted to the anthropic environment and their presence is important for pest control, such as predation of rats and insects, besides having an important role in the food chain (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005). In addition, they perform functions like pollination and dispersal of fruits and seeds (Silva & Nakano 2008).

Some of these birds live in urban environments, such as Athene cunicularia (Molina, 1782), that is widely distributed throughout the Americas, from Canada to southern Argentina (Poulin et al. 2005, 2011). Burrowing Owls have preference for open habitats, foraging and breeding in short, low-density vegetation and mainly grasslands (Rebolo-Ifrán et al. 2017). These owls are common in Brazil and known for being urban dwellers, showing behavioral adjustments to anthropicaltered environments (although they are commonly observed in natural areas) (Sick 1997, Motta-Junior & Alho 2000). Some populations are able to exploit human-made habitats with a preference for urban over rural areas (natural grasslands and low-intensive agropastoral lands) (Rebolo-Ifrán et al. 2017). Main causes of mortality include collisions with vehicles and nest

¹ Graduate Program in Ecology and Conservation of Natural Resources, Institute of Biology, Federal University of Uberlândia, Campus Umuarama, Rua Ceará s/n, Bloco 2D, sala 34, Uberlândia, MG, 38400-902, Brazil.

² Laboratory of Ornithology and Bioacustics, Federal University of Uberlândia, Campus Umuarama, Rua Ceará s/n, Bloco 2D, sala 34, Uberlândia, MG, 38400-902, Brazil.

destruction (Silva 2002). The behavioral responses of Burrowing Owls to threats can be easily recognized, such as the use of deep burrows, use of satellite burrows, flying away in the presence of potential predators, making alarm calls, adopting threat postures and some type of attacks (Coulombe 1971, Thomsen 1971, Fisher *et al.* 2004).

Burrowing Owls are present in many parts of the world and are considered one of the main predator species of rodents in urban areas (Martins & Eagler 1990, Sick 1997, Motta-Junior & Alho 2000). However, the behavior of the species is affected by urbanization and it is reported that the increase in vehicular traffic around the nest produces an increase in the couple's waking time (Plumpton & Lutz 1993). Similarly, populations of Burrowing Owls are under heavy pressure from domestic animals, such as dogs and cats (Dechant et al. 2003, Rosenberg & Haley 2004, Moulton et al. 2006). These threats determine behavioral responses that include subterranean retreat, deeper burrows, the use of satellite burrows, the issuance of alarm calls, and dive-in-flight attacks (Coulombe 1971, Thomsen 1971, Fisher et al. 2004). It has also been described the use of mammalian manure, placed near the entrance of the burrow, to avoid potential predators with bad odor (Martin 1973).

Burrows are the essential component of Burrowing Owl habitat: both natural and artificial burrows provide protection, shelter, and nests (Henny & Blus 1981). Burrowing Owls typically use burrows made by fossorial mammals, but also may use man-made structures, such as cement culverts; cement, asphalt, or wood debris piles; or openings beneath cement or asphalt pavement. Burrowing Owls exhibit high site fidelity, reusing burrows year after year (Rich 1984, Feeney 1992). Once young individuals learn to fly, the family group often moves from one burrow to another (Thomsen 1971).

Declines in populations of this species in North America called the attention of environmentalists (Holroyd et al. 2001, Skeel et al. 2001, Warnock & Skeel 2004, Conway & Pardieck 2006) and, in Florida, the Burrowing Owl had its status updated to threatened in the state red lists (Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission 2017). The aim of the present study was to determine the distribution and the abundance of the Burrowing Owl in urban areas of the city of Uberlândia, southeastern Brazil, by (1) evaluating the occurrence and abundance of the species among different urban biotopes; (2) determining the occurrence and distribution of burrows (satellites, nests or refuges) per urban biotopes; (3) evaluating different defense mechanisms, such as the importance of satellite burrows, the relationship between the number of individuals and burrows; and the depth of the burrows in different biotopes, which are fundamental aspects for conservation of the studied species in modified environments.

METHODS

Study area and data collection

The municipality of Uberlândia has about 669,000 habitants (IBGE 2016), with a total area of 4040 km² in the state of Minas Gerais (MG), southeastern Brazil, from which 219 km² are urban. In areas surrounding the city, the native vegetation was reduced to remnants of less than 15% of the original cover, with evident reduction of the local fauna (Brito & Prudente 2005).

We visited areas with a potential occurrence of the species, typically with short grasses and wide spaces of open areas (Coulombe 1971, Plumpton & Lutz 1993, Marks *et al.* 1999). Field activities were carried out from August 2015 to November 2016, with monthly data collections along the day (from 7:00 h to 18:00 h) with small interruptions, not every day of the month, and totaling 2000 h of observation.

Sixty sites (with areas of about 33 m² each) were sampled in different parts of the city, 20 per urban biotope, and visited monthly. The minimum distance between sites was 200 m, in order to guarantee the independence of the samples and considering the territorial behavior of the studied species (Gaston 2003). These sites were selected according to the potential occurrence of the Burrowing Owls with the help of satellite images obtained from the Google image bank of the city of Uberlândia (Google Earth 5.1 2009) and also by direct field observations. All sites were georeferenced by taken a point in the middle using a Global Positioning System (GPS) and a map of the city was made with these GPS points in the software QGIS 2.18.2 (Fig. 1).

Biotope refers to a certain living space distinct from the others, endowed with environmental conditions suitable for specific organisms (Sukopp & Weiler 1988). The selected sites were classified according to the European Method for Mapping Biotopes: Urban Green Areas, Residential and Commercial/Industrial (Sukopp & Weiler 1988, Weber & Bedê 1998). Urban Green Areas include urban parks, squares, sports centers, theaters, universities, schools and airports, all places in which there is a high flow of people and a medium level of urbanization. The residential biotope is characterized by the presence of houses, condominiums and residential buildings, with less evident levels of pollution and environmental disturbances; in addition, this biotope has a lower flow of humans and vehicles (but with constant presence of domestic animals). The Commercial/Industrial biotope includes open areas with short grasses, near places with intense commerce, such as malls, industries or construction sites, with intense traffic of vehicles and high level of urbanization.

Three visits were conducted to each site, totaling 180



Figure 1. A map of the distribution of the sampled points for the Burrowing Owl occurrence, according to the investigated biotopes (Urban Green Area, Residential or Commercial/Industrial) in the urban area of Uberlândia (MG), Brazil.

visits (60 visits in each biotope investigated). The relative abundance was calculated by counting individuals of the target species per site and the same was done for the burrows. Individuals were classified according to gender (only adults) (Zarn 1974) and age group (adults, chicks and juveniles) (Appendix I). Burrows were classified as main or satellite. Main burrows were subdivided by nests (in which chicks or eggs were present) and refuges (in which only adults were present). Satellite burrows were represented by non-inhabited burrows near the main ones, and are used as a defense mechanism against threats, in which individuals rotate between burrows in order to confuse predators (Henny & Blus 1981, Desmond & Savidge 1999). Some burrows were lost due to human action.

To measure the depth of the burrows we used a digital measuring tape (Bosch GLM30) 5 m long. Only burrows that we could reach without causing stress (absence of individuals) or nests without the presence of chicks, were measured.

Data analysis

Homogeneity tests of variances and normality of the sampled data were performed using a Lilliefors test and by evaluating the data distribution in scatter plots. Sample data transformations (three times in the Variance Analysis, in addition to the Linear Regression) were performed by square rooting values, which were necessary due to the non-normality distribution of the sampling data (Zar 2010). To determine the differences in Burrowing Owl abundance and number of burrows according to urban biotopes we used the ANOVA One-Factor test. Tukey's test was used to determine which factor levels (urban biotope) differed from each other (Zar 2010). Another ANOVA test was used to evaluate the differences in burrow depth by biotope.

To evaluate the correlation between number of individuals and burrows we performed a simple linear regression. Values were square root transformed for normality adjustment (Zar 2010). All statistical analyzes were performed using the Systat 10.2 software, with a significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$ (Zar 2010) and graphs were built using Illustrator 21.1.0.

RESULTS

Distribution, occurrence and abundance

The species was found in 29 out of the 60 sampled sites (48%). In total, 98 burrows were registered, with a mean of 3.14 burrows per point, with 29 main burrows (22 refuges and seven nests) and 69 satellite burrows. We recorded 112 individuals (Table 1).

Distribution and occurrence by biotopes

Residential biotope points showed the highest number of individuals (n = 55) followed by Green Urban Area points (n = 47) and Commercial/Industrial Area points (n = 10). The largest number of individuals found in a single point was recorded in a Residential biotope (n = 8). A mean of three individuals per point were recorded in the

· 1 0			()·		
D : to to to to	Ad	ults	Chiala	T	T- 4-1
biotopes	Male	Female	Chicks	Juvennes	Iotal
Residential	21	22	9	3	55
Green Urban Area	18	18	4	7	47
Commercial/Industrial	3	6	1	0	10
TOTAL	42	46	14	10	112

Table 1. Number of individuals of Burrowing Owl, by age group (adults, juveniles and chicks) and gender (male and female) in the biotopes investigated in the urban area of Uberlândia (MG), Brazil.

Residential biotope, two in Green Urban Area and 0.5 in Commercial/Industrial ($F_{(2.57)} = 4.2$, P = 0.020, Fig. 2A), with a significant difference between the Residential and Commercial/Industrial biotopes (P < 0.016).

Distribution and occurrence of burrows by biotopes

We found 51 burrows in the Residential biotope, 39 in Green Urban Area and 8 in Commercial/Industrial ($F_{(2.57)}$ = 3.19, P = 0.048, Fig. 2B), with a significant difference between Residential and Commercial/Industrial (Tukey's test; P < 0.040).

Relationship between satellite burrows and number of individuals

In general, large numbers of satellite burrows were found in points with large number of individuals, with a positive linear relationship between the two variables ($F_{(1,58)}$ = 428.89, P < 0.001, $R^2 > 0.88$) (Fig. 3) (Table 2).

Depths of burrows in the urban biotopes

Thirty-four depths of burrows were measured. The highest mean was observed in the Green Urban Area biotope, reaching a maximum depth of 3.5 m. There was a significant difference between the three biotopes ($F_{(2,17)}$ = 4.05, P < 0.030, Fig. 4), with the greatest depths in the Green Urban Area (P = 0.049).

DISCUSSION

The results obtained corroborated other studies (Haug *et al.* 1993, Holmes 1998, Chipman *et al.* 2008, Berardelli *et al.* 2010), according to which the Burrowing Owl is a common species in cities and tolerant to anthropic environments. Burrowing Owl appears in different bird lists of the Uberlândia (Silveira *et al.* 1989, Pimenta 1993, Franchin & Marçal-Junior 2004, Franchin *et al.* 2004) and, as demonstrated here, the species was able to explore all urban biotopes sampled in this study. Some studies also suggest that Burrowing Owls are easily behaviorally adjusted to humans, being able to colonize



Figure 2. (A) Mean of individuals of Burrowing Owl per point distributed according to the biotopes (G.U.A = Green Urban Area; COM/IND = Commercial/Industrial) in Uberlândia (MG), Brazil; (B) Mean number of burrows per point, showing a relationship between burrows (refuges, satellites and nests) and biotopes (G.U.A = Green Urban Area; COM/IND = Commercial/Industrial) of the Burrowing Owl in Uberlândia (MG), Brazil. Confidence intervals were considered for P < 0.05.

different human-altered habitats (Sih *et al.* 2011, Sol *et al.* 2013, Rebolo-Ifrán *et al.* 2017). On the other hand, some studies indicate that urbanization leads to the population decline of Burrowing Owls (Millsap & Bear 2000, Jones & Bock 2002, Chipman *et al.* 2008). This decline is attributed to the loss of habitat to cultivation and other land use activities, predation by domestic animals and human persecution, amongst other factors (Haug *et al.* 1993, Sheffield 1997). Although results of the present study have not demonstrated a negative impact of the urbanization on Burrowing Owls, we cannot disregard that the conservation of the species could be affected by the increase of human pressure, in the future.

The higher frequency of individuals and burrows in residential and green urban biotopes may be associated with a lower likelihood of disturbance in these areas

Biotopes	Ma	un	Satellite Burrows	Individuals
Diotopes	Refuges	Nests	— Satellite Duriows	maividuais
Residential	8	6	37	55
Green Urban Area	9	0	30	47
Commercial/Industrial	5	1	2	10
TOTAL	22 (22.4%)	7 (7.1%)	69 (70.5%)	112

Table 2. Number of individuals and burrows: main (refuges and nests) and satellite burrows of Burrowing Owl according to biotopes investigated in the urban area of Uberlândia, MG, Brazil. Percentage is the number of each burrow type in relation to the total number of burrows observed (n = 98 burrows).



Figure 3. Simple linear regression showing the positive relationship between the number of satellite burrows and the number of individuals of Burrowing Owl, in the city of Uberlândia (MG), Brazil.

compared to the Commercial/Industrial biotope, which had heavy traffic of vehicles and people, as well as low availability of land empty. The flow of vehicles and humans is considered to be the main cause of Burrowing Owl mortality (Silva 2002). On the other hand, the presence of empty lands may have favored the greater occurrence of the species, as these unoccupied spaces present favorable conditions for species survival (Forman & Godron 1986, Blair 1996). It is worth mentioning that these areas present greater availability of food resources due to the intense lighting near burrows, which attracts some beetles and other insects (Chipman *et al.* 2008).

The urban environment has few refuges and places for breeding, feeding, resting and protection against adverse climatic conditions such as rain or wind (Poulin *et al.* 2011). The Burrowing Owl does not dig their own burrows, but takes advantage of previously dug burrows, modifying only their depths and widths (Belthoff &

(II) 2 1 0 G. U. A. COM/IND RESIDENTIAL BIOTOPES

Figure 4. Average depths of burrow of the Burrowing Owl according to biotopes (GUA = Green Urban Area; COM/IND = Commercial/Industrial; RESID = Residential), with a significant difference between the Green Urban and Commercial/Industrial Areas of Uberlândia (MG), Brazil.

Smith 2003). The availability of burrows affects the choice of habitat: the greater the number of burrows, the greater the probability of Burrowing Owls choosing it (Plumpton & Lutz 1993, Desmond & Savidge 1999, Ronan 2002, Poulin et al. 2005, Lantz et al. 2007). Burrowing Owls seemed to choose more areas corresponding to the Residential biotope, which presented greater numbers of burrows (main ones and satellites) and, consequently, more individuals, probably because that biotope presented the most favorable characteristics for the species survival, such as short grasses and greater food availability. In this study, deeper burrows were recorded in Residential and Green Urban Areas. Burrows are used for nesting, refuge, to storage food and also may serve as a defense mechanism. Accordingly, Burrowing Owls tend to dig deeper, especially in places with higher degrees of threats (Thomsen 1971). We believe that behavior of digging deeper is related to the type of biotope, like in Residential

and Green Urban Areas, biotopes with a probable higher risk of predation by domestic animals and other potential predators. May be the greater the number of individuals, the greater will be the need for protection against possible threats, such as predators, that can use urban areas as refuge (Griffin *et al.* 2017). This was seen in areas with a large number of satellite burrows, which, associated with the behavior of species individuals to "rotate" among burrows, are used in order to cause a distracting effect on predators (Henny & Blus 1981, Desmond & Savidge 1999). It is known that avoidance of predation is an important determinant of fitness in many animals (Ruxton *et al.* 2004).

Our results show that Burrowing Owls is a species highly adjusted to the human ecosystem, being able to explore different urban biotopes and that its distribution in the municipality of Uberlândia is due to the likelihood of disturbance, as well as the occurrence of empty lands. These aspects can be useful for conservation of the species here and in other cities.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (*FAPEMIG*) provided a MSc. scholarship to F.F.F. Special thanks go to Celine de Melo, Rafael de Freitas Juliano, Davi Lee Bang, Diogo Silva Vilela and Dimas Pioli for helping in fieldwork or by reviewing the English version and making valuable suggestions in early drafts of this manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Belthoff J.R. & Smith B.W. 2003. Patterns of artificial burrow occupancy and reuse by Burrowing Owls in Idaho. Wildlife Society Bulletin 31: 138–144.
- Berardelli D., Desmond M.J. & Murray L. 2010. Reproductive success of Burrowing Owls in urban and grassland habitats in southern New Mexico. *Wilson Journal of Ornithology* 122: 51–59.
- Blair R.B. 1996. Land use and avian species diversity along an urban gradient. *Ecological Applications* 6: 506–519.
- Bradshaw W.E & Holzapfel C.M. 2006 Evolutionary response to rapid climate change. *Science* 312: 1477–1478.
- Brito J.L.S & Prudente T.D. 2005. Análise temporal do uso do solo e cobertura vegetal do município de Uberlândia-MG, utilizando imagens ETM*/LANDSAT 7. Sociedade & Natureza 17: 37–46.
- Chipman E.D., McIntyre N.E., Strauss R.E., Wallace M.C., Ray J.D. & Boal C.W. 2008. Effects of human land use on western Burrowing Owl foraging and activity budgets. *Journal of Raptor Research* 42: 87–98.
- Conway C.J. & Pardieck K.L. 2006. Population trajectory of Burrowing Owls (*Athene cunicularia*) in eastern Washington. *Northwest Science* 80: 292–297.
- Coulombe H.N. 1971. Behavior and population ecology of the Burrowing Owl, *Speotyto cunicularia*, in the Imperial Valley of California. *Condor* 73: 162–176.
- Dechant J.A., Sondreal M.L., Johnson D.H., Igl L.D., Goldade C.M.,

Rabie P.A. & Euliss B.R. 2003. Effects of management practices on grassland birds: Burrowing Owls. Jamestown: Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center.

- Delibes M., Blázquez M.C., Soriano L., Revilla E. & Godoy J.A. 2011. High antipredatory efficiency of insular lizards: a warning signal of excessive specimen collection? *PLoS ONE* 6: e29312.
- Desmond M.J. & Savidge J.A. 1999. Satellite burrow use by Burrowing Owl chicks and its influence on nest fate. *Studies in Avian Biology* 19: 128–130.
- Feeney L. 1992. Site fidelity in Burrowing Owls. Unpublished paper presented to *Raptor Research Annual Meeting*. Seattle.
- Fisher R.J., Poulin R.G., Todd L.D. & Brigham R.M. 2004. Nest stage, wind speed, and air temperature affect the nest defense behaviours of Burrowing Owls. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 82: 707–713.
- Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. 2017. *Florida's* Official Endangered and Threatened Species List. State of Florida.
- Forman R.T.T. & Godron M. 1986. *Landscape ecology*. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Franchin A.G. & Marçal-Junior O. 2004. A riqueza da avifauna no Parque Municipal do Sabiá, zona urbana de Uberlândia (MG). *Biotemas* 17: 179–202.
- Franchin A.G., Oliveira G.M., Melo C., Tomé C.E.R. & Marçal-Junior O. 2004. Avifauna do Campus Umuarama, Universidade Federal de Uberlândia (Uberlândia, MG). *Revista Brasileira de Zoociências* 6: 219–230.
- Gaston K.J. 2003. *The structure and dynamics of geographic ranges*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Google Earth 5.1. 2009. Google Images. US Dept. of State Geographer.
- Griffin E., Desmond M. & VanLeeuwen D. 2017. Juvenile Burrowing Owl movement and survival in a human-altered landscape. Wildlife Society Bulletin 41: 649–658.
- Haug E.A., Millsap B.A. & Martell M.S. 1993. Burrowing Owl (Speotyto cunicularia). In: Poole A. & Gill F. (eds.). The birds of North America, No. 61. Washington & Philadelphia: The American Ornithologists' Union & The Academy of Natural Sciences.
- Henny C.J. & Blus L.J. 1981. Artificial burrows provide new insight into Burrowing Owls nesting biology. *Raptor Research* 15: 82–85.
- Holmes B. 1998. City planning for owls. *National Wildlife* 36: 46.
- Holroyd G.L., Rodríguez-Estrella R. & Sheffield S.R. 2001. Conservation of the Burrowing Owl in western North America: issues, challenges, and recommendations. *Journal of Raptor Research* 35: 399–407.
- IBGE (Fundação Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística). 2016. Estimativa da população 2016: contagem da população. IBGE. http://www.ibge.gov.br/ (access on 05 April 2016).
- Jones Z.F. & Bock C.E. 2002. Conservation of grassland birds in an urbanizing landscape: a historical perspective. *Condor* 104: 643– 651.
- Lantz S.J., Conway C.J. & Anderson S.H. 2007. Multiscale habitat selection by Burrowing Owls in Black-tailed Prairie Dog colonies. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 71: 2664–2672.
- Marks J.S., Cannings R.J. & Mikkola H. 1999. Family Strigidae (typical owls), p. 76–243. In: del Hoyo J., Elliott A. & Sargatal J. (eds.). *Handbook of the birds of the world, v. 5 (Barn-owls to hummingbirds*). Barcelona: Lynx Editions.
- Martin D.J. 1973 Selected aspects of Burrowing Owl ecology and behavior. *Condor* 75: 446–456.
- Martins M. & Eagler S.G. 1990. Comportamento de caça em um casal de Corujas Buraqueiras (*Athene cunicularia*) na região de Campinas, São Paulo, Brasil. *Revista Brasileira de Biologia* 50: 579–584.
- Marzluff J.M., Bowman R. & Donnelly R. 2001. A historical perspective on urban bird research: trends, terms, and approaches, p. 1–17. In: Marzluff J.M, Bowman R. & Donnelly R. (eds.).

Avian conservation and ecology in an urbanizing world. New York: Kluwer Academic.

- Millsap B.A. & Bear C. 2000. Density and reproduction of Burrowing Owls along an urban development gradient. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 64: 33–41.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. 2005. *Ecosystems and human wellbeing: synthesis.* Washington: Island Press.
- Motta-Junior J.C. & Alho C.J.R. 2000. Ecologia alimentar de Athene cunicularia e Tyto alba (Aves: Strigiformes) nas Estações Ecológica e Experimental de Luiz Antonio, SP, p. 303–316. In: Santos J.E. & Pires J.S.R. (eds.). Estudos integrados em ecossistemas. Estação Ecológica de Jataí, v. 1. São Carlos: Rima Editora.
- Moulton C.E., Brady R.S. & Belthoff J.R. 2006. Association between wildlife and agriculture: underlying mechanisms and implications in Burrowing Owls. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 70: 708–716.
- Pimenta J.L.F. 1993. Comportamento de *Progne* (Aves: Hirundinidae) em local de dormida em Uberlândia, MG, Brasil. *Revista do Centro de Ciências Biomédicas da Universidade Federal de Uberlândia* 9: 3–12.
- Plumpton D.L. & Lutz R.S. 1993. Nesting habitat use by Burrowing Owls in Colorado. *Journal of Raptor Research* 27: 175–179.
- Poulin R.G., Todd L.D., Dohms K.M, Brigham R.M. & Wellicome T.I. 2005. Factors associated with nest- and roost-burrow selection by Burrowing Owls (*Athene cunicularia*) on the Canadian prairies. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 83: 1373–1380.
- Poulin R.G., Todd L.D., Haug E.A., Millsap B.A. & Martell M.S. 2011. Burrowing Owl (*Athene cunicularia*). In: Poole A. (ed.). *The Birds of North America Online*. Ithaca: Cornell Lab of Ornithology. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/061.
- Rebolo-Ifrán N., Tella J.L. & Carrete M. 2017. Urban conservation hotspots: predation release allows the grassland-specialist Burrowing Owl to perform better in the city. *Scientific Reports* 7: 3527.
- Rich T. 1984. Monitoring Burrowing Owl populations: implications of burrow re-use. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* 12: 178–180.
- Ronan N.A. 2002. Habitat selection, reproductive success, and site fidelity of Burrowing Owls in a grassland ecosystem. M.Sc. Dissertation. Corvallis: Oregon State University.
- Rosenberg D.K. & Haley K.L. 2004. The ecology of Burrowing Owls in the agroecosystem of the Imperial Valley, California. *Studies in Avian Biology* 27: 120–135.
- Ruxton G.D., Sherratt T.N. & Speed M.P. 2004. Avoiding attack: the evolutionary ecology of crypsis, warning signals, and mimicry. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sheffield S.R. 1997. Current status, distribution, and conservation of the Burrowing Owl (Speotyto cunicularia) in midwestern and

western North America, p. 399–407. In: Duncan J.R., Johnson D.H. & Nichols T.H. (eds.). *Biology and conservation of owls of the Northern Hemisphere*. Second International Symposium. General Technical Report NC-190, St. Paul: North Central Forest Experiment Station, US DA Forest Service.

- Sick H. 1997. Ornitologia brasileira. Rio de Janeiro: Nova Fronteira.
- Sih A., Ferrari M.C.O. & Harris D.J. 2011. Evolution and behavioural responses to human-induced rapid environmental change. *Evolutionary Applications* 4: 367–387.
- Silva L.A.C & Nakano C.A. 2008. Avifauna de uma área de Cerrado no bairro do Central Parque, Município de Sorocaba, São Paulo, Brasil. *Revista Eletrônica de Biologia* 1: 36–62.
- Silva R.V.L. 2002. Influência da ação humana no comportamento agonístico da Coruja Buraqueira. *Ararajuba* 10: 237–240.
- Silveira A.P., Cardoso H.H. & Pimenta J.L.F. 1989. Levantamento da Avifauna do Campus Umuarama – Universidade Federal de Uberlândia – Uberlândia, Minas Gerais. *Revista do Centro de Ciências Biomédicas da Universidade Federal de Uberlândia* 5: 22–31.
- Skeel M.A., Keith J. & Palaschuk C.S.A. 2001. A population decline recorded by operation Burrowing Owl in Saskatchewan. *Journal of Raptor Research* 35: 371–377.
- Sol D., Lapiedra O. & González-Lagos C. 2013. Behavioural adjustments for a life in the city. *Animal Behaviour* 85: 1101–1112.
- Sukopp H. & Weiler S. 1988. Biotope mapping and nature conservation strategies in urban areas in the Federal Republic of Germany. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 15: 39–58.
- Thomsen L. 1971. Behavior and ecology of Burrowing Owls on the Oakland Municipal Airport. *Condor* 73: 177–192.
- Warnock R.G. & Skeel M.A. 2004. Effectiveness of voluntary habitat stewardship in conserving grassland: case of operation Burrowing Owl in Saskatchewan. *Environmental Management* 33: 306–317.
- Weber M. & Bedê L.C. 1998. Comprehensive approach to the urban environmental status in Brazil using the biotope mapping methodology, p. 636–640. In: Breuste J., Feldmann H., Uhlmann O. (eds.). Urban ecology. Berlin-Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.
- Zar J.H. 2010. *Biostatistical analysis*, 5th edn. Inglewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall.
- Zarn M. 1974. *Habitat management series for a unique or endangered species: Burrowing Owl.* Lincoln: U.S.D.I. Bureau of Land Management Papers.

Associate Editor: Carla S. Fontana.

APPENDIX I

Classification of Burrowing Owl, *Athene cunicularia*: Adult female (**A**) and male (**B**); Juveniles (**C**) and chick (**D**), in urban environment. Photo authors: Felipe F. Franco (A & B); Phyllis Greenberg (C & D).



A review of flocking behavior by Hook-billed Kite, *Chondrohierax uncinatus*, in South America

Sidnei de Melo Dantas^{1,6}, Carlos Eduardo Bustamante Portes^{2,3}, Eleonora Pinheiro⁴ & Guy M. Kirwan⁵

⁶ Corresponding author: smdantas@yahoo.com

Received on 14 September 2017. Accepted on 19 February 2018.

ABSTRACT: The Hook-billed Kite (*Chondrohierax uncinatus*) is a diurnal raptor species that is widely distributed across the Neotropics, but some aspects of its social and ecological behavior are poorly understood. Here, we review and report records of flocking behavior of this species at various locations in South America, mainly in Brazil. We report eight new observations of such behavior, mainly in northern Brazil. It is possible that flocking behavior in this species is more common in northern South America than in the southern part of the continent, but it is perhaps overlooked or goes unreported by observers in these places.

KEY-WORDS: Accipitridae, Brazil, flocks, migration, raptor.

Hook-billed Kite Chondrohierax uncinatus is widely distributed in the Neotropics (Ferguson-Lees & Christie 2001). It is a mid-sized polymorphic diurnal raptor distributed from the southernmost USA (southern Texas) and western Mexico south through Central and South America to southern and eastern Brazil, and northern Argentina, as well as on Trinidad and on Grenada (Ferguson-Lees & Christie 2001). Cuban Kite C. wilsonii, which is endemic to the mountains of eastern Cuba, is sometimes considered conspecific with Hook-billed Kite but is now frequently regarded as a separate species, whereas C. u. mirus, which is endemic to Grenada, is generally considered to be a subspecies of Hook-billed Kite (del Hoyo & Collar 2014). Hook-billed Kite is usually considered solitary and sedentary, but there have been recent reports of flocking behavior and migratory movements, mainly in Central America and northern South America (Bildstein & Zalles 2001, Jones 2003, Porras-Peñaranda & McCarty 2005, Eisermann & Avendaño 2006, Jones & Komar 2006, 2008, 2011), and the species is considered a partial migrant in part of its range in South America (Juhant 2011). In Venezuela, it has been reported to congregate in small to large flocks of 6-12 individuals between June and September (Paulson 1983, Hilty 1999), and in central Brazil, in Tocantins, and northeast Brazil, in Sergipe, migratory movements have been recorded between November and February

(Olmos *et al.* 2006, Rego *et al.* 2011). The species is reported to migrate in flocks in the Andes (Fjeldså & Krabbe 1990) and to be a partial migrant in Argentina as well (Contreras *et al.* 1990, di Giacomo 2005).

Flocking is a well-known behavior for some New World hawks, like Red-tailed Hawk *Buteo jamaicensis*, Swainson's Hawk *B. swainsoni* and Snail Kite *Rosthramus sociabilis* (Hilty & Brown 1986, Ferguson-Lees & Christie 2001). In many cases, flocking by raptors is related to their migrations, and this has been suggested in the case of *C. uncinatus* (Hilty 1999). Here we report additional observations of this intriguing behavior, registered mainly in northern Brazil. Our objective is to verify geographic and seasonal patterns of flocking migratory behavior of *C. uncinatus* in South America based on the literature and additional observations reported herein.

In Amazonas state, four birds were seen together at Itacoatiara (03°08'31"S; 58°26'33"W), in 1999 in the dry season (Mario Cohn-Haft, pers. comm.). In Belém, the capital of Pará state, a flock of *c*. 30 birds was observed in Parque do Utinga, near the Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi (MPEG), in February or March 2002 (Bret Whitney, pers. comm.). In September 2003, four individuals (none of them dark morph) were observed circling together over the Reserva Biológica Sooretama (*c*. 19°03'S; 40°00'W), near the town of Linhares, Espírito Santo state by G.M.K.

¹ Curso de Pós-Doutorado em Zoologia, Universidade Federal do Pará/Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi, Caixa Postal 399, 66040-170, Belém, PA, Brazil.

 $^{^{\}rm 2}~$ Museu de Zoologia da Universidade de São Paulo, MZUSP, 04263-000, São Paulo, SP, Brazil.

³ Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi, MPEG, Caixa Postal 399, 66040-170, Belém, PA, Brazil.

⁴ Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia. Av. Bem Te Vi 8-406, 69067-001, Petrópolis, Manaus, AM, Brazil.

⁵ Museu Nacional, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Quinta da Boa Vista s/n, Quinta da Boa Vista, 20940-040, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil.

On 29 May 2007, at *c.* 09:30 h, S.M.D. photographed a flock of about 35 individuals, flying over the research campus of the Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi (MPEG), in Belém (01°27'21''S; 48°30'16''W) (Fig. 1). It was not possible to accurately count the number of individuals of each morph, as no binoculars were available, but at least ten were pale gray below, with three broad white bands and two narrower black bands in the tail. Some were darker below, with two white and two black bands on the tail, and there was at least one black-morph individual. The flock was observed soaring for about two minutes before disappearing from sight in a northeasterly direction.

A flock of 6-8 individuals was observed over the city of Ipanema, Minas Gerais (19°48'03"S; 41°42'47"W), in October 2009, flying over a mosaic of urban area, forest and grassland, at the edge of the city (Paulo Thieres, pers. comm.). On 05 May 2011, a flock of c. 25 individuals, also involving multiple morphs, was seen by CEBP in the municipality of Marabá (05°22'11.59"S; 49°11'54.32''W), Pará, at about 10:30 h. The flock was observed very briefly, crossing above the canopy of a small forest fragment. The very bright sky did not permit many differences in morphology among the birds to be appreciated, but at least two different plumage patterns were involved. The flock apparently moved off northeast. A flock of 11 birds was observed near Manaus, Amazonas (03°06'S; 60°01'W), on 18 September 2011 by E.P. (Fig. 1), and a similar (or the same?) flock was seen one week later, 20 km away. Finally, on 28 May 2016, a flock of eight birds was seen by S.M.D. in the municipality of Portel, also in Pará state.

Most records of flocking behavior are from northern South America. Hook-billed Kite is distributed over most of South America, and the available records at the internet site Wikiaves (http://www.wikiaves.com. br/caracoleiro) are as equally concentrated in southeast Brazil as in northernmost parts of the country. Given the larger number of birdwatchers in southern Brazil as opposed to the north of the country, it might be expected that such behavior would be as frequently registered in southern Brazil if it was as common there as in northern South America. Family flocks of up to four individuals of *C. uncinatus* have been observed, but cannot be linked to migration (Bret Whitney, pers. comm.), so it is possible that the small flocks observed in Espírito Santo and Minas Gerais states (the two southernmost ones) pertained to families rather than migrants. If so, that would leave migration in this species apparently restricted to northernmost Brazil. Such differences in the behaviour of a diurnal raptor across the continent would not be unique to Chondrohierax, as in many well-known migratory raptors, only part of the population migrates (Ferguson-Lees & Christie 2001).

Records in Brazil and Venezuela were made mainly between September and February, and in May-June. This matches well with observations of flocks in the USA and Central America, which have mostly been made between September and November, and April and May (Bildstein & Zalles 2001, Jones 2003, Brush 2005, Porras-Peñaranda & McCarty 2005, Eisermann & Avendaño 2006, Jones & Komar 2006, 2008, 2011). Most observations in cis-Andean South America were made along or near major rivers (the Orinoco, Amazonas, Tocantins, São Francisco, Rio Doce - Fig. 2), which may merely reflect the specie preference for humid areas with abundant snails. Based on the comparatively small number of observations, flocking behavior may be only occasional in eastern South America, but it is perhaps also frequently overlooked or unreported by observers unaware of its significance. In conclusion, the few available observations suggest that C. uncinatus flocks more frequently in northern South America than in the far southeast of its range, and mainly in the middle of the year or between September and February. Nevertheless, more information on this interesting behavior will be essential to determine if it is linked to migrations and if they really are seasonal movements.



Figure 1. Large flocks of Hook-billed Kites (soaring over Belém, Pará state (left) and Manaus, Amazonas state (right), both in Brazil.



Figure 2. Localities of Hook-billed Kite (*Chondrohierax uncinatus*) flocks in South America. Numbers indicate bibliographic references: 1 - Paulson (1983); 2 - Hilty & Brown (1999); 3 - Olmos *et al.* (2006); 4 - Rego *et al.* (2011); 5 - this study. Rivers depicted in gray.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Mario Cohn-Haft, Paulo Thieres Pinto and Bret Whitney for providing additional records and information, and to two anonymous reviewers for their comments on the submitted manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Bildstein K.L. & Zalles J. 2001. Raptor migration along the Mesoamerican Land Corridor. p. 119–136. In: Bildstein K.L. & Klem-Jr. D. (eds.). *Hawk watching in the Americas*. Kempton: Hawk Migration Association of North America.
- Brush T. 2005. Nesting birds of a tropical frontier: the lower Rio Grande Valley of Texas. Kingsville: Texas A & M University Press.
- Contreras J.R., Berry L.M., Contreras A.O., Bertonatti, C.C. & Utges E.E. 1990. Atlas ornitogeográfico de la Provincia de Chaco. República Argentina, v. 1 no Passeriformes. Corrientes: Cuadernos Técnicos Félix de Azara I.
- del Hoyo J. & Collar N.J. 2014. Illustrated checklist of the birds of the world, v. 1 non-passerines. Barcelona: Lynx Editions.
- di Giacomo A.G. 2005. Aves de la Reserva El Bagual, p. 201–465. In: di Giacomo A.G. & Krapovickas S.F. (eds.). *Historia natural y paisaje de la Reserva El Bagual, Provincia de Formosa, Argentina: inventario de la fauna de vertebrados y de la flora vascular de un área protegida del chaco húmedo.* Buenos Aires: Asociación Ornitológica del Plata.
- Eisermann K. & Avendaño C. 2006. Diversidad de aves en Guatemala, con una lista bibliográfica, p. 525–623. In: Cano E.B. (ed.). *Biodiversidad de Guatemala, v. 1.* Guatemala: Universidad del Valle de Guatemala.

- Ferguson-Lees J. & Christie D.A. 2001. *Raptors of the world.* London: Christopher Helm.
- Fjeldså J. & Krabbe N. 1990. *Birds of the high Andes*. Svendborg: Apollo Booksellers.
- Hilty S.L. 1999. Three bird species new to Venezuela and notes on the behaviour and distribution of other poorly known species. *Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club* 119: 220–235.
- Hilty S.L. & Brown W.L. 1986. A guide to the birds of Colombia. Chichester: Princeton University Press.
- Jones H.L. 2003. Birds of Belize. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Jones H.L. & Komar O. 2006. The fall migration, August through November 2005: Central America. *North American Birds* 60: 152–156.
- Jones H.L. & Komar O. 2008. The fall migration, August through November 2007: Central America. North American Birds 62: 163–170.
- Jones H.L. & Komar O. 2011. The fall migration, August through November 2010: Central America. North American Birds 65: 174–180.
- Juhant M.A. 2011. Where to watch raptor migration in South America. *Neotropical Birding* 9: 8–16.
- Olmos F., Pacheco J.F. & Silveira L.F. 2006. Notas sobre aves de rapina (Cathartidae, Acciptridae e Falconidae) brasileiras. *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* 14: 401–404.
- Paulson D.R. 1983. Flocking in the Hook-billed Kite. *Auk* 100: 749–750.
- Porras-Peñaranda P. & McCarty K. 2005. Autumn 2004 raptor migration at Talamanca, Costa Rica. *International Hawkwatcher* 10: 3–6.
- Rego M.A., Silveira L.F., Piacentini V.Q., Schunck F., Machado E., Pinheiro R.T. & Reis E. 2011. As aves da Estação Ecológica Serra Geral do Tocantins, centro do Brasil. *Biota Neotropica* 11: 283– 297.

Associate Editor: Cristiano S. Azevedo.

Several cavity-nesting birds fight for a single tree hollow in an Atlantic Forest fragment: consequence of increasing nest-site limitation?

Alexander V. Christianini^{1,2}

¹ Departamento de Ciências Ambientais, Universidade Federal de São Carlos, Campus Sorocaba, Rod. João Leme dos Santos km 110, 18052-780, Itinga, Sorocaba, SP, Brazil.

² Corresponding author: avchristianini@yahoo.com.br

Received on 29 September 2017. Accepted on 20 March 2018.

ABSTRACT: Most remnants of Atlantic Forests are found as small and isolated forest fragments. Forest fragmentation and edge effects often lead to structural changes in vegetation that may affect the availability of tree cavities for birds that rely on hollows for reproduction. Here I describe an unusual dispute for a cavity among birds (at least six *Primolius maracana*, two *Pionus maximiliani* (Psittacidae) and two *Pteroglossus aracari* (Ramphastidae)) in the Estação Ecológica dos Catetetus, southeast Brazil. Consequences of Atlantic Forest fragmentation, together with an increase in abundance of cavity users such as Opossums (*Didelphis* spp.) and exotic Honey Bees (*Apis mellifera*) might be decreasing the already small availability of cavities for medium- and large-sized cavity-nesting birds. The conservation of large hardwood trees is probably critical for the persistence of cavity-nesting birds in fragmented Atlantic Forest landscapes. Supply of nest boxes and control of Honey Bees may also be considered.

KEY-WORDS: Africanized honey bees, conservation, habitat fragmentation, hole-nesting bird, parrot, Primolius maracana.

The role of nest site availability in limiting the abundance of cavity-nesting birds has been confirmed by several studies from temperate regions (Newton 1994 and references therein). This issue remains relatively poorly investigated in the Neotropics (but see Cockle et al. 2010, 2017) where a substantial number of families comprise of obligate cavity-nesting bird species (e.g., Psittacidae, Picidae, Dendrocolaptidae, Ramphastidae, Trogonidae, plus some Falconidae, Strigidae, Tyrannidae, Troglodytidae) (Sick 1997). However, snag (dead tree) availability, a common source of cavities used by birds for roosting or reproduction, is considered less abundant in tropical than in temperate forests (Guibbs et al. 1993, but see Cockle et al. 2010) which suggests an increased role of the low availability of cavities for bird reproduction in tropical forests. Indeed, nest-box supplementation increases the reproduction of several cavity-nest species in the Atlantic Forest (Cockle et al. 2010), an evidence that nest site availability limits bird reproduction in these forests.

The Brazilian Atlantic Forest is a global hotspot of biodiversity that holds many endemic birds, several of them obligate cavity-nesters that are threatened or near threatened by extinction (Brooks *et al.* 1999). The Atlantic Forest is today shattered into thousands of forest fragments covering only c. 11–16% of its pre-Columbian area (Ribeiro et al. 2009). Such drastic habitat loss and fragmentation decreased the abundance and distribution of many bird species through direct effects, but indirect effects such as a reduction in critical resources for reproduction, like cavities, may also be important. In the Amazon, forest fragmentation increases the mortality, damage and turnover rates of trees when compared to continuous forest control plots, and large trees are especially prone (Laurance et al. 1998, 2000). These effects are apparently the result of increased windthrow and microclimatic changes due to edge effects (Laurance et al. 1998, 2000). Edge effects increase sharply in importance once fragments fall below 100-400 ha in size, depending on fragment shape (Laurance et al. 1998). Since most of Atlantic Forest remnants are small, irregularly shaped forest fragments (e.g., more than 80% of fragments are ≤50 ha; Ribeiro et al. 2009), edge effects are probably playing an important role in the dynamics of Atlantic Forest tree communities. Indeed, large hardwood long-lived tree species are often replaced by small, softwood and short-lived tree species in Atlantic Forest fragments (Tabarelli et al. 2008), which are unlikely to offer adequate opportunities for birds that reproduce in cavities (Cockle et al. 2010, 2017, Katayama et al. 2017). As the availability of cavities decreases, it is expected an increasing number of disputes among birds over the

available cavities. Indeed, intense disputes over cavities have been reported in some Atlantic Forest fragments (Pizo 1996).

Here I report an unusual dispute over a tree hole among three cavity-nesting bird species in the Caetetus Ecological Station (22°24'11"S; 49°42'05"W) (hereafter Caetetus), in southeastern Brazil. Caetetus is an old-growth semideciduous forest fragment (2178 ha) surrounded by pasturelands and field crops. On 15 September 1999, at 09:39 h I observed four Bluewinged Macaws (Primolius maracana (Vieillot, 1816)) on a large live tree (Fabaceae) approximately 23 m high. One Macaw was perched vertically and projected its body and head several times towards a 10 cm hole that was located at a height of 9 meters. The latter bird was calling and pecking in an aggressive manner, while other two P. maracana alternated calls and short flights around the tree crown and over the individual on the trunk. A few minutes later two Black-necked Aracaris (Pteroglossus aracari (Linnaeus, 1758)) chased away all P. maracana and flew towards the tree hole. One of the Pteroglossus alternated pecks in the hollow with visual inspections of the entrance, while the other one remained perched on the tree crown. Whenever a P. maracana tried to return, it was promptly chased away by the Pteroglossus which flew directly at it. Each Pteroglossus frequently switched position with one another, alternating c. 30 s of pecks with 3-5 min of vigilance on a nearby branch. After 1 h, during a short rest taken by the Pteroglossus, two adult P. maracana left the tree hollow and flew away. At that point, both Pteroglossus entered the cavity. They remained inside the hollow and at the entrance until noticing me (30 min), then flew away. At 11:40 h two Scaly-headed Parrots (Pionus maximiliani (Kuhl, 1820)) perched on the tree and one of them started to inspect the hole. Suddenly, two P. maracana chased away both Pionus and occupied the cavity. At 11:58 h they noted me and flew to a nearby tree, and the observation ended. I did not see any signs of egg or nestling predation by the Pteroglossus during my observations. All birds involved were probably mated pairs in nest competition based on their aggressive behavior towards other birds, since reproductive cycle starts in September, lasting until January (Sick 1997).

At least 26 species of obligatory cavity-nesting birds occur in Caetetus together with other animals (*e.g.*, Black-lion Tamarin [Mikan, 1823], marsupials, bees) (A. V. Christianini pers. obs.). It is likely that there will be overlap in hollow size used by these species, which are not primary excavators of cavities. Several local cavity-nesting birds are medium sized (233–293 g for *P. maximiliani* and *P. maracana*; Collar 1997) requiring cavities in large trees for reproduction (Carvalho & Carvalho 1992, Cockle *et al.* 2010). Despite habitat fragmentation may increase the scarcity of large cavities, two new elements may be reinforcing the constraints to the reproduction of large cavity-nesting birds in Atlantic Forest fragments: an increase in the abundance of common opossums (Didelphis spp.) in response to forest fragmentation (Fonseca & Robinson 1990), and Africanized Honey Bees (Apis mellifera Linnaeus, 1758) introduced by European settlers. Both often supplant birds when competing for nest-cavities (Guedes & Harper 1995, Tubelis & Tubelis 2000). Studies with nest-box provisioning in Atlantic Forest fragments often report high rates of boxes occupied by opossums and Honey Bees (Tubelis & Tubelis 2000, A.V. Christianini, unpub. data). The synergistic effect of forest fragmentation and the increasing abundance of opossums and Honey Bees might be increasing the competition for large cavities in Atlantic Forest fragments. However, further research is needed to access the extent of this circumstantial evidence (e.g., Cockle et al. 2010) and to confirm the adequacy of management options to keep an adequate availability of hollows for bird reproduction, such as an active management of snag availability, supply of nest boxes and control of honey bees.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank Sérgio H. Borges, Emilio Bruna, Pedro F. Develey, Mauro Galetti, Milene M. Martins, and Marco A. Pizo for criticism on previous versions. I thank also the Instituto Florestal de São Paulo for research license, CNPq for research grants and two anonymous referees for suggestions.

REFERENCES

- Brooks T., Tobias J. & Balmford A. 1999. Deforestation and bird extinctions in the Atlantic Forest. *Animal Conservation* 2: 211– 222.
- Carvalho C.T. & Carvalho J. 1992. A nidificação de *Pionus maximiliani* (Kuhl) e *Ara maracana* (Vieillot) em Gália São Paulo, Brasil (Aves, Psittacidae). *Revista Brasileira de Zoologia* 9: 363–365.
- Cockle K.L., Martin K. & Drever M.C. 2010. Supply of tree-holes limits nest density of cavity-nesting birds in primary and logged subtropical Atlantic Forest. *Biological Conservation* 143: 2851– 2857.
- Cockle K.L., Martin K. & Bodrati A. 2017. Persistence and loss of tree cavities used by birds in subtropical Atlantic Forest. *Forest Ecology* and Management 384: 200–207.
- Collar N.J. 1997. Family Psittacidae (parrots), p. 280–477. In: del Hoyo J., Elliot A. & Sargatal J. (eds.). *Handbook of the birds of the world, v. 4 (sandrouse to cuckoos).* Barcelona: Lynx Editions.
- Fonseca G.A.B. & Robinson J.G. 1990. Forest size and structure: competitive and predatory effects on small mammal communities. *Biological Conservation* 53: 265–294.
- Guedes N.M.R. & Harper L.H. 1995. Hyacinth Macaws in the Pantanal: conservation and management, p. 395–421. In: Abramson J., Speer B.L. & Thomsen J.B. (eds.). *The large macaws: their care, breeding and conservation*. Fort Bragg: Raintree Publications.

- Guibbs J.P., Hunter-Jr. M.L. & Melvin S.M. 1993. Snag availability and communities of cavity nesting birds in tropical versus temperate forests. *Biotropica* 25: 236–241.
- Katayama M.V., Zima P.V.Q., Perrella D.F. & Francisco M.R. 2017. Successional stage effect on the availability of tree cavities for cavity-nesting birds in an Atlantic Forest park from the state of São Paulo, Brazil. *Biota Neotropica* 17: e20170391.
- Laurance W.F., Delamônica P., Laurance S.G., Vasconcelos H.L. & Lovejoy T.E. 2000. Rainforest fragmentation kills big trees. *Nature* 404: 836.
- Laurance W.F., Ferreira L.V., Rankin-de-Merona J.M. & Laurance S.G. 1998. Rain forest fragmentation and the dynamics of Amazonian tree communities. *Ecology* 79: 2032–2040.
- Newton I. 1994. The role of nest sites in limiting the numbers of hole-nesting birds: a review. *Biological Conservation* 70: 265–276.

Pizo M.A. 1996. Interspecific aggression in the hole-nesting Long-

tailed Tyrant, *Colonia colonus* (Aves, Tyrannidae). *Ciência e Cultura* 48: 278–281.

- Ribeiro M.C., Metzger J.P., Martensen A.C., Ponzoni F.J. & Hirota M.M. 2009. Brazilian Atlantic Forest: how much is left, and how is the remaining forest distributed? Implications for conservation. *Biological Conservation* 142: 1141–1153.
- Sick H. 1997. Ornitologia brasileira. Rio de Janeiro: Editora Nova Fronteira.
- Tabarelli M., Lopes A.V. & Peres C.A. 2008. Edge-effects drive tropical forest fragments towards an early-successional system. *Biotropica* 40: 657–661.
- Tubelis D.P. & Tubelis A. 2000. Ocupação de caixas de nidificação em uma mata secundária crescendo em uma plantação de eucalipto abandonada, no estado de São Paulo. *Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia* 41: 187–196.

Associate Editor: Cristiano S. Azevedo.

ARTICLE

A review of the ornithological knowledge of the northern Serra do Mar mountains in the state of São Paulo, southeastern Brazil

Fabio Schunck^{1,2,3,6}, José Fernando Pacheco², Alexsander Z. Antunes⁴, Ricardo Luís Gagliardi⁵ & Luís Fábio Silveira^{2,3}

- ¹ Pós-Graduação, Departamento de Zoologia, Instituto de Biociências, Universidade de São Paulo. Rua do Matão, 101, travessa 14, 05508-090, São Paulo, SP, Brazil.
- ² Comitê Brasileiro de Registros Ornitológicos CBRO.
- ³ Seção de Aves, Museu de Zoologia da Universidade de São Paulo. Avenida Nazaré, 481, Ipiranga, 04263-000, São Paulo, SP, Brazil.
- ⁴ Seção de Animais Silvestres, Divisão de Dasonomia do Instituto Florestal, Rua do Horto, 931, 02377-000 São Paulo, SP, Brazil.
- ⁵ Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro. Rua São Francisco Xavier, 524, Maracanã, 20550-013, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil.
- ⁶ Corresponding author: fabio_schunck@yahoo.com.br

Received on 05 March 2017. Accepted on 05 February 2018.

ABSTRACT: The northern portion of the Serra do Mar mountains in the state of São Paulo, near the border with the state of Rio de Janeiro, including a portion of the Rio Paraíba Valley, ranges between 450 and 1900 m a.s.l. in altitude and is composed of submontane and montane Atlantic Forest. It is unique in that the ornithological knowledge of the region can be traced back to the 19th century. Here we present a compilation of historical and recent data, including intensive field work undertaken between 1989 and 2015 in nine natural areas as well as the Bananal Ecological Station (BES), the only protected area in the region. A total of 371 bird species were recorded in the Bananal region and can be separated into two main bird communities, those of the higher Serra de Bananal and those of the lowlands of the Paraíba Valley. These are typical of the avifauna of the mountainous regions of the Serra do Mar and the Paraíba Valley, respectively. Of the above species, 23 lacked any recent records with a single possible extinction, 257 were recorded in the BES, 111 are endemic to the Atlantic Forest and 15 are listed as threatened. Despite its small size compared to other protected areas in the Serra do Mar, the BES and its surrounding areas have well preserved regional characteristics and are highlighted as an important area for bird conservation in the northern portion of the Serra do Mar in São Paulo.

KEY-WORDS: Atlantic Forest, Bananal, Bocaina, Paraíba Valley, threatened species.

INTRODUCTION

The Serra da Bocaina is located along the border between the states of São Paulo and Rio de Janeiro and is part of the Serra do Mar, a complex of mountain ranges that extend from the state of Santa Catarina to Rio de Janeiro. It has a pronounced altitudinal gradient ranging from sea level to over 2000 m a.s.l. (Almeida & Carneiro 1998). This provides a range of environmental conditions that influence the composition of the region's avifauna, which surpasses 400 species and has been considered as one of the richest in the Atlantic Forest (Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* 2015). As well as harbouring a large number of threatened and restricted range species, the Serra da Bocaina also shelters about 60% of the species endemic to the Atlantic Forest, the highest of any Brazilian IBA - Important Bird Area (Bencke *et al.* 2006).

The Austrian naturalist Johan Natterer explored the southern portion of the Serra da Bocaina, in the state of

São Paulo. In 1818 he collected along the Tropeiros Road, a route that once connected the cities of Rio de Janeiro and São Paulo. Peter Lund (October 1833), E. Garbe (August 1909), and H. Lüderwaldt (May 1924) later undertook shorter expeditions (Pinto 1950, Paynter-Jr. & Traylor-Jr. 1991, Willis & Oniki 2003). The first attempts to describe the avifauna of this region were made by A. Schneider, who collected at the locality known as the Sertão das Cobras in August and September 1940 and February 1942 (Pacheco & Bauer 1995). Another attempt was made by an expedition led by the Zoology Department of the Secretary of Agriculture of the state of São Paulo (currently the Museu de Zoologia da Universidade de São Paulo, MZUSP) which in August 1941 collected specimens in the region of the Serra de Bananal and the "alto Rio Paca region/Fazenda Califórnia" (Pinto 1941, 1944, 1945). Additional material was collected in 1952, 1961, 1965 and 1977, and several ornithologists sporadically visited the Serra da Bocaina region, including Werner Bokermann (November 1964), E. Willis (8 visits between January 1985 and November 1996) and Dante Buzzetti and Jeremy Minns, who made expeditions to Bananal Biological Station in 1995, 1996, 2003, 2004 and 2005, the data being partially published by Minns *et al.* (2010). Specimens collected were deposited in the Natural History Museum of Los Angeles, MZUSP, and the Field Museum of Natural History (Sick & Teixeira 1979, Willis & Oniki 1985, Paynter-Jr. & Traylor-Jr. 1991, Fonseca & Pacheco 2000, Willis & Oniki 2003).

As a result, ornithological knowledge of the Serra da Bocaina has accumulated over two centuries and it is certainly one of the few regions of the entire Atlantic Forest domain to have been continuously studied. This provides a unique opportunity for comparisons to be made over a long time span. Here, we present a compilation of the existing ornithological knowledge of the area, based on historical data as well as the results of intensive recent sampling expeditions to the region. Changes in the bird community and biogeographical relationships have also been investigated by comparison of past and recent records.

METHODS

Study areas

Bananal Ecological Station (BES): (Portuguese: Estação Ecológica de Bananal): this conservation unit conserves

884 ha and is located in the municipality of Bananal, in the northern portion of the Serra do Mar/Bocaina, São Paulo state, on the border with Rio de Janeiro (Fig. 1). It has an altitudinal gradient ranging between 1200 and 1900 m a.s.l. with montane forest as the predominant vegetation type (Fig. 2). However, cloud forest, Araucaria Forest, bamboo (Chusquea spp. and Merostachys sp.), natural grassland and degraded areas in different stages of succession are also present near the station. We sampled the avifauna at five main areas: Pedra Vermelha/Córrego do Barbosa Trail, Ouro-Mirante Trail, Invernada Road, Encosta and Cachoeira Sete Quedas Trail, all close to the headquarters (22°47'53"S; 44°21'35"W, 1200 m a.s.l.) and its access roads (Fig. 1). They all have similar vegetation characteristics and consist mostly of secondary forest in an advanced state of regeneration with relatively well defined vertical stratification and an herbaceous stratum composed of seedlings, terrestrial bromeliads, and small ferns with a thick layer of litterfall. The understory reaches a height of between 5 and 10 m and is characterized by the presence of Dicksonia ferns, Geonoma palms, various vines and the saplings of many typical species, especially the Juçara Palm Euterpe edulis. The largest trees reach up to 20 m tall but a dense and continuous canopy has not yet formed along most of the sampling trails and is present only in certain areas, especially in the valley bottom.

Another nine localities were also sampled: four on the slopes of the Paraíba Valley, at 450 m a.s.l. (B1, B2, B3 and B4), one intermediate area in the Serra de Bananal, at



Figure 1. Location map of the Bananal Ecological Station-BES. The numbers correspond to the following localities: 1. Sertão das Cobras, 2. Serra de Bananal (Rio Paca/Fazenda Califórnia), 3. vicinity of the BES, and some additional data contained in Paynter-Jr. & Traylor-Jr. (1991) (no exact locality and no indication on the map) and 4. Fazenda da Posse. The star indicates the location of the study areas within the BES.



Figure 2. View of a part of the Serra de Bananal. Photo author: F. Schunck.

1100 m a.s.l. (A) and another four near the BES, between 900 and 1400 m a.s.l. (E1, E2, E3 and E4) (Fig. 1). All had phytophysionomies similar to those found in the BES, besides areas with pristine vegetation, open or at other transitional stages of succession, according to the descriptions below.

Sertão da Bocaina (A) (22°48'00''S; 44°27'49''W, 1100 m a.s.l.): located 8 km SW of the BES, near the Trutário Aqua, it possesses a large artificial lake and a couple of areas of pasture and shrubby secondary vegetation. Regenerating mountain forest covers the surrounding slopes.

Forest fragment near Fazenda Três Barras (B1) (22°38'21''S; 44°17'59''W, 450 m a.s.l.): located in the Paraíba Valley lowlands, it contains thick seasonal semideciduous forest within a pastureland matrix with influence from the Bananal River, which forms its eastern border.

Forest fragment near Fazenda Boa Vista (B2) (22°39'59''S; 44°14'08''W, 450 m a.s.l.): located in the Paraíba Valley lowlands, it contains thick seasonal semideciduous forest within a pastureland matrix, much of which were coffee plantations until some decades ago.

Fazenda Coqueiros fragment (B3) (22°41'01''S; 44°22'06''W, 450 m a.s.l.): located in the Paraíba Valley lowlands, it consists of seasonal semideciduous forest on what was previously a farm.

Estrada do Sertão (B4) (22º43'31''S; 44º21'58''W, 450 m a.s.l.): located in the Paraíba Valley lowlands, it consists predominantly of shrubby thicket vegetation in a pastureland matrix. Observations were made from the road.

Fazenda Encontro (E1) (22°47'30''S; 44°22'46''W, 1200 m a.s.l.): located about 5 km from the northeastern

portion of the BES, with which it is contiguous, the vegetation is similar to that found in the BES. It is adjoins Fazenda Albion, which belongs to the same family.

Trilha do Pico Vermelho (E2) (22°47'17''S; 44°21'58''W, 1400 m a.s.l.): located nearly 6 km from the eastern portion of the BES, the vegetation is mostly similar to that found at the BES.

Fazenda Conceição Rio do Braço (E3) (22°49'36''S; 44°19'21''W, 900 m a.s.l.): located about 5 km from the southeastern portion of the BES, the property contains a clearing of 1 km by 300 m surrounded by primary mountain forest or forest in an advanced state of regeneration.

Brejo Grande da Madeireira (E4) (22°49'09''S; 44°21'39''W, 1000 m a.s.l.): a marshy area 1.5 km long, running along the southern edge of the BES, consisting of predominantly shrubby vegetation on waterlogged soils with an abundance of sedges.

Bird sampling

Bananal Ecological Station (BES): field work at the BES was undertaken over seven field trips between 2003 and 2015, with a total of 46 days of sampling (270 h; Table 1). The first, second and fourth field trips were undertaken by the MZUSP team, the third by the Instituto Florestal de São Paulo and the fifth, sixth and sevenths by J.F.P., R.L.G. and other collaborators (Table 1).

Birds were sampled by active searches, mist netting, and collection with shotguns for deposition in the bird collection at MZUSP. Ten mist nets $(12 \times 2 \text{ m}, 30 \text{ mm} \text{ mesh})$ were opened along transects in areas 1, 4 and 5 in the morning (between 5:00 h and 6:00 h) and closed in the evening (between 17:30 h and 18:00 h) for 20

Locality	Field trip	Hours field	Researchers	Field period
BES	1	90:00 h	L.F. Silveira, M. Sboarim & F. Belmonte	between 01–20 December 2003
BES	2	120 h	F. Schunck	between 13–25 April 2004
BES	3	30 h	A.Z. Antunes	between 13–16 September 2011
BES	4	20 h	L.F. Silveira, L.M. Lima & C.O.A. Gussoni	between 12–19 December 2011
BES	5	4:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Florit	20 February 2012
BES	6	3:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & C. Bauer	07 September 2012
BES	7	5:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	01 January 2015
А	8a	3:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	31 December 2012
А	9a	1:30 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Florit	30 March 2013
А	10a	2:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & F. Traiano	16 November 2013
А	11a	4:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	02 March 2014
B1	1a	1:30 h	J.F. Pacheco & P.S.M. Fonseca	24 September 1989
B1	2a	1:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & P.S.M. Fonseca	16 December 1990
B1	3a	0:30 h	J.F. Pacheco, P.S.M. Fonseca & C. Bauer	03 January 1993
B1	4a	12:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & R.L. Gagliardi	between 18–22 February 2012
B1	6a	12:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & R.L. Gagliardi	between 12–14 October 2012
B1	13a	15:30 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	between 02–05 April 2015
B2	6a	2:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & R.L. Gagliardi	14 October 2012
B2	11a	2:30 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	03 March 2014
B2	13a	4:30 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	03 and 04 April 2015
B3	6a	6:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & R.L. Gagliardi	13–14 October 2012
B3	13a	3:30 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	03–04 April 2015
B4	1a	0:30 h	J.F. Pacheco & P.S.M. Fonseca	24 September 1989
B4	3a	0:30 h	J.F. Pacheco, P.S.M. Fonseca & C. Bauer	03 January 1993
B4	4a	4:00 h	J F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Florit	18–19 and 22 February 2012
B4	5a	2:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & C. Bauer	07–09 September 2012
B4	7a	5:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & A.H. Oliveira	02–04 November 2012
B4	8a	2:30 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	28–30 December 2012; 01
D (0	2 00 1		January 2013
B4	9a	3:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	28–31 March 2013
B4	10a	3:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	15–17 November 2013
B4	11a 12	3:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	01, 03 and 05 March 2014
B4	12a	4:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	January 2015
E1	1a	10:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, B.M. Whitney & P.S.M. Fonseca	23–24 September 1989
E1	2a	8:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & P.S.M. Fonseca	between 15–16 December 1990
E1	3a	16:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, P.S.M. Fonseca & C. Bauer	between 31 December 1992–02 January 1993
E1	4a	12:00 h	J F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Florit	between 18–22 February 2012
E1	5a	10:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & C. Bauer	between 07–09 September 2012
E1	7a	10:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & A.H. Oliveira	03–04 November 2012
E1	8a	10:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	between 28 December 2012–01
 B4 B4 B4 B4 B4 E1 	9a 10a 11a 12a 1a 2a 3a 4a 5a 7a 8a	3:00 h 3:00 h 3:00 h 4:00 h 10:00 h 10:00 h 10:00 h 10:00 h	 J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit J.F. Pacheco, B.M. Whitney & P.S.M. Fonseca J.F. Pacheco & P.S.M. Fonseca & C. Bauer J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Florit J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & C. Bauer J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & A.H. Oliveira J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit 	28–31 March 2013 15–17 November 2013 01, 03 and 05 March 2014 between 31 December 2014–04 January 2015 23–24 September 1989 between 15–16 December 1990 between 31 December 1992–02 January 1993 between 18–22 February 2012 between 07–09 September 2012 03–04 November 2012 between 28 December 2012–01 January 2013

Table 1. Data from field trips at Bananal Ecological Station (BES) and in the Bananal region, Brazil.

Locality	Field trip	Hours field	Researchers	Field period
E1	9a	17:30 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi, P.S.M Fonseca,	between 28–31 March 2013
			L. Trindade & L. Florit	
E1	10a	20:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Florit	between 15–17 November 2013
E1	11a	24:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	between 01–05 March 2014
E1	12a	34:30 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Florit	between 31 December 2014–04
				January 2015
E2	4a	10:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Florit	19–21 February 2012
E3	4a	4:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Florit	21 February 2012
E3	5a	7:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & R.L. Gagliardi	08 September 2012
E3	7a	6:20 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & A.H. Oliveira	04 November 2012
E3	8a	6:00 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	30 December 2012
E3	9a	5:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & L. Trindade	30 March 2013
E4	5a	2:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & C. Bauer	08 September 2012
E4	7a	2:00 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi & A.H. Oliveira	03 November 2012
E4	12a	4:30 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	31 December 2013
E4	9a	1:30 h	J.F. Pacheco, R.L. Gagliardi, P.S.M. Fonseca,	29 March 2013
			L. Trindade & L. Florit	
E4	11a	1:30 h	J.F. Pacheco & L. Florit	03 March 2014

consecutive days, with a total sampling effort of 2360 net h. On field trips 1, 2 and 4 we sampled for 960, 1200 and 200 net h, respectively (Table 1). Species recorded within a 5 km perimeter of the BES during the third field trip are indicated as being from the "Surroundings" in Appendix I.

Localities A, B and E: field work in the areas outside the BES was undertaken in twelve field trips between 1989 and 2015, mainly by J.F.P., R.L.G. and other collaborators. This totalled 321.5 h of field work; 233 h at sites A and E and 88 h at site B (Table 1). Records were made by direct searches undertaken at different times of the day, such that a single locality was sometimes revisited multiple times on the same day, since they are close together.

Birds were observed with the aid of 10×40 and 8.5×40 binoculars. Vocalizations were recorded with Sony TCM 5000-EV and PMD222 Marantz recorders and Sennheiser ME 66 and Mineroff shotgun microphones. Recordings are deposited in the *Arquivo Sonoro da Seção de Aves do MZUSP* and the online database WikiAves (www.wikiaves.com.br). Some species were documented by photographs, which are presently only available in the personal collections of the authors, but may be accessed upon request. The nomenclature and systematics follow Piacentini *et al.* (2015).

Historical data: ornithological data from the Bananal region was obtained by extensively searching through museum catalogues, scientific articles, books, CD-ROMs, personal data not published and open access websites

with photographic and vocalisation records of Brazilian birds, such as WikiAves (WA) and xeno-canto (XC) (www.xeno-canto.org). The keywords used were Bananal and Serra da Bocaina and the searches were completed in January 2017. Reliable and documented records by the ex-manager of the BES were also considered.

Localities where ornithological studies were undertaken in the past included: (1) Sertão das Cobras; (2) Serra de Bananal (Rio Paca/Fazenda Califórnia); (3) proximity to BES, and some additional data contained in Paynter-Jr. & Traylor-Jr. (1991); (4) Fazenda da Posse (for one specimen collected by J.L. Lima) and (5) Bananal region, published by Minns *et al.* (2010) (Fig. 1). We also considered the data cited for the Bananal region but without exact location in the compilation made by Willis & Oniki (2003) (denoted by an X in Appendix I).

Data analyses

Since the Bananal region possesses considerable altitudinal variation, ranging from 450 to 1900 m a.s.l., a cluster analysis was carried out to detect possible differences in the bird community composition in this portion of the northern Serra do Mar in São Paulo. PAST v. 2.16 was used to calculate the Euclidian distance between sites based on species presence/ absence data.

To detect possible local extinctions in the Bananal avifauna, the data available in the bibliography was compared with that obtained in field trips since 1989.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

We present records of 371 bird species in the Bananal region, belonging to 24 orders and 67 families. Of these, 348 were recorded in the field, 112 were endemic to the Atlantic Forest (Bencke *et al.* 2006), one is considered threatened in Brazil (MMA 2014), and 16 threatened in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014). The total corresponds to approximately 48% of the avifauna of the state of São Paulo (793 species; Silveira & Uezo 2011), which is highly noteworthy when compared to other reserves that have been studied in the state (Table 2 & Appendix I).

In spite of the difference in the sampling effort between the higher parts of the Serra do Bananal and the Paraíba Valley (Table 1), the cluster analysis showed two avifauna communities across the altitudinal gradient. The first (204 species) occurs in the Paraíba Valley, at around 450 m a.s.l. (B) and the second (314 species) in the higher regions of the Serra da Bananal, between 900 and 1400 m a.s.l. (A, E and BES) (Figs. 1 & 3, Appendix I). We found various species typical of higher parts of the Serra do Mar in the Serra da Bananal, such as Chamaeza ruficauda and Lipaugus ater, whilst important elements of the avifauna from lower areas, such as Veniliornis maculifrons and Cantorchilus longirostris, were still present on the slopes of the Paraíba Valley. Even with this apparently well-defined trend, there were exceptions, such as the occurrence of Piculus flavigula at Sertão das Cobras and Manacus manacus along the upper Rio Paca (nearly 1000 m a.s.l.) (Pinto 1944). Both are usually associated with lowland areas (Sick 1997). Manacus manacus has also been found between 800-1000 m a.s.l. near Macaé de Cima, Nova Friburgo, Rio de Janeiro state, where it was considered uncommon (Pacheco et al. 2014). Other recent records also show that V. maculifrons is present within the

immediate surroundings of the BES, in the higher regions of the Serra de Bananal (Pinto 2012, Guerra 2014). Both *P. flavigula* and *M. manacus*, along with *Coccyzus melacoryphus*, were the only species with historical records that were not recorded during our field work in the higher regions of the Serra de Bananal.

The bird community of the higher regions of the Serra do Bananal is very similar to recently published data for the higher parts (between 1000 and 1600 m a.s.l.) of the Serra da Bocaina (Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* 2015). However, nine species recorded in the Serra de Bocaina were not found in the Serra do Bananal, namely *Glaucidium brasilianum*, *Triclaria malachitacea*, *Dysithamnus stictothorax*, *Laniisoma elegans*, *Phylloscartes oustaleti*, *Myiothlypis rivularis* and *Sporophila falcirostris*.

We recorded a total of 257 bird species for the study sites in the Bananal Ecological Station (BES) between 2003 and 2015 (two more unpublished records made in 1995 by D. Buzzetti bring the total to 259 species), an important conservation area that until now had not been systematically inventoried. This is a very high level of species richness for a single relatively small nature reserve of only 884 ha (Table 2 & Appendix I). When compared to the region as a whole, 12 species were found to be restricted to this reserve whilst 38 were found in the surrounding areas (E) but still had not been recorded within the boundaries of the reserve. These were, in general, species of open or very specific habitats that do not exist or are rare within the reserve (Fig. 1, Appendix I).

The species accumulation curve for the BES shows that our estimate of species richness is reaching a stable asymptote, with few new additions being made in the final expeditions but this is, in part, due to the fact that sampling was concentrated within the region around the reserve's headquarters. Further sampling in unsurveyed areas, especially with different habitats, would undoubtedly

		,	
Conservation Unit	Number of species	Area (ha)	Source
Intervales State Park	354	41,700	Aleixo & Galetti 1997 and Vielliard & Silva 2001
Carlos Botelho State Park	370	37,644	Antunes et al. 2013
Turístico do Alto Ribeira State Park	319	35,772	Antunes & Eston 2010
Serra do Mar State Park, Curucutu Nucleus	373	36,134	Schunck et al. in prep.
Juréia-Itatins Ecological Station	352	79,240	Develey et al. in prep.
Boracéia Biological Station (including Casa Grande and part of Padre Dória Nucleus of Serra do Mar State Park)	323	96	Cavarzere <i>et al.</i> 2010
Bananal Ecological Station-BES	259	884	This study
Serra do Mar State Park, Picinguaba Nucleus	254	47,000	Goerck 1997
Paranapiacaba Biological Reserve	183	336	Silveira 2009

Table 2. Bird species richness in protected areas located in the Serra do Mar, São Paulo state.

increase the curve (Fig. 4). The avifauna of the BES is typical of the mountain regions of the Serra do Mar/ Bocaina, with species that occur above 700 m in altitude, such as *Hydropsalis forcipata*, *Stephanoxis lalandi*, *Hylopezus nattereri*, *Hemitriccus obsoletus* and *Stephanophorus diadematus* as well as those that occur above 1000 m a.s.l., including *Drymophila genei* and *Microspingus lateralis*. The presence of game birds, particularly *Tinamus solitarius* and *Penelope obscura*, and species dependent on forests in a good state of conservation and/or that are threatened, such as *Selenidera maculirostris*, *Carpornis cucullata* and *Onychorhynchus swainsoni*, attests to the low degree of disturbance at the BES.

Examples of unsampled habitats in the reserve are the montane or high altitude grasslands found in the highest portions of the reserve to which there is little or no access. These areas may contain bird species typical of this habitat, such as Polystictus superciliaris and Anthus hellmayri. Indeed, the former was collected in 1961 by J.L. Lima at Rio Mambucaba (1350 m a.s.l.), Fazenda da Posse (Fig. 1) and there are historical records of the latter for the Bananal region (Willis & Oniki 2003). Both species have recently been photographed in the municipality of São José do Barreiro (Martins 2008, Torrubia 2014), relatively close to the Serra do Bananal, besides the fact that they are frequently recorded around Campos do Jordão and Cunha, always in natural open habitats (Willis & Oniki 2003). Penelope superciliaris was also recorded by Mallet-Rodrigues et al. (2015) in the higher parts of the Serra da Bocaina.

Attention is drawn to a large and varied group of species that were not found in the BES during this study, including various migrants and/or common species, others that are more reclusive and still others that are difficult to identify in the field. Nevertheless, all have historical or recent records in the Bananal and surrounding municipalities. These are Glaucidium minutissimum, Cypseloides fumigatus, Chlorostilbon lucidus, Drymophila ferruginea, Psilorhamphus guttatus, M. manacus, Tityra cayana, Elaenia parvirostris, Cnemotriccus fuscatus, Contopus cinereus, Pyrrhocoma ruficeps, Poospiza thoracica and Euphonia violacea. The only species recorded before 2004 in the BES that were not registered in the field by this study were Lepidocolaptes squamatus and Lipaugus lanioides. The occurrence of these species requires dedicated investigation, as they are linked to specific habitats with punctuated distribution but they are very likely to be recorded in future studies.

Deforestation in the region surrounding the BES now provides new habitats for species of open environments. For example, *Cyanocorax cristatellus* has invaded the region through the Paraíba Valley, arriving in the Serra do Bananal in the 1990s (Alvarenga 1990, Willis & Oniki 2003). Other examples include *Bubulcus*



Figure 3. Cluster pattern for ten studied points at Bananal region. The localities indicated by the letter B are located in the Paraíba Valley, at lower altitudes. The localities indicated by the letters A and E are located in the Serra de Bananal, at higher altitudes.



Figure 4. Accumulation curve for the species recorded at the Bananal Ecological Station between 2003 and 2015.

ibis, Phacellodomus rufifrons and *Coryphospingus pileatus.* All have significantly expanded their ranges southwards into São Paulo state (Willis & Oniki 1993, Sick 1997, Cestari & Pacheco 2010).

When data regarding the birds of the Serra do Bananal were compared before and after 1989 there were 23 species for which no recent records had been made in the region. Most of these were migratory species, waterbirds or species that rarely occur on the Brazilian Plateau in São Paulo (Appendix I) and may thus still be recorded in future studies. *Jacamaralcyon tridactyla*, in particular, deserves attention, since this species has not been recorded since the 1940s (Collar *et al.* 1992), which strongly indicates that it has possibly become extinct at both the local and the state level, having not been recently recorded at other historical sites (Silveira 2009a) (Appendix I & Fig. 1).

Noteworthy records

Tinamus solitarius: considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014), this species was recorded on all field trips to the BES so it can be considered common in the reserve and surrounding areas. In the higher regions of the Serra da Bocaina it was recorded below 800 m a.s.l. (Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* 2015).

Sarcoramphus papa: considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014), this species was photographed flying over the headquarters of the BES by the former manager in 2011. It is regarded as uncommon in the east of the state, with only a few documented records for the Serra do Mar and had not previously been observed in the Bananal region (Willis & Oniki 2003).

Pseudastur polionotus: an Atlantic Forest endemic, considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014), it was first photographed in the BES in 2011 by the reserve manager and more recently by other observers (WA1343324). Records of this hawk in the northern parts of the Serra do Mar and Mantiqueira have only begun to occur in the last 10 years (Willis & Oniki 2003). In the Serra da Bocaina it was recorded below 800 m a.s.l. (Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* 2015).

Spizaetus tyrannus: considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014). Recorded on all field trips to the BES, it can be considered common in the reserve and surrounding areas as well as the entire area of the Serra do Mar and Bocaina lying in São Paulo (Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* 2015).

Claravis pretiosa: a widely distributed species in Brazil and the state of São Paulo, where it is more frequently recorded in the summer months (Sick 1997, Willis & Oniki 2003). Previously unknown in the Bananal region, the first and only record was made in February 2012 on the Trilha do Pico Vermelho (E2), in the high parts of the mountain range. Our record is during the expected time of year and may thus indicate seasonal movements, which requires further investigation.

Primolius maracana: considered threatened in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014), it was recorded in the surroundings of BES in 2009 (WA193668) when a group of six individuals was seen during the third field trip (2011). Historical records also exist for this species from the beginning of the 19th century (São José dos Campos; Pelzeln 1871). In Rio de Janeiro state, in the municipalities of Resende, Volta Redonda, Barra do Piraí and Barra Mansa it is considered common (Pacheco *et al.* 1994, Nunes 2003). Thus, it may be expanding its range into the Serra do Mar due to the substitution

of humid forest with more open and semi-deciduous vegetation types, which are preferred by this species. In 2009, André De Luca (pers. comm.) recorded this species in Caraguatatuba, which corroborates the hypothesis of geographic expansion due to modifications in vegetation. This scenario has also been confirmed in parts of Rio de Janeiro and Minas Gerais states (Pacheco *et al.* 1994).

Touit melanonotus: an Atlantic Forest endemic, considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals of the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014) and Endangered by the IUCN (2017). It was recorded on the first field trip to the BES (2003), where several individuals flew, vocalising, over the forest surrounding the headquarters. Voice recordings were also obtained at Fazenda Encontro on the 04 March 2014 (of a group in flight) and from an area close to the BES in 2014, whilst a historic record exists for the Bananal region cited by Paynter-Jr. & Traylor-Jr. (1991). It was recorded only at low elevations in the Serra da Bocaina by Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* (2015).

Myrmoderus squamosus and M. loricatus: these are species endemic to the Atlantic Forest with parapatric distributions. The shortest distance between documented records of the two taxa is precisely in the Bananal regionapproximately 12 km, between the BES and Lídice in the state of Rio de Janeiro (Amaral et al. 2013). For the BES, there is a documented record (museum skin) for M. squamosus and a recording of an alarm call attributed to M. loricatus in Minns et al. (2010). The latter should be disregarded, since these calls of the two species are very similar and cannot be used for identification, and the species of the female giving the call was not certain (J. Minns, pers. comm.). In September 1989, an individual of *M. loricatus* was heard singing at Fazenda Encontro (E1), about 5 km from the northeastern portion of the BES, but was never relocated on subsequent surveys. Therefore, based on the available records, we hypothesize that in the Serra da Bocaina M. squamosus is present along the moderately low coastal slopes, whilst M. loricatus uses the slopes along the edge of the Paraíba Valley, where an exemplar was collected in Cruzeiro (SP) and examined by Hellmayr (1924). What is most intriguing to us, however, is the reason for the lack of recent records of this species in the region. This justifies the need for new studies focusing on the biogeographical importance of the Bananal region.

Lepidocolaptes falcinellus: according to Silva & Straube (1996), this woodcreeper occurs from Rio Grande do Sul state northward to the left margin of the Paraíba do Sul River, in northeastern São Paulo, where it is substituted by *L. squamatus*. Inclusion of *L. falcinellus* on the BES list is based on a vocalization heard in 2003 and a visual record from 2011, when an individual was observed in a mixed flock. The presence of *L. squamatus* in the Bananal region and in the BES, however, is certain (MZUSP 27133 and 27134; Silva & Straube 1996, Fonseca & Pacheco 2000, D. Buzzetti, pers. comm.). A documented record of L. falcinellus was recently made southwest of the BES in the Cunha region located between 50 and 70 km to the east and northeast of the Paraíba do Sul River (R. Bessa, L. Lima & M.A. Rego, pers. comm.). According to Silva & Straube (1996), this river is the geographical barrier for the north/south separation of these species in the Atlantic Forest. These records of L. falcinellus to the northeast and east of the Paraíba do Sul therefore prove that it is not a geographical barrier to these woodcreepers and suggests that they may be sympatric in this region. This was also found to be the case in the Serra da Mantiqueira in Minas Gerais, where interbreeding was detected between the two species (Vasconcelos & D'Angelo-Neto 2009). However, further studies are necessary to better define the distributions of both species as well as the areas in which they may occur in sympatry.

Leptasthenura setaria: the occurrence of this Tit-Spinetail is associated with the presence of araucaria pines (Araucaria angustifolia) which, in the state of São Paulo, extend throughout the Serra do Mar and Mantiqueira (Sick 1997, Willis & Oniki 2003, Antunes et al. 2007). It is common in the Bananal region, and its current presence within the BES and surroundings areas is restricted to araucarias probably planted in the 1960s (Natália Ivanauskas, pers. comm.).

Onychorhynchus swainsoni: endemic to the Atlantic Forest, this species is considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014) and globally (IUCN 2017). It was only recorded on the first field trip to the BES, where a single male was mist netted on the Pedra Vermelha Trail, which runs along a forested stream, their preferred habitat. A historical record was made in 1941 during an expedition by the Departamento de Zoologia to the Serra de Bananal (Rio Paca/Fazenda Califórnia) and a photo taken in 2009 (WA95542), documenting the presence of this interesting but still little known species in the region (Pinto 1944, 1945). It was recorded only in the lower portion of the Serra da Bocaina by Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* (2015).

Procnias nudicollis: endemic to the Atlantic Forest, this species is considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014) and globally by the IUCN (2017). It was recorded on five separate trips to the BES (1, 3, 4, 6 and 7), coinciding with the hottest period of the year, when the species vocalises more frequently in the higher regions of the Serra do Mar. The only trips when bellbirds were not recorded were during February and April, which may represent a period of absence from the mountainous regions or a period when they are less vocal and thus less detectable. Sick (1997) confirmed that this species undergoes altitudinal movements, wintering in the coastal lowlands and restingas but this question requires further study.

Pyroderus scutatus: endemic to the Atlantic Forest, this species is considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014). It was recorded on all field trips to the BES so can be considered common in the reserve, where it is historically well known (Willis & Oniki 2003). Various other records exist from around the BES (including photographs and sound recordings). Despite the fact that this species is undergoing a population decline across the interior of the state, because of habitat loss (Develey & De Luca 2009), it is very common in the Serra do Mar, where it frequently occurs in rural areas and even city parks, such as in São Paulo (São Paulo 2010).

Lipaugus lanioides: endemic to the Atlantic Forest, this species is considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014). It is rare in the northern portion of the Serra do Mar in São Paulo state, occasionally occurring in the lowlands around Ubatuba (Willis & Oniki 2003, Simpson *et al.* 2012). In the Serra da Bocaina it was recorded between 0 and 500 m a.s.l. (Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* 2015), whilst only a single record exists for the BES and the entire Serra de Bananal region, being voice recording made by D. Buzzetti in March 1995. This is also the highest record ever made in the Serra do Mar in São Paulo state, where it is only known to occur up to 900 m a.s.l., according to Willis & Oniki (2003).

Piprites pileata: endemic to the Atlantic Forest, this species is considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014) and globally by the IUCN (2017). It was recorded on the third field trip to the BES. Another seven records were obtained (including photographs and sound recordings) for the surrounding areas. It is typical of the Serra da Mantiqueira but also occurs in this portion of the Serra do Mar with both historical and recent records in the Bananal region (Willis & Oniki 2003). It was not recorded in the higher parts of the Serra da Bocaina by Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* (2015).

Elaenia chilensis: a southern migratory species (Sick 1983, Marini & Cavalcanti 1990, Willis & Oniki 2003) that usually passes through the states of São Paulo, Rio de Janeiro and Minas Gerais between February and April (Pacheco & Gonzaga 1994, Willis & Oniki 2003, Montanhini 2010). Its presence in the BES was detected during April 2004, along with individuals of *Elaenia mesoleuca* (MZUSP 78357, 78358 and 78360). This provides the first record of this species in the northern portion of Serra do Mar/Bocaina and the only one above 1000 m a.s.l. in the state, providing new information about its migratory route in Serra do Mar. It was not recorded in the higher parts of the Serra da Bocaina by

Mallet-Rodrigues et al. (2015).

Sporophila angolensis: considered "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014), this species was recorded on the fourth field trip to the BES, when a male was captured by mist net in a partially open area with low vegetation near the reserve headquarters. Another four records were subsequently made around the BES and lower lying areas. These records are important as they show that, even though this is one of the most sought after species in the illegal songbird trade, because of its loud and complex song, it has a stable population in the Bananal region, as is proven by both historical and recent records. This species was only recorded in the lower portions of the Serra da Bocaina by Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* (2015).

Cyanoloxia brissonii: listed as "Vulnerable" in the list of threatened animals in the state of São Paulo (São Paulo 2008, 2014), this species was recorded on the third field trip to the BES, when an adult male was observed and recorded in a partially open area along the forest edge. Another five records exist for the areas surrounding the BES and the lower lying regions. Willis & Oniki (2003) also recorded the presence of this species in the Bananal region, which shows that although it is also sought after for the illegal songbird trade, it is still present in this region of the Serra do Mar. It was also only recorded in the lower portions of the Serra da Bocaina by Mallet-Rodrigues *et al.* (2015).

Data collected in the field and from bibliographic sources show that the bird diversity of the Bananal region is very high and divided into two main communities: one from the higher regions of the Serra de Bananal and the other from the lowlands of the Paraíba do Sul River Valley. However, only 259 out of the 371 recorded species presently receive any kind of legal protection, by means of the BES, which is the only reserve in the region. Thus, the creation of new protected areas is essential in both the highlands of the Serra de Bananal as well as of the forest fragments in the Paraíba do Sul River Valley, where most the original forest cover has already been lost. The present study recorded 26 new species for the Bananal region and the absence of 23 previously recorded species, including J. tridactyla, possibly extinct in the state of São Paulo, given the lack of recent records from the current study site and elsewhere in the state. Nevertheless, many of these and other species will likely be recorded in future field work. The region is also biogeographically important for certain species whose distribution limits coincide precisely with the Bananal, such as M. squamosus/M. loricatus and L. falcinellus/L. squamatus. However, their occurrence, contact and possible overlap require further investigation. Further studies in the region are therefore important to improve the current knowledge and determine with more precision the occurrence of various species, especially in

relation to altitude, an issue typical of birds of the Serra do Mar.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are thankful to the following people: José Roberto Alves Suarez (Beto) (In memoriam), former manager of BES, for logistical support during field work; Hussam Zaher and Erika Hingst-Zaher for the opportunity to work in BES; Paula for support during the campaigns of 2003 and 2004; Marina Sboarim and Fernando Belmonte for their participation during the field trip of 2003; Douglas Souza (taxidermist), Caroline Aires, Hernani and Egnaldo Rocha for help with field work during the second and third field trips, respectively; Francisco Boavista Pontual (our host), Luis Florit, Claudia Bauer, Paulo S. M. Fonseca and Alfredo H. Oliveira actively participated in several field trips with J.F.P. and R.L.G.; Marina M. Kanashiro, from the Geosciences Section of Instituto Florestal, for preparation of the preliminary map and Marco Antonio Rêgo for preparation of the final map; Leo R. Malagoli for help with Cluster analysis; Vitor Q. Piacentini for text revision; Dante Buzzetti for providing unpublished information concerning BES: Jeremy K. Dickens for first English revision; Rafael Bessa, Luciano Lima, Carlos A. Gussoni, Pedro Develey, Vagner Cavarzere, Paulo Guerra, Rafael Fortes, Marco Guedes, Roberto Torrubia, Luiz Ribenboim, Almir Almeida, Daniel Mello and Marco A. Rêgo for making available non-published records and information; Fernando Straube and Bruno Rennó for clarifying historical information; and Jeremy Minns for help in the identification of some vocalizations, for providing some field data and with the final revision of English and the manuscript. The authors also thank the Instituto Florestal do Estado de São Paulo, the Post Graduate Program of the Zoology Museum of the University of São Paulo, the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa no Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP), and UPS Brazil (Bruno Ehlers). L.F.S. received a productivity fellowship from CNPq.

REFERENCES

- Aleixo A. & Galetti M. 1997. The conservation of the avifauna in a lowland Atlantic Forest in southeast Brazil. *Bird Conservation International* 7: 235–261.
- Almeida F.F.M. & Carneiro C.D.R. 1998. Origem e evolução da Serra do Mar. *Revista Brasileira de Geociências* 28: 135–150.
- Alvarenga H.M.F. 1990. Novos registros e expansões geográficas de aves no leste do estado de São Paulo. *Ararajuba* 1: 115–117.
- Amaral F.R., Albers P.K., Edwards S.V. & Miyaki C.Y. 2013. Multilocus tests of Pleistocene refugia and ancient divergence in a pair of Atlantic Forest antbirds (*Myrmeciza*). *Molecular Ecology* 22: 3996–4013.
- Antunes A.Z. & Eston M.R. 2010. Riqueza e conservação da avifauna

do Parque Estadual Turístico do Alto Ribeira - PETAR, SP. *Revista do Instituto Florestal* 22: 133–154.

- Antunes A.Z., Alvarenga H., Silveira L.F., Eston M.R., Menezes G.V. & Santos S.R. 2007. Distribuição de *Leptasthenura setaria* (Temminck, 1824) (Aves: Furnariidae) no Estado de São Paulo. *Biota Neotropica* 7: 201–204.
- Antunes A.Z., Silva B.G., Matsukuma C.K., Eston M.R. & Santos A.M.R. 2013. Aves do Parque Estadual Carlos Botelho-SP. *Biota Neotropica* 13: 124–140.
- Bencke G.A., Maurício G.N., Develey P.F. & Goerck J.M. (eds.). 2006. Áreas importantes para a conservação das aves no Brasil. Parte 1 - estados do domínio da Mata Atlântica. São Paulo: SAVE Brasil.
- Cavarzere V., Moraes G.P. & Silveira L.F. 2010. Boracéia Biological Station: an ornithological review. *Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia* 50: 189–201.
- Cestari C. & Pacheco J.F. 2010. Aves, Emberizidae, *Coryphospingus pileatus* (Wied, 1821): a new gathered bird species to São Paulo state and evidences of southern geographic expansion in Brazil. *Check List* 6: 501–502.
- Collar N.J., Gonzaga L.P., Krabbe N., Madroño-Nieto A., Naranjo L.G., Parker-III T.A. & Wege D.C. 1992. *Threatened birds of the Americas: the ICBP/IUCN Red Data Book*. Cambridge: Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Develey P. & De Luca A. 2009. Pyroderus scutatus (Shaw, 1792), Passeriformes, Cotingidae, p. 234. In: Bressan P.M., Kierulff M.C.M. & Sugieda A.M. (eds.). Fauna ameaçada de extinção no estado de São Paulo-Vertebrados. São Paulo: Fundação Parque Zoológico de São Paulo e Secretaria do Meio Ambiente.
- Fonseca P.S.M. & Pacheco J.F. 2000. Aves observadas na Pousada do Vale dos Veados, Parque Nacional da Bocaina. http://www. hoteisdabocaina.com.br/refugio/lista_passaros.pdf (access on 12 December 2015).
- Goerck J.M. 1997. Patterns of rarity in the birds of the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. *Conservation Biology* 11: 112–118.
- Guerra A.E. 2014. [WA1362558, Veniliornis maculifrons (Spix, 1824)]. http://www.wikiaves.com.br/1362558 (access on 09 January 2017).
- Hellmayr C.E. 1924. Catalogue of birds of the Americas and adjacent islands. Part 3. Pteroptochidae-Conopophagidae-Formicariidae. Publication No. 223. *Field Museum of Natural History, Zoological Series* 13: 1–369.
- IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature). 2017. The IUCN red list of threatened species. Version 2017-2. http://www.iucnredlist.org (access on 17 December 2017).
- Mallet-Rodrigues F., Parrini R. & Rennó B. 2015. Bird species richness and composition along three elevational gradients in southeastern Brazil. *Atualidades Ornitológicas* 188: 39–58.
- Marini M.A. & Cavalcanti R.B. 1990. Migrações de Elaenia albiceps chilensis e E. chiriquensis albivertex (Aves, Tyrannidae). Boletim do Museu Paraense Emílio Goeldi, Zoologia 6: 59–66.
- Martins J.C. 2008. [WA59218, Anthus hellmayri Hartert, 1909]. http://www.wikiaves.com.br/59218 (access on 09 January 2017).
- MMA (Ministério do Meio Ambiente). 2014. *Lista nacional das espécies da fauna brasileira ameaçadas de extinção*. Brasília. Diário Oficial da União. No. 245. Seção 1. Publicado em 18 December 2014. http://www.mma.gov.br/port/sbf/fauna/index.cfm (access on 15 October 2015).
- Minns J., Buzzetti D., Albano C., Grosset A., Whittaker A. & Parrini R. 2010. Aves do Brasil, vozes e fotografias. v. 1 - Floresta Atlântica, Cerrado, Caatinga, Pantanal, Campos Sulinos e Costa (DVD-ROM). Vinhedo: Avis Brasilis Editora.
- Montanhini A.M. 2010. *Avifauna da Ilha da Queimada Grande, SP: diversidade, estrutura trófica e sazonalidade*. MSc. Dissertation. São José do Rio Preto: Universidade Estadual Paulista UNESP.
- Nunes M.F.C. 2003. Distribuição do Maracaná-verdadeiro Primolius maracana: preferência de habitat e fatores que influenciam na

manutenção de suas populações remanescentes. MSc. Dissertation. Piracicaba: Escola Superior de Agricultura Luiz de Queiroz da Universidade de São Paulo - ESALQ.

- Pacheco J.F. & Bauer C. 1995. Adolf Schneider (1881–1946): alguns dados sobre a vida e a obra do chefe da expedição de 1939 do Museu de Ciências Naturais de Berlim que trouxe Helmut Sick para Brasil. Atualidades Ornitológicas 65: 10–13.
- Pacheco J.F. & Gonzaga L.P. 1994. Tiranídeos do estado do Rio de Janeiro provenientes de regiões austrais da América do Sul. Nótulas Faunísticas 63: 1–4.
- Pacheco J.E., Fonseca P.S.M., Mattos G.T. & Simon E.J.E. 1994. O status de Ara maracana (Vieillot) no Rio de Janeiro e na zona da mata de Minas Gerais, p. 142. In: 4th Congresso Brasileiro de Ornitologia. Recife: Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco.
- Pacheco J.F., Parrini R., Kirwan G.M. & Serpa G.A. 2014. Birds of Vale das Taquaras region, Nova Friburgo, Rio de Janeiro state, Brazil: checklist with historical and trophic approach. *Cotinga* 36: 74–102.
- Paynter-Jr. R.A. & Traylor-Jr. M.A. 1991. Ornithological Gazetteer of Brazil, v. 1 & 2. Cambridge: Harvard University Press. Museum of Comparative Zoology.
- Pelzeln A. 1871. Zur Ornithologie Brasiliens: Resultate von Johann Natteres Reisen in den Jahren 1817 bis 1835. Wien: A. Pichler's Witwe & Sohn.
- Piacentini V.Q., Aleixo A., Agne C.E., Maurício G., Pacheco J.F., Bravo G.A., Brito G.R.R., Naka L.N., Olmos F., Posso S., Silveira L.F., Betini G.S., Carrano E., Franz I., Lees A.C., Lima L.M., Pioli D., Schunck F., Amaral F.R., Bencke G.A., Cohn-Haft M., Figueiredo L.F., Straube F.C. & Cesari E. 2015. Annotated checklist of the birds of Brazil by the Brazilian Ornithological Records Committee. *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* 23: 91–298.
- Pinto O.M.O. 1938. Catálogo das aves do Brasil e lista dos exemplares que as representam no Museu Paulista: 1ª Parte – Aves não Passeriformes. São Paulo: Secretaria da Agricultura/Departamento de Zoologia.
- Pinto O.M.O. 1941. Sobre a variação geográfica das populações de *Cichlocolptes leucophrus* (Jard. & Selby) com a descrição de uma raça nova. *Revista Argentina de Zoogeografia* 1: 165–171.
- Pinto O.M.O. 1944. *Catálogo das aves do Brasil e lista dos exemplares existentes na coleção do Departamento de Zoologia. 2ª Parte Ordem Passeriformes.* São Paulo: Secretaria da Agricultura/Departamento de Zoologia.
- Pinto O.M.O. 1945. Cinquenta anos de investigação ornitológica: história das origens e do desenvolvimento da coleção ornitológica do Museu Paulista e de seu subsequente progresso no Departamento de Zoologia da Secretaria da Agricultura. Arquivos de Zoologia do Estado de São Paulo 4: 261–340.
- Pinto O.M.O. 1950. Peter W. Lund e sua contribuição à ornitologia brasileira. *Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia* 9: 269–284.
- Pinto M.A. 2012. [WA660349, Veniliornis maculifrons (Spix, 1824)]. http://www.wikiaves.com.br/660349 (access on 09 January 2017).
- São Paulo. 2008. Decreto Estadual No. 53.494 de 02 de outubro de 2008. Declara as espécies da fauna silvestre ameaçadas, as quase ameaçadas, as colapsadas, as sobre-explotadas, as ameaçadas de sobre-explotação e com dados insuficientes para avaliação no Estado de São Paulo e dá providências correlatas. Diário Oficial do Estado de São Paulo, São Paulo, seção 1, 118 (187).
- São Paulo. 2010. Inventário da fauna do município de São Paulo. Diário Oficial do município de São Paulo. Ano 55 No. 94, Suplemento 01-114.
- São Paulo. 2014. Decreto Estadual No. 60133 de 07 de fevereiro de 2014. Declara as espécies da fauna silvestre ameaçadas de extinção, as quase ameaçadas e as deficientes de dados para avaliação no Estado de São Paulo e dá providencias correlatas. Diário Oficial do Estado de São Paulo, São Paulo, seção 1, 124 (27).
- Sick H. 1983. Migração de aves na América do Sul continental. Brasília:

CEMAVE - Centro de Estudos de Migrações de Aves/IBDF. Publicação Técnica No. 2.

Sick H. 1997. Ornitologia brasileira. Rio de Janeiro: Nova Fronteira.

- Sick H. & Teixeira D.L.M. 1979. Notas sobre aves brasileiras raras ou ameaças de extinção. *Publicações Avulsas do Museu Nacional* 62: 1–39.
- Silva J.M.C. & Straube F.C. 1996. Systematics and biogeography of Scaled Woodcreepers (Aves: Dendrocolaptidae). *Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment* 31: 3–10.
- Silveira L.F. 2009. As aves: uma revisão histórica do conhecimento ornitológico em uma reserva de Mata Atlântica do estado de São Paulo, p. 619–636. In: Lopes M.I.M.S., Kirizawa M., Melo M.M.R.F. (eds.). Patrimônio da Reserva Biológica do Alto da Serra de Paranapiacaba, a antiga estação Biológica do Alto da Serra. São Paulo: Secretaria do Meio Ambiente.
- Silveira L.F. 2009a. Jacamaralcyon tridactyla (Vieillot, 1817), Galbuliformes, Galbulidae, p. 192. In: Bressan P.M., Kierulff M.C.M. & Sugieda A.M. (eds.). Fauna ameaçada de extinção no estado de São Paulo-Vertebrados. São Paulo: Fundação Parque Zoológico de São Paulo e Secretaria do Meio Ambiente.
- Silveira L.F. & Uezu A. 2011. Checklist das aves do estado de São Paulo, Brasil. *Biota Neotropica* 11: 83–110.
- Simpson R., Cavarzere V., Simpson E. 2012. List of documented bird

species from the municipality of Ubatuba, state of São Paulo, Brazil. *Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia* 52: 233–254.

- Torrubia R.P. 2014. [WA1371350, Polystictus superciliaris (Wied, 1831)]. http://www.wikiaves.com.br/1371350 (access on 09 January 2017).
- Vasconcelos M.F. & D'Angelo-Neto S. 2009. First assessment of the avifauna of Araucaria Forests and other habitats from extreme southern Minas Gerais, Serra da Mantiqueira, Brazil, with notes on biogeography and conservation. *Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia* 49: 49–71.
- Vielliard J.M.E. & Silva W.R. 2001. Avifauna, p. 124–145. In: Secretaria de Estado do Meio Ambiente (org.). *Intervales*. São Paulo: Imprensa Oficial.
- Willis E.O. & Oniki Y. 1985. Bird specimens new for the state of Săo Paulo, Brazil. *Revista Brasileira de Biologia* 45: 105–108.
- Willis E.O. & Oniki Y. 1993. New and reconfirmed birds from the state of São Paulo, Brazil, with notes on disappearing species. *Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club* 113: 23–34.
- Willis E.O. & Oniki Y. 2003. *Aves do estado de São Paulo*. Rio Claro: Editora Divisa.

Associate Editor: Gustavo S. Cabanne.

Species of birds in the Banan (according to MMA 2014); # record); R (sound recording); Forest), NF (Natural Grasslan the letter S (surroundings) an individuals recorded in the fie compilation by Willis & Onik de Bananal (Rio Paca/Fazenda da Posse (4) (for one specime) records obtained by D. Buzzet databases (WikiAves and xeno not have information in the c values are valid. Data from fiel Taxa	al region.] Threatene P (photog (d), AA (O d groups c sld and X (Califórnia n collected ti in Marcl -canto) fo olumns Ev ld trips are Evidence	END - { END - { graph};] ppen Ant ppen Ant ppen Ant of birds i correspoi or the er of the er of the Ba or the Ba or the Ba or the Ba or the Ba	beci s at t s at t hrop hrop ndic t hrop t hrop ndic Lim n the n nd t hrop t lim the t hrop t hrob hrob t hrob t hrob t hrob hrob hrob hrob hrob hrob hrob hrob	tes (t he st bhoto bic A aic A and the Bana Bana a), (f a), (f ble 1 ble 1 ble 1	ate le ate le ate le ate le grapl (grapl teas), le grapl teas), by th otograph nul	wel (c) vel (c) FL (delet c) s BE, c) s BE, c) not c) not this this stati	mic 1 accol positi (Floc ter C floc terec S, an ords 4 publi info	to the rding ed in oded <i>I</i> 3 (Grr 5 (Grr 5 (Grr 5 (Grr 6 (Grr 6 (Grr 6 (Grr 6 (Grr 6 (Grr 6 (Grr 7 (Grr)))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))	e Atlanti to Sáo I WikiAv Areas). S oups). T oups). T made by made by exact loc ne additi le Banan lby Min lby Min on was 1 on was 1 erree (histore	c Forest (at Paulo 2008), res): C (coll pecies reco he number / the manag cation (den cation (den al region p und P+: phc und P+: phc not availabl aregion at region at read	, 2014) ; 2014) ; lected s _f rded wit rded wit s indica ser of th oted by ontainec ublishec otograph otograph le in the	s to Bend and + In pecimen) thin a 5 l ted in cc te reserve d in Payr d in Payr d in Payr s). Spec ns). Spec	ke <i>et</i> troduc) and) and humn plumnn plumnn plumn plumn plumn plumn plumn plumn plumn	<i>al.</i> 20(eed spe rimete numb colum colum colum <i>al.</i> (20 <i>al.</i> (20 <i>al.</i> (20 <i>al.</i> (20 <i>al.</i> (20 <i>al.</i> (20 <i>al.</i> (20) <i>al.</i> (20) (20) (20) (20) (20) (20) (20) (20)	 (6); * TH (cies; Ewi) and by lc r of the er 3 of 1 n "Histc he data ylor-Jr. (10) and ns mode he "Hist numbe: nanal region 	dence: V (v dence: V (v ocal people). BES are hig BES field tri orical and C firom Sertáo (6) for the 1 rn records c orical and C s separated rs separated (Field trip)	ecies at tl isual recc Habitat nlighted ps refer tr ps refer to das Cob das Cob das Cob das Cob clevant a clevant a ontained by a "-",	ne nation: rid); A (au in the tabl o the num o the num ata" refers ras (1) and countine nd docun in online bata" colu all interm	al level iditory ontane le with be of hober of d Serra azenda azenda mented digital mn do nediate
			-	2	3	4	5	6 7			A	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Tinamiformes																			
Tinamidae (4)																			
$Tinamus$ solitarius $^{ m end}{}^{*}$	R,P,C	MF	×	×	10	×	×	×	P.	+,R+						7,10,11		5,7-9	5,7
Crypturellus obsoletus	R,P	MF	×	×	8	×	×	×	1,2,	,P+,R+	8,10			9		1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	5,7- 9,11
Crypturellus parvirostris	А	MF	×	×						Х		13	13						
Crypturellus tataupa	Α	MF	×							Х		2,6,13	13						
Anseriformes																			
Anatidae (3)																			
Dendrocygna bicolor										Х									
Dendrocygna viduata										Х									
Amazonetta brasiliensis	Ρ	AA,FL							×	ζ,Ρ+	8	2			7				
Galliformes																			
Cracidae (1)																			
Penelope obscura	R,C	MF	×	х	12	X	X		X,	,5,P+	10	6,13		9		4,5,7,8,10-12	4	5,7-9	5,9
Odontophoridae (1)																			
Odontophorus capueira ^{end}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	9			XX	-	+,R+						1,4,5,7-10,12		4,5	5,7,9

APPENDIX I

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia 26(1): 2018

27

Ornithological review of an area in the northern Serra do Mar, southeastern Brazil Schunck *et al.*

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Banar	aal Ecol	ogical S	ation (Field	d trip)	Bananal region (historical and current data)				H	ananal region	(Field trip)			
			1	2 3	4	5 6	2		А	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Podicipediformes																	
Podicipedidae (2)																	
Tachybaptus dominicus	>	AA,FL						X,P+,R+	8,9								
Podilymbus podiceps	Ρ	AA,FL						X,P+,R+	8,9,10								
Suliformes																	
Phalacrocoracidae (1)																	
Nannopterum brasilianus	Ρ							P_+	8,9,10	6							
Anhingidae (1)																	
Anhinga anhinga								X,P+									
Pelecaniformes																	
Ardeidae (6)																	
Nycticorax nycticorax	Ь	AA,FL						\mathbf{P}_{+}	9,10								
Butorides striata	>	AA,FL						\mathbf{P}_{+}	8								
Bubulcus ibis	>	AA		S				\mathbf{P}_{+}		6,13		9	4,5				
Ardea alba	Ъ	AA,FL						\mathbf{P}_{+}	8,9,10	13			7			8	
Syrigma sibilatrix	Р	AA		5				\mathbf{P}_{+}		6,13			4,7,12	12		4,7,8	6
Pilherodius pileatus								X,P+		13							
Cathartiformes																	
Cathartidae (4)																	
Cathartes aura	>	AA	×	1	×			X,P+	11	6,13	6,13	13	5,8,9,12	4,5,8-12			6
Cathartes burrovianus	>	AA						\mathbf{P}_{+}		13	13		4,8,11,12				
Congyps atratus	>	AA	×	9 X	X	×		X,P+	8,9,11	1-3,6,13	13	6,1	4,5,9-12	1,3-5,7-12		5,7,9	
Sarcoramphus papa [#]	Ъ	AA		×													
Accipitriformes																	
Accipitridae (18)																	
Leptodon cayanensis	>	MĘAA	×					Х								8	
Chondrohierax uncinatus														ŝ			
Elanoides forficatus	Г	MĘAA															
Elanus leucurus								×									

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia 26(1): 2018

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Ban	anal Ec	ologica	l Statio	n (Field	trip)	Bananal region (historical and current data)				B	manal region	(Field trip)			
			1	2	3	4	5 6	7		¥	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Harpagus diodon	P,C	MF	×						P_+						1,9,10,12			
Accipiter superciliosus	>	MF	×												6		6	6
Accipiter striatus	^	MF							$1, 2, P_{+}$						1, 4, 5		5	
Ictinia plumbea									Х						7			
Geranospiza caerulexens	>	MF							3						1		5,8	
Heterospizias meridionalis	Ρ	AA							X,P_+		9			7	1-3,8,10-12		5,7,8	8,11
Rupornis magnirostris	Ρ	MF,AA	×	×	3	×	×		X,P_+	10	6,13	13		4,7,8,10	1-5,7,8,10-12	4	5,7,8	5,7,8,11
Parabuteo leucorrhous	>	MF													6			
Geranoaetus albicaudatus	V,A	AA	×						X,P+				9					
$Pseudastur \ polionotus^{{ m end}\ \#}$	Ъ	AA			×				5,P+						6			
Buteo brachyurus	>	AA	×						Х				9					
Buteo albonotatus	>	AA							P_+		9							
Spizaetus tyrannus [#]	>	MF	×	×	-	×			X,P+						1-4,8	4	7,8,9	
Spizaetus melanoleucus [#]	>	MF					×		P_+									
Gruiformes																		
Rallidae (6)																		
Aramides savacura nd	Ъ	FL	×	×	\$	×	×	×	X,P_+	8	13		9		1,3-5,7-12		4,8,9	7,8,9
Laterallus melanophaius	^	FL							R+									5,11
Laterallus leucopyrrhus	^	FL							R+									2
Mustelirallus albicollis	L	Η							Х		13							
Pardirallus nigricans	>	FL							X,P+		1				10		4	
Gallimula galeata	Ρ	FL							X, P_+, R_+	8,9,10	2							
Charadriiformes																		
Charadriidae (1)																		
Vanellus chilensis	V,A	AA,FL	×	×	2	×	×	×	X,P_+	8,9,10	6,13	6,13	9	4,7,9,10	5,9-12		4,5,7-9	9,11
Recurvirostridae (1)																		
Himantopus melanurus									Х									
Jacanidae (1)																		
Lacana iacana									×									

Ornithological review of an area in the northern Serra do Mar, southeastern Brazil Schunck *et al.*

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia 26(1): 2018

29

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Bai	nanal F	cologi	cal Sta	tion (F	ield trip		bananal region historical and current data)				н	ananal region	(Field trip)			
			-	2	3	4	5	9	7		Α	B1	B2	B3	B4	El	E2	E3	E4
Columbiformes																			
Columbidae (9)																			
Columbina talpacoti	Ъ	AA	×	×						2,P+	×	2,3,6,13	6,11,13	9	1, 3-5, 7- 9, 11, 12			5,7,8	
Claravis pretiosa																	4		
Columba livia	>	AA								X,P+	8	6,13			4,5,7-12				
Patagioenas picazuro	$^{>}$	MF,AA	×	Х	2					X,P_+	9,10	6,13	6,13	6,1	4,7-10,12	12		5,7-9	
Patagioenas cayennensis	V,A	MF	×							Х		9		9					6
Patagioenas plumbea	R	MF	×		3	Х	×	×	×	2,P+,R+	8,10					1-3,5,7,8,10-12		5,7,8	5,7,8
Leptotila verreauxi	A	MF	×	X						X,R+	8,11	2,6,13	13	9	8	7,10,12		7,8	8
Leptotila rufaxilla	R,P	MF	×	Х	2					X,P_+									
Geotrygon montana	P,C	MF	×	Х	1					1						4,5,8-10,12	4	8	
Cuculiformes																			
Cuculidae (5)																			
Piaya cayana	V,A	MF	×	×	1	×	×	×		$1,P_{+}$		2,6,13	11,1	9	4	1-5,7-12	4	8,9	6
Coccyzus melacoryphus										\mathbf{P}_{+}									
Crotophaga ani	V,A	AA	×	×	S					$1,P_{+}$		2,3,6,13	6,13	6,1	1,4,7- 9,11,12			∞	
Guira guira	V,A	AA	×	×						X,P+	œ	2,6,11	6,11	9	4,7				
Tapera naevia	A	MF	×							Х		1,6	9		12	1			
Strigiformes																			
Tytonidae (1)																			
Tyto furcata	>	AA	×																
Strigidae (6)																			
Megascops choliba	R,C	MF	×	×	2	×										3,4,8,11,12		4	
Pulsatrix koeniswaldiana ^{end}	A	MF	Х		1					6,R+						1,7,12		4,5	
Strix hylophild ^{end}	R,C	MF	×	×	1	×				P_{+},R_{+}						8,11,12		4	Ś
Glaucidium minutissimum ^{end}	А	MF								5								5	
Athene cunicularia	>	AA	×							Х					1				
Asio stygius	А	MF														10			

Ornithological review of an area in the northern Serra do Mar, southeastern Brazil Schunck *et al.*

30
Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Ban	anal Ec	ologica	ıl Static	on (Field	d trip)	Bananal region (historical and current data)				е В	ananal region	(Field trip)			
			-	2	3	4	5 6	2		Α	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Nyctibiiformes																		
Nyctibiidae (1)																		
Nyctibius griseus	U	MF	×			×			P_{+},R_{+}		6				3,7,12	4		
Caprimulgiformes																		
Caprimulgidae (5)																		
Lurocalis semitorquatus	U	MF	×		1	×			X,R+		6				3,4,7,8,10,12	4	4,7	
Nyctidromus albicollis	V,A	AA,NF	×		1				Х		6		9		9,11,12	4	8	
Hydropsalis longirostris	>	AA,NF													1			
Hydropsalis torquata	>	AA,NF	×														2	6
Hydropsalis forcipata nd	>	AA,NF	×												4,11			
Apodiformes																		
Apodidae (5)																		
Cypseloides fumigatus	>	MĘAA							х	6					1,2,8,12			
Streptoprocne zonaris	V,A	MF,AA	×		IJ	×	×	X	X,P+		6,13	9	9	4,7,11	1-5,9-12		4,5,8	
Streptoprocne biscutata	>	MF,AA													1			
Chaetura cineveiventris	V,A	MF,AA	×		IJ	×	×	3							2,3,7,8,10,11		4,5,8	
Chaetura meridionalis	C	MF,AA	×		s	×	×	3	Х	9,10	3,6,13	6,13	6,1	4,7-10			4	8
Trochilidae (16)																		
Ramphodon naevius ^{ad}	>	MF															6	
Phaethornis pretrei	>	AA							X,P+		1,3,6,13	6,11	6,1	3,4,7- 10,12				
$Phaethornis$ eurynom $e^{ m end}$	ŖС	MF	×	×	4	×	×		$2,5,P_{+},R_{+}$	11					1-5,7-12	4	5,7-9	
Eupetomena macroura	>	AA							X,P+		6,13	11,1	6,1	7,10				
Aphantochroa cirrochloris ^{and}	>												9					
Horisuga fusca ^{end}	>	MF,AA	×			×	×	×	\mathbf{P}_{+}	8	6,13		6,1		3,8,9,11,12	4	4,7-9	8,9,11
Colibri serrirostris	>	MF,AA	×						X,P+		3,6,13	6,13	6	4,5,7,8,10- 12				
Anthracothorax nigricollis	$^{>}$	MF,AA	×								6,13							
Stephanoxis lalandi «nd	R,P,C	MF	×	x	3	×	х		$1, 2, 5, P_+, R_+$	6					1-5,7-12	4	8	8

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia 26(1): 2018

31

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Ban	ıanal E	cologi	cal Sta	tion (F	ield trij	(d	Bananal region (historical and current data)				Ι	3ananal r	sgion (Field trip	(0			
			-	2		4	~	6	~		A	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI		E2	E3	E4
Chlorostilbon lucidus	>	AA								×		1,6,13	6,11,13	9	4,12	1-3,	11			8,11
Thalurania glaucopis ^{end}	P,C	MF	×	×	9	×	×		×	2,P+		13	13	6,1		1, 4, 5, 7	7-12	4	5,7-9	6
Leucochloria albicollis ^{end}	C	MF	×		4	×	×			2,P+	8,10					1-5,7.	-12	4	4,7,9	5,7- 9,11
Amazilia versicolor	Λ	MF,AA			1					2		13						4		
Amazilia lactea	>	AA								X, P_+		1,13	11,1	6,1						
Heliodoxa rubricaud $a^{ m md}$	R,P,C	MF	×	×	9	×	×	х		2,5,P+						1-5,7-	-12	4	4,5,7,9	9,11
Calliphlox amethystina	Λ	MF,AA			1					$2,P_{+}$				9	7	1,3,11	1,12			7
Trogoniformes																				
Trogonidae (3)																				
Trogon viridis										X,5										
Trogon surrucuna ^{end}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	10	×		X		1, 5, 6, P+, R+	10	9		9		1-3,5,7	7-12	4	5,7-9	8
Trogon rufus	R,C	MF	×	х	4	×	×			1, 2, 5, 6, P +						1,5,8,	,12		5,7,8	8
Coraciiformes																				
Alcedinidae (3)																				
Megaceryle torquata	>	AA,FL								X,P_+	8	13			7,9,1	2 8,10	0			
Chloroceryle amazona	>	AA,FL													7				7	
Chloroceryle americana	Ъ	AA,FL								P_+		13				.0				
Momotidae (1)																				
$Baryphtengus ruficapillus^{ m end}$	R	MF			2	×													2	
Galbuliformes																				
Galbulidae (1)																				
Jacamaralcyon tridactyla $^{ m end}{}^{\#}$										Х										
Bucconidae (2)																				
Nystalus chacuru	Υ	MF,AA			S					X,P+		9	11		4,9,1	2				
$Malacoptila\ striata^{ m end}$	>	MF		Х																
Piciformes																				
Ramphastidae (4)																				

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Ban	ianal E	Cologi	cal Sta	tion (Fi	eld trip	(Bananal region (historical and current data)				e e	ananal region	(Field trip)			
			1	2	3	4	5	9	~		Υ	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Ramphastos toco	>	AA								X,P+		13			5,7				
Ramphastos dicolorus ^{end}	V,A	MF	\times	×	\tilde{c}	×	×	×	×	1,P+						1-5,7-12	4	7,8,9	Ś
Selenidera maculirostris ^{and}	R	MF			1														
$Pteroglossus \ bailloni^{\mathrm{end}\ \#}$	>	MF								Х						1			
Picidae (11)																			
Picumnus cirratus	V,A	MF			1					$1, 2, P_{+}$		6,13	6,13	9	3,4,7	8,10-12		5,7,9	5,8
Melanerpes candidus	>	AA			s					X, P_+		9	13	9					
Veniliornis maculifrons ^{ad}	>									Х,Р+		6,13	13	9					
Veniliornis spilogaster ^{end}	R	MF	×		6		×			$1,2,5,P_{+}$						1-3,5,8,9,11,12		7,9	8
Piculus flavigula										1									
Piculus aurulentus ^{end}	P,C	MF	×	×	1	×				2,6,P+						1-3,5,7-9,11,12	4	4,5	
Colaptes melanochloros	V,A	MF	×							X,P_+	8	9	9	9	7, 8, 10	1, 3, 10			
Colaptes campestris	V,A	AA,NF	×	×	s					X,P_+	9,10	2,6,13	6,13	9	1,457,11,12	1-3,7,8,10		4,5,7-9	5,8,9
Celeus flavescens	V	MF	×																
Dryocopus lineatus	V	MF	×		-					2,P+		13		9	7			4,5,8,9	11
Campephilus robustus ^{end}	A	MF	×							2,5,6,P+,R+		13				5,7,8,11,12		7	
Cariamiformes																			
Cariamidae (1)																			
Cariama cristata	Р	AA			×					Х				9					
Falconiformes																			
Falconidae (8)																			
Caracara plancus	Ч	AA	×	×	1	×		×	Х	X,P+	6	1,6,13	6,13	9	5,11	1,2,4,5,7,8,10- 12		4,5,8,9	9,11
Milvago chimachima	Ъ	AA	×	×	2	×				X,P+	8,10,11	2,6,13	6,13	9	4,5,7,10- 12	1,3,4,7-12		5,7-9	5,8
Herpetotheres cachinnans	Υ	MEAA	×							X,P+		9			Ś				
Micrastur ruficollis	R,P,C	MF	×		4	×				X,6,P+	9,10					1, 3, 4, 8, 11, 12	4	4,5,8	5,7,9
Micrastur semitorquatus	Ρ	MF			Х					P+,R+						7		8	
Falco sparverius	Λ	AA								X,P+		6,13			7,9				

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Ban	ianal E	cologi	cal Stat	ion (Fi	eld trip	н) (bananal region historical and current data)				ä	manal region (Field trip)			
			-	2	3	4	5	9	2		A	B1	B2	B3	B4	El	E2	E3	E4
Falco rufigularis	Λ	AA														4			
Falco femoralis	>	AA	×							X,P_+		9				3			
Psittaciformes																			
Psittacidae (9)																			
Primolius maracana [#]	>	AA			S					X,P+		13	6,13	9	7				
Psittacara leucophthalmus	V,A	AA	×	×	14			0	×	X,P+	ø	2,6,13	6,11,13	9	1,3-5,7- 12	12			
Pyrrbuna frontalis $^{ m end}$	P,C	MF	×	х	9	Х	X	×		2,P+	8,10,11					1-5,7-12	4	4,7-9	7,8,9
Forpus xanthopterygius	Α	MF	×		4					X,P+		1, 6, 13	11,1	6,1	4,5,7-12				
Brotogeris tiric $a^{ m nd}$	R	MF	×	×	4	×		×		2,5		13				1-5,7-12	4	5,7-9	8
Touit melanonotus ${}^{\mathrm{end}*\#}$	V,A	MF	×							3,R+						1,11			
$Pionopsitta\ pileata^{ m ad}$	R,V,A	MF	×		4					1,R+						1-5,7-12	4	4,5,9	×
Pionus maximiliani	R,P	MF	×	×	9	×	×	~	×	X,P+		1,6,13	13	9	4,7,8	1-5,7-12	4	4,8,9	8,9
Amazona vinacea ^{end}	А															5		7	
Passeriformes																			
Thamnophilidae (19)																			
Tevenuva maculata ^{end}	А	MF		×														4,5,7,8,9	
Rhopias gularis ^{end}	R,C	MF	×	×	9	х	×	×		1	6					4,5,7-12	4	5,7-9	8,9
Dysithamnus mentalis	R,P,C	MF	×	х	4	Х	X			2		6,13		9		2,4,7,12		4,5,7-9	
$Dysithamnus xanthopterus^{ m end}$	R,P,C	MF	×	×	4		×	X		1,2,5,6,P+R+						1,2,4,5,8-12	4	7,8,9	
Herpsilochmus rufimarginatus	Α													9					
Thamnophilus ruficapillus	Ъ	MF			S				×	X,P+		13			ŝ			4	5,7,9,11
Thamnophilus caerulescens	R,P,C	MF	×	×	4	×	×	11	×	$1, 2, P_{+}$	9,10	6,13	11	9		1-5,7-12	4,11	4,5,7-9	5,7-9
Hypoedaleus guttatus ^{end}	А																	5,7	
Batara cinerea	A,R	MF	×		4		×			1,6						1-5,8-12			
Mackenziaena leachii ^{zad}	Я	MF	×		Ś					$1,2,6,P_{+}$						1-5,7,8,10-12	4	4,5,8	5,7- 9,11
Mackenziaena severa ^{end}	А	MF	×				×			Х			11			ŝ		6	

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia 26(1): 2018

34

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Bai	nanal E	Cologi	cal Stat	ion (F	ield tri	(d	Bananal region (historical and current data)				Baı	nanal region (F	ield trip)			
			-	2	3	4	5	و	7		V	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Myrmoderus cf. loricatus ^{end}	R	MF								5						-			
Myrmoderus squamosus ^{end}	C	MF	×																
Pyrigtena leucoptera ^{end}	ВС	MF	×	×	9	×	X	×		1	10			6		1,3-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	5,7- 9,11
$Drymophila$ ferrugine $a^{ m and}$	V,A	MF								X,P+		2,6,13							
$Drymophila\ rubricollis^{ m end}$	C	MF			5	×	×		×	X,5,6,P+,R+						5,7,8,10-12	4	4,5,7-9	8
$Drymophila~genet^{ m end}$	R,P	MF			2		×	×		1,2,5,6,P+,R+						1-5,7-12	4		
$Drymophila\ ochropyga^{ m cud}$	V	MF		×						X,R+						10,12		Ń	
Drymophila malura ^{end}	Y	MF			1					X, P_+, R_+						10		Ń	
Conopophagidae (1)																			
Conopophaga lineata ^{end}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	×	×	×	×		1,2,5,6,P+	6			9	8,1	1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7,9	5,8,9,11
Grallariidae (2)																			
Grallaria varia	R,C	MF	×		4	×		×		1,6,R+					1	1,3-5,7,8,10,12			
Hylopezus nattererë nd	R,C	MF	\times		3			×		1,6						1-5,7-12	4	×	5,7,8
Rhinocryptidae (4)																			
Merulaxis ater ^{end}	R	MF		×	2			×		1,2,R+						1,4,7,8,10,12	4	~	8
Eleoscytalopus indigoticus ^{end}	R	MF		×						1								5,7	
Scytalopus speluncae nd	R	MF	\times		1					X,5,6,P+						1-3,5,12		Ś	
Psilorhamphus guttatue nd	V	MF					×			X,R+						12			
Formicariidae (2)																			
Chamaeza meruloides ^{end}	R	MF			\mathcal{C}											1			
$Chamaeza\ ruft cauda^{ m end}$	R,C	MF	\times	×	Ś	×	×	×		1,6,P+						1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	7,8
Scleruridae (1)																			
Sclerurus scansor ^{end}	R,C	MF	\times	×	3	×				1,2,P+,R+				9		1,3,9-12	4	4,5,7-9	
Dendrocolaptidae (9)																			
Dendrocincla turdina ^{end}	Υ	MF	×			×													
Sittasomus griseicapillus	R,P,C	MF	\times	×	10	×	×	×	×	1,2,P+,R+	10	1		9		1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	5,8,11

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Bar	anal F	3cologi	ical Sta	ttion (]	Field tr	tip)	Bananal region (historical and current data)				B	ananal region	(Field trip)			
			-	7	e e	4	~	0	~		A	B1	B2	B3	B4	E1	E2	E3	E4
$Xiphorbynchus fuscus^{ m end}$	R,P,C	MF	×	×	7	×	×	×		1, 2, P +		9		9		2,4,5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	8
Campylorhamphus falcularius ^{end}	Р,С	MF	×	×						1,2,P+,R+		6,13		9		12		8	
Lepidocolaptes angustirostris	Ъ	AA			\times					X,P+		6,13							
Lepidocolaptes squamatus ^{end}	>	MF								2,6,P+,R+		2,6,13				1,2,4,7,8,10-12	4	4,5,7	
Lepidocolaptes falcinellus ^{end}	V,A	MF	×		7														
Dendrocolaptes platyrostris	R	MF	×		-	×	×			1,2,P+,R+				9		1,3-5,7,9-12	4	4,7,8	
Xiphocolaptes albicollis	R,C	MF	×	×	4	×	×	×		1,2,6						1,3-5,8-12	4	4,5,8	6,7
Xenopidae (2)																			
Xenops minutus	Υ	MF		×															
Xenops rutilans	>	MF	×		1		×	×		1,P+		6,13			4	2,7-12	4	7,8,9	
Furnariidae (22)																			
Furnarius figulus	>	AA								X,P+	8,9	6,13		6,1	7,12				
Furnarius rufus	V,A	AA	×	×	S	×	×			X,P+	8,9,11	2,3,6,13	6,11,13	9	1,3,4,7- 9,11,12				Ś
Lochmias nematura	Ъ	MF	×		2			×	х	$1,P_{+}$	9,11	4			7,8,10	1-3,5,7-12	4	4,5,8,9	8,11
$Automolus$ leucophthalm us^{end}	Υ	MF	×							Х		9							
Anabazenops fuscus ^{end}	C	MF	×		\tilde{c}	×				Х		9		9		3,7,9			
Anabacerthia amawotis ^{end}	U	MF	×				×			1,2,5,P+,R+						7,12	4	6	
Anabacerthia lichtensteinž ^{ad}	>	MF					×									2,5		6	
Philydor atricapillus ^{end}	Λ	MF		×															
Philydor rufum	P,C	MF	×	×	8	×	×	×	×	$1,P_{+}$		6,13		9		1-5,7-12	4	5,7-9	7,8,11
Heliobletus contaminatus ^{end}	P,C	MF	×		12	×		X		1,2,5,P+,R+						2,4,5,7,9-12	4	7,9	8
Syndactyla rufosuperciliata	R,P,C	MF	×	×	10	×	×	X	Х	1,2,P+,R+						1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	5,7,8,11
Cichlocolaptes leucophrus ^{and}	R,C	MF	×	×	Э		×			1,2,5,6,P+,R+						1-5,7-12	4	4,7,9	
Leptasthenura setaria ^{cnd}	R,C	MF	×		7	×	×			X, P+, R+						4,5,7-12			6
Phacellodomus rufifrons	^	AA			S					P+		6,13	6,11,13	6,1	4,5,7-12	12			
$Phacellodomus$ erythrophthalmus $^{ m cnd}$	V,A	MF			S					X,P+,R+		1,2,6,13	11,1	9	5,7,12	1,9,12		4	5,8

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Ba	nanal]	Ecolog	ical Sta	tion (I	ield tri	(d	Bananal region (historical and current data)				ä	ananal regio	on (Field trip)			
			1	2	3	4	5	9	7		A	B1	B2	B3	B4	E1	E2	E3	E4
Anumbius annumbi	>	AA			s					X,P+,R+		6,13	11		3-5,7- 10,12				
Certhiaxis cinnamomeus	V,A	FL								X,P+	8	2,3,6,13	11,1	9	4,7,8				
Synallaxis ruficapilla ^{end}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	9		×	×	×	$1, 2, P_{+}$		13	13	9		1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	
Synallaxis cinerascens	A,C	MF			2	×	×			Х						10		7	
Synallaxis albescens												9	13		4,7,9				
Synallaxis spixi	ď	MF	×	×	2	×	×			1,2,P+,R+	8,9,10	1,3,6,13		9	1,3-5,7-10,12	1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7,8	5,7- 9,11
Cranioleuca pallida ^{end}	R	MF	×		4	×	×	×		1,2,5,P+,R+	10,11	6,13	13			1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	7,8,9
Pipridae (4)																			
N eopelma chrysolophu $m^{ m md}$	R,P,C	MF	×	×	\mathcal{C}	×				X,6,P+,R+	8					1,7,10,12		7,8,9	5,7
Manacus manacus	A									2		1							
Ilicura militaris ^{end}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	\mathcal{C}	×	×			1,P+						3-5,7,9-12	4	4,5,8,9	6
Chiroxiphia caudata ^{cud}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	18	Х	×	×	х	$1,2,P_{+}$	8,9,10,11	2,13	11,1	9		1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	5,8,9,11
Oxyruncidae (1)																			
Oxyruncus cristatus	R,C	MF	×		2	Х	×			2,P+						1,8,11,12	4		
Onychorhynchidae (2)																			
$Onycborbynchus swainson prod {\#}$	ŖС	MF		×						2,P+									
Myiobius atricaudus	ŖС	MF	×	×	1	×				2,P+						8,10-12		6	
Tityridae (6)																			
Schiffornis virescens ^{end}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	×		×			1,P+						1,2,4,5,7,9-12	4	4,5,7-9	7,11
Tipra cayana	>	MF																7	
Pachyramphus viridis	R,C	MF	×		9	Х				2,P+					4	1-5,7,8,10,12		8	
Pachyramphus castaneus	Υ	MF	×		\mathcal{C}	Х	×	×		X,5,P+		9				1-5,7-12	4	5,7-9	
Pachyramphus połychopterus	R,C	MF	×			×	×			X,P+,R+		1,6,13	13	9	4	1-4,7-12	4	4,7-9	4,8
Pachyramphus validus	R,C	MF	×		1	×	×		×	X,P+		9				3,4,7-12	4	6	4,8
Cotingidae (6)																			
Carpornis cucullata ^{end}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	16	×	×	×	×	1,2,5,6,P+,R+						1-5,7-9,11,12	4	4,5,7-9	5,7,8
Phihalura flavirostris	Р	MF						×		$1,P_{+}$						4,5,8,11,12		4	8

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Bar	nanal E	3cologi	ical Sta	ttion (I	Field tn	ip)	Bananal region (historical and current data)					Bananal regio	n (Field trip)			
			-	7	æ	4	~	و	7		Y	B1	B2	B3	B4	El	E2	E3	E4
Pyroderus scutatus ^{nd #}	Ъ	MF	×	×	10	×				X,P+,R+	8,10					4,5,7-12	4	5,7-9	8
$Lipaugus ater^{md}$	R,P	MF	×	×	8	×	×	×		1, 2, 6, P +						1-5,7-12	4		8
Lipaugus lanioides ^{end #}										9									
Procnias mudicollis ^{end #}	R,P,C	MF	×		14	×		×	×	X,P+,R+	8,10					1-5,7,8,10,12		4,5,7,8	5,7,8
Pipritidae (2)																			
Piprites chloris	R	MF		×															
$Piprites\ pileata^{{ m cod}\ \#}$	R	MF			2					X,6,P+,R+						4,8,9,11,12	4	6	
Platyrinchidae (1)																			
Platyrinchus mystaceus	R,P,C	MF	×	×	5	×		×		1, 2, 5, P +		9				1,4,5,7-9,11,12	4	4,5,7-9	
Rhynchocyclidae (13)																			
Mionectes rufiventris	P,C	MF	×	×	7	×		\times		1,2,P+				9		3,5,7-9,11,12		5,7-9	8
Leptopogon amaurocephalus	Р	MF	×	×	4	×	×			1,P+			11	9		5,7,8,10		5,7,8	8
Corythopis delalandi	Υ	MF												9					
Phylloscartes ventralis	R,P,C	MF	×	×	16	×	×	×		1,2,P+						1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	5,8,9
Phylloscartes difficilis ^{end}	V	MF		×						1,2,P+,R+						1,2,4,5,7-12	4		
Tolmomyias sulphurescens	R,C	MF	×	×	8	×	×	×		X,P+	8	1,6,13	11,1	9	4,7,9,12	1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	
Todirostrum poliocephalum ^{end}	Υ	MF			7		×	×	×	X,P+	6	9	11		3,7,10,12	1,4,5,7-12	4	4,5,7	6,7
Todirostrum cinereum	>	MF		×						X,P+	8	6,13	6,11,13	9	7,8,9,10				
Poecilotriccus plumbeiceps	R,P	MF	×	×	9		×	×	×	1,2,P+	10					1-4,7-12	4	4,5,7,8	5,7-9
Myiornis auricularis ^{end}	A,P	MF	×		с		×			2,P+				9		1-5,9,11,12	4	4,5	
$Hemitriccus diop_{s^{ m end}}$	V,A	MF		×										9					
Hemitriccus obsoletus ^{and}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	3	×	×	×		2,6,P+,R+						1-5,7,10-12	4	4,5,7-9	7,8
Hemitriccus nidipendulu $\mathfrak{s}^{\mathrm{nd}}$	A	AA		×						X,P+		9		9	10				
Tyrannidae (45)																			
Hirundinea ferruginea	^	AA			1		×			1,P+		13	11,1		3,12	1, 4, 5, 10, 12			
Tyranniscus burmeisteri	Α	MF	×				×	×		2,P+,R+						1,2,4,5,7-12	4	5,7-9	8
Camptostoma obsoletum	P,C	MF,AA	×	×	4	×	×			X,P+,R+	10	1, 6, 13		9		1,5,7,9-12		5,7,8	8,9,11

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Ba	nanal	Ecolog	ical Sta	tion (F	ïeld tri	(d)	Bananal region (historical and current data)					Bananal re	gion (Field trip)			
			-	5	æ	4	s	6	7		Α	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Elaenia flavogaster	Α	MF,AA	×	×	s					X,P+		6,13	6,13	6,1	1,4,7,1	0 2,5			
Elaenia chilensis	P,C	MF		×															
Elaenia parvirostris										Х									
Elaenia mesoleuca	P,C	MF	×			×	×		×	$1, P_{+}, R_{+}$	8					2-4,7-10,12	4	4,8	8
Elaenia obscura	РС	MF	×			×				P_{+},R_{+}						2,5,7-12			5,7-9
Myiopagis caniceps	А	MF	×							X									
Capsiempis flaveola	>									X, P_+		13							
Phyllomyias virescens ^{end}	>	MF			2	×				P_{+},R_{+}						1,5,7-12		5,7,8	
Phyllomyias fasciatus	R,C	MF	×		4	×	×			X,P+,R+	10	13				1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	7-9,11
Phyllomyias griseocapilla ^{end}	R	MF	×		1	×	×	×								2-5,7-12	4	4,5,8	8
Polystictus superciliaris										$4,P_{+}$									
Serpophaga nigricans	Ъ	MF,FL								2,P+	8,9	13			7				
Serpophaga subcristata	Ъ	MF	×	×	2		×		×	$2,P_{+}$	10	13	13		7	1,3,5,7,9-12		5	5,8,9
Attila phoenicurus	ŖС	MF	×			×	×		×	X,6,P+,R+	8					2-5,7,8,10-12	4	5,7,8	8,11
Attila rufus ^{end}	R,P,C	MF	×	×	12	×	×		×	$1, 2, P_{+}$	10	1,6				1-5,7-12		5,7-9	5,7-9
Legatus leucophaius	V	MF				×				х									
Myiarchus swainsoni	R,P,C	MF	×		1	×	×		×	X,P+,R+	10	1,6		9		2-5,7-12	4	4,7	7,8
Myiarchus ferox	U	MF,AA				×				1	8	1, 6, 13	11,1	6,1	8	4			
Sirystes sibilator	V	MF	×							х									
Pitangus sulphuratus	R	MF	×	×	4	×	×	×	×	$2,P_{+}$	8,9,10,11	2,6,13	6,11,13	9	3,4,7-1	2 1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	5,8,9,11
Machetornis rixosa	Ъ	AA	×		S			×		Х,Р+	6	2,6,13	6,11,13	9	3-5,7 10,12	1-3,8,10-12		5,7,8	
Myiodynastes maculatus	А	MF	×		7	×	×		×	$1,P_{+}$	10,11	1,2,6	9	9	7,11,1	2 2-4,7,8,10-12		7,8	7,8,11
Megarynchus pitangua	Ь	MF,AA	×	×	7		×	×		х		2,6,13		9	4,7,8,1	0 2,3,5,8-12	4	4,8	7-9,11
Myiozetetes similis	V,A	MF,AA	×	×	7	×			×	X,P+	8,9	6,13	11,1	13	4,5,7-1	2 1,4,7-12	4	4	9,11
Tyrannus melancholicus	V,A,C	MF,AA	×		2	×	×		×	Х,Р+	8,9,10,11	2,6,13	6,11,13	9	1,3-5,7 10,12	- 1-4,7-12	4	4,7-9	7-9,11
Tyrannus savana	Ь	AA,NF	×		s	×				X,P+	8,10	2,3,6	9	9	5,7,10,	1			
Empidonomus varius	$^{\wedge}$	MF	×			×			X	X,P+,R+	×	1, 6, 13	13	9	3,7,8,1	3,8,10-12			7,8,11
Colonia colonus	Λ	MF	×							$1, 2, P_{+}$		6,13	13	9		1			

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Bar	ianal E	cologic	al Stat	ion (Fi	eld trip	•	Bananal region (historical and current data)				В	ananal region	(Field trip)			
			-	2	3	4	5	9	7		А	B1	B2	B3	B4	El	E2	E3	E4
Myiophobus fasciatus	C	MF	×		1	×	×		×	X,P+,R+	8,11	6,13	11,1	6	7	1,3,5,7-12		4,5,7,9	5,7- 9,11
Fluvicola nengeta	Р	AA	×							X,P_+	8,9,10	6,13	6,13	6,1	5,7,8,12	2,10,11		5,8,9	
Arundinicola leucocephala	$^{\wedge}$	AA	×							Х		1,2,3							
Gubernetes yetapa	>	AA,FL								Х		2		9					
Cnemotriccus fuscatus	V,A	MF								X,P+,R+				9					
Lathrotriccus euleri	R	MF	×		3					$1,R_{+}$		9	13	6,1		1,2,5,7,9-12		7,8,9	8
Contopus cinereus	Ъ	MF						Х		$1, 2, P_{+}$						5,7-11		7	
Knipolegus cyanirostris	Ъ	MF	×		1			Х		$1, 2, P_{+}$						1-5,7-12		7	6
Knipolegus lophotes	Ъ	АА			s					X,P+		2,3		9	1,3-5,7,10,12				
Knipolegus nigertimus ^{end}	Ъ	AA,AL	×							$1,P_{+}$						ŝ			6
Satrapa icterophrys	Λ	AA,AL	×							1	8	9						7	
Xolmis cinereus	^	AA												9					×
Xolmis velatus	>	AA								X,P_+		2	13		3,12	1			
$Muscipipra$ vetul $a^{ m od}$	C	MF	×		1					$1,2,P_{+}$						1,7-10		7,8,9	\$
Vireonidae (3)																			
Cyclarhis gujanensis	R	MF,AA	×	×	10	×	×	×	×	1,2,5,P+	9,10	1, 2, 6, 13	6,11,13	6,1	1,7,	1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	5,7- 9,11
Hylophilus poicilotis ^{end}	R,C	MF	×	×	×	×	×			2,P+						1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	8
Vireo chivi	R,C	MF,AA	×	×	4	×	×		×	X,P_+	8,10	1,6		9	3,7,10,12	1-4,7-12	4	4,7,8	8
Corvidae (1)																			
Cyanocorax cristatellus	>	AA			S					X,P+	9,10	6,13	13		5,7,9				
Hirundinidae (6)																			
Pygochelidon cyanoleuca	R,P,C	AA	×	×	12	×	×	×	×	$2,P_{+}$	8,10	1, 3, 6, 13	6,11,13	6,1	3-5,7-12	1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7,8	8,9
Alopochelidon fucata										×									
Stelgidopteryx ruficollis	>	AA	×		s	Х				1,P+		2,6,13	6,13	6,1	1, 3-5, 7-10, 12	2,5,7,		5,7	
Progne tapera	>	AA								х	10	9	9		Ś				œ
Progne chalybea	>	AA	×	×	S					\mathbf{P}_+		2,3,6	6,11	9	7,8,10,12				
Tachycineta leucorrhoa	>	AA								×		9	9	9					

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Ba	nanal	Ecolog	țical St	ttion (I	Jield tri	ip)	Bananal region (historical and current data)					Bananal regi	on (Field trip)			
			-	3	3	4	5	9	7		Υ	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Troglodytidae (2)																			
Troglodytes musculus	Ъ	MĘAA	×	×	2	×		×	×	2,P+	8,9,10	6,13	6,11,13	6,1	1,4,5,7- 12	1-3,5,7-12		5,7,8	5,7,8
Cantorchilus longirostris	А	MF								X,P_+		1,2,6,13	13	9					
Donacobiidae (1)																			
Donacobius atricapilla										х									
Turdidae (6)																			
Turdus flavipes	R,P,C	MF	×	×	4	×	×		×	1,2,P+,R+	8,10					1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	7,8,11
Turdus leucomelas	C	MĘAA	×	×		×				X,P+		1,6,13	6,11,13	9	4,7,10,12	1,4,5,7,11		6	
Turdus rufiventris	R,P,C	MF,AA	×	×	∞	×	×	×	×	2,P+,R+	8,9,10,11	2,6,13	6,11,13	13	3-5,7,10,12	1-5,7-12		4,5,7-9	5,7- 9,11
Turdus amaurochalinus	R,P	MF,AA	×	×	3	Х		×		X,P_+	8	1,6,13	13	9	с	1,5,7-12		5,7	5,7,11
Turdus subalaris										\mathbf{P}_{+}									
Turdus albicollis	R,P,C	MF	×	Х	4	×	X	×	×	X,P_+		1, 6,	13	9		1-3,5,7-12	4	4,5,7,8	×
Mimidae (1)																			
Mimus saturninus	>	AA,NF	×		S					$1, 2, P_{+}$	10,11	2,6,13	13	6,1	1,3-5,7- 9,11,12			~	
Motacillidae (1)																			
Anthus hellmayri										Х									
Passerellidae (3)																			
Zonotrichia capensis	ŖС	AA,NF	\times	×	14	×		×	×	1,2,P+	8,9,10,11	2,3,6,13	13	6	1,3,5,7- 9,12	1-3,5,7-12		5,7-9	5,7- 9,11
Ammodramus humeralis	>	AA								×		3,6	11	9	3,7,12				
Arremon semitorquatus ^{end}	Υ	MF		×								1,6,13			10				
Parulidae (4)																			
Setophaga pitiayumi	V,A	MF	×	×						X,P_+		6,13	9		10	5			
Geothlypis aequinoctialis	V,A	AA,FL	×	×	S				×	1,2,P+,R+	9,10,11	2,6,13	11,1	9	1, 7,	1-3,10		4,7	5,8,9,11
Basilenterus culicivorus	R,P,C	MF	×	×	22	×	×	×		$1, 2, P_{+}$	8,9,10,11	6,13	11,1	9	7,8	1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	7-9,11
Myiothlypis leucoblephara nd	R,P,C	MF	×	×	14	×	×	×		1,2,P+	8,9,10,11					1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	5,7- 9,11
Icteridae (7)																			
Psarocolius decumanus	R	AA	×		3	×	×		×		8,9	6,13				5,7,9-12		7	7

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Bar	nanal l	Ecolog	ical Sta	tion (]	Field tr	ip)	Bananal region (historical and current data)				Η	ananal region	(Field trip)			
			1	2	3	4	5	6	7		Α	B1	B 2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Cacicus chrysopterus	R,P,C	MF	×	×	10	×	×	×		1,2,5,P+	6					1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7,9	5,8,9,11
Gnorimopsar chopi	>	AA			S					X,P_+		6,13	9	9	4,57,9,11,12	2			
Chrysomus ruficapillus	>	AA,FL	×							P_+		2,6,13	6,13	6,1	4,7,12				
Molothrus rufoaxillaris										Х									
Molothrus oryzivorus	Ρ	AA			×					Х									
Molothrus bonariensis	Ρ	AA,NF	×		S	×				2,P+	8	2,6	9	9	3,7,8,10,12	1, 3, 5, 7, 8, 10, 12		5,8	
Mitrospingidae (1)																			
Orthogonys chloricterus ^{end}	R,P	MF			8					1,2	6					2,9-11			
Thraupidae (42)																			
Orchesticus a beillet ^{and}	R	MF		×						2,5,R+						5,7-12	4		
Pipraeidea melanonota	P,C	MF,AA	×	×	$\tilde{\omega}$	×		×		1,2,P+,R+						2,5,7-12		5,7-9	Ś
Stephanophorus diadematus	Ρ	MF	×				×	×		1,2,P+,R+	8					1-5,7-12	4	4,5,7-9	8,9,11
Cissopis leverianus	>	MF	×			×				X,R+						12		4	2
Schistochlamys ruficapillus	>	NF,AA								X,P+		2,6,13	13		3,7	3,9,12		7	5,8
Paroaria dominicana +	>	AA								P_+									8
Tangara cyanoventris ^{end}	>	MF								X,P+		1,13	13						
Tangara desmaresti ^{end}	R	MF	×	×	20	×	×	×		1, 2, P +	9,10					1-5,7-12	4	4,7-9	8
Tangara sayaca	R,C	MF,AA	×	×	10	×	×	×	х	X,P+	8,10	1,2,6,13	6,11,13	6,1	3-5,7-12	1-5,7-12		4,5,7,9	5,7,8
Tangara cyanoptera ^{cnd}	R,C	MF	×	×	9	×				1, 2, 6, P+, R+						1,2,5,7-12	4	4,7-9	×
Tangara palmarum	V,A	MF,AA	×	×	7	×				1,P+		6,13	9		4,5,7,8,12	12		5	
Tangara ornata ^{end}	Ъ	MF	×		4	×	\times	×	×	1, 2, 5, P +	10					1-5,7-12	4	4,7,8	5,8
Tangara cayana	Ъ	MF	×	×	2					X,P_+	10	6,13	11	6,1	7,8,10	2,3,5,7-12		5,7	2
Nemosia pileata	>	MF,AA										6,13							
Conirostrum speciosum	>	MF								Х		6,13	13	9					
Sicalis citrina										Х									
Sicalis flaveola	Ъ	AA			2	×	×	×	×	$1,2,P_{+}$	8,11	2,6,13	6,13	6,1	3,4,7-12	4,5,8-12		5,7-9	×
Haplospiza unicolor ^{end}	P,C	MF	×	×	1	×	\times			1,6,P+						2-4,7-12		4,8,9	11
$Hemithmup is ruficapilla^{ m end}$	N	MF	×		1														

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Bar	nanal F	cologi	cal Sta	tion (Fi	eld trij	(4)	Bananal region (historical and current data)					ananal region	(Field trip)			
			-	2	3	4	5	9	7		V	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Volatinia jacarina	>	AA,NF	×							X,P+	∞	2,3,6,13	6,13	6,1	3,4,7-12	2			
Trichothraupis melanops	R,P,C	MF	×	×	9	×	×	×	x	1,2,P+		6	13	6		1, 2, 4, 5, 7- 9,11,12	4	4,5,7-9	5,7
Coryphospingus pileatus	>	AA								7		2,6			4				
Tachyphonus coronatus ^{end}	P,C	MF	×	×		×	×			1,2, P+,R+	8,9,10	6,13		9	3,7,8,10,12	1,3-5,7,12	4	4,5,7,8	7,8,11
Ramphocelus bresilius ^{end}	>	AA								X,P+		1,6,13	11	9	7,8,10,12				
Tersina viridis	>	MF					×		×	X,P_+	8	1, 6, 13			4,5,7,8,12	8,11,12			
Dacnis cayana	>	MF,AA	×	×		×	×			×		6,13	11,1		×	2,7,9,11,12			2
Coereba flaveola	V,A	MF,AA	×	×	-	×				2,P+		2,6,13	6,11,13	6,1	3-5,7- 10,12	7,8,9,10,11,12			
Tiaris fuliginosus	Α									5		13							
Sporophila lineola	>	AA,NF	×							\mathbf{P}_+	11	13	11		4,8,9,11,12				
Sporophila frontalis ^{end}	Α	MF														2			
Sporophila nigricollis	>	AA,NF	×			×				Х									
Sporophila caerulescens	U	AA,NF	×			×	×		×	1,2,P+	8,11	2,3,6,13	13	13	3,4,7- 9,11,12	2-4,8-12		4,7,8	7,8,11
Sporophila leucoptera	V,A	AA								X,P+		2,13	13	13	4,12				
Sporophila angolensis [#]	С	AA,NF				X				1, 2, P+		6,13			4	10			
Emberizoides herbicola	>	AA,NF								X,P+,R+		9	13		3,4,7				
Saltator similis	Ъ	MF	×	Х	8	X	×		Х	1, 2, P+	8,10	1,2,6		9		3-5,7-12	4	4,5,7,9	5,7,8
Saltator maxillosus ^{end}	R	MF								$1, P_{+}, R_{+}$						1-5,7,12	4		
Saltator fuliginosus ^{and}	R	MF	×		2					2		2,13				1-4,10,12			
Poospiza thoracica ^{end}	>	MF								$1, P_{+}$						1,2			
Microspingus lateralis	R,P,C	MF	×	×	9					1,2,6,P+,R+	8					1-5,7-12		2	5,8,11
Thlypopsis sordida	>	MF								$2,P_{+}$		6,13		9	3,5,7,9,12				
Pyrrhocoma rufice $ps^{ m od}$	>	MF								Х								5,7,8	
Cardinalidae (3)																			
Piranga flava	>	MF								\mathbf{P}_{+}									
Habia rubica	V,A	MF	×			×				Х				9				8	

Taxa	Evidence	Habitat	Banan	ial Ecold	ogical S	tation (Field trip)	Bananal region (historical and current data)				Bar	ıanal region (F	ield trip)			
			1 2	2 3	4	2	6 7		Y	B1	B2	B3	B4	EI	E2	E3	E4
Cyanoloxia brissonii [#]	R	MEAA		1		×		Х		2			7,9,10				6
Fringillidae (5)																	
Spinus magellanicus	>	AA,NF	×		×			$1, 2, P_+, R_+$		9		2	8,12	1-4,7,9-12		Ś	Π
Euphonia chlorotica	Υ	MF	×					X,P+		2,6,13	13	13		4			
Euphonia violacea								X,R+									
Euphonia cyanocephala	>	MF						×									
Euphonia pectoralis ^{end}	Υ	MF	×	2	Х	×		$1, P_+, R_+$						1,37,9-12		5,7,9	6
Estrildidae (1)																	
Estrilda astrild	>	AA						×		9			9,11				
Passeridae (1)																	
Passer domesticus	V	AA						X,P+		6	6	9	4,5,7-12				

Leukocyte profiles and body condition of free-living Burrowing Owls (*Athene cunicularia*) from rural and urban areas in the Argentinean Pampas

Matilde Cavalli^{1,3}, Alejandro V. Baladrón¹, Juan P. Isacch¹, Verónica D'Amico² & María S. Bó¹

¹ Grupo Vertebrados, Instituto de Investigaciones Marinas y Costeras (IIMyC), CONICET - Universidad Nacional de Mar del Plata, Funes 3350, Mar del Plata (B7602AYJ), Buenos Aires, Argentina.

² Centro Nacional Patagónico (CONICET), Boulevard Brown 2915, Puerto Madryn (U9120ACF), Chubut, Argentina.

³ Corresponding author: mcavalli@mdp.edu.ar

Received on 27 October 2017. Accepted on 06 March 2018.

ABSTRACT: Animals living in urban areas are exposed to novel and potentially stressful human disturbances. In response to the increased number of stressors in these habitats, they may manifest changes in their immune system, body condition and physiology. Many bird species are negatively impacted by urbanization, whilst other species thrive in urban areas. The capacity to adjust the physiological responses to the stressors associated with urban areas may play a key role in explaining the success of some bird species in these environments. In this study, we compared indicators of physiological stress response and body condition in free-living Burrowing Owls (*Athene cunicularia*) inhabiting urban and rural areas. We calculated a scaled index of body condition, and assessed leukocyte profiles and the heterophil/lymphocyte ratios of chicks and adults. We found no significant differences in these parameters between individuals from rural and urban areas. Chicks showed higher relative leukocyte counts than adults, which may be associated with ontogenetic development and immune system activation processes.

KEY-WORDS: heterophil, leukocyte, lymphocyte, stress, urbanization.

INTRODUCTION

With natural areas rapidly decreasing as human-altered habitats increase and human populations grow, bird species are finding themselves living ever closer to human habitats (Marzluff 2001). Some species have managed to co-exist with humans in urban areas while others failed to thrive in these new environments. Considering the rapid environmental change that occurs during urbanization, it may be predicted that only individuals capable of coping with challenges of urban life would succeed (Shanahan et al. 2014). Species living in urban habitats are exposed to many novel and potentially stressful anthropogenic disturbances, such as permanent presence of humans, higher densities of non-native predators (e.g., cats and dogs), noise and light pollution as well as traffic (Sol et al. 2013). Such urban challenges are predicted to trigger physiological and behavioural reactions that ultimately increase the levels of stress responses (Partecke et al. 2006, Bonier et al. 2007, Bonier 2012, Johnstone et al. 2012). However, it is to be expected that if individuals are able to cope with different levels of urban disturbance, then living in urban contexts should not be perceived as more stressful than living in rural ones since a process involved in maintaining stability may occur (Wada 2015).

Two classes of hormones are involved in the modulation of physiological responses to stressors in vertebrates: catecholamines and glucocorticoids. The first involve the release of noradrenaline and adrenaline from the sympathetic nervous system and the adrenal medulla within seconds after detection of stressors, resulting in rapid physiological responses (Wada 2015). On the other hand, glucocorticoids are secreted through the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and are mainly involved in recovery from stressors or preparing from future stressors. Glucocorticoids are secreted from adrenal cortex within minutes after detecting a stressor and acts redirecting energy and behavior to essential adjustments (Wada 2015). The release of glucocorticoid hormones after a stressor is one of the mechanisms involved in physiological coping mechanisms to long-term stress and, in vertebrates, is one of the mechanisms that ensure survival under adverse environmental conditions (Bonier 2012). However, prolonged or frequent stress responses can result in an individual entering a disease-like state of chronic stress leading to reduced fecundity and reduced chances of survival (Siegel 1980, Wingfield & Sapolsky 2003).

Measuring chronic physiological stress in freeliving vertebrates can be problematic since reliable measurements of baseline levels of glucocorticoids are often difficult to obtain in the field because their levels rise immediately after capture (Davis 2005, Romero & Reed 2005). The use of haematological parameters such as relative leukocyte (or white blood cell) counts made from blood smears represents an alternative method for measuring stress in birds since their values are related to levels of glucocorticoids hormones such as corticosterone, the avian stress hormone (Davis et al. 2008). A prolonged increase of corticosterone levels in birds causes changes in the relative numbers of various specific leukocyte types present within the immune system. For example, in response to corticosterone, circulating lymphocytes adhere to the endothelial cells and subsequently a significant reduction in their circulating numbers is evidenced (Davis et al. 2008). Also, corticosterone stimulates an influx of heterophils (the avian equivalent of the mammalian neutrophils) into the blood from the bone marrow and attenuates the egress of heterophils from the blood to other compartments (see Davis et al. 2008).

Given the effect of stress hormones on leukocytes, leukocyte profiles and the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio have been widely used as indicators of response of individuals to several stressors such as temperature, muscular exhaustion, food or water deprivation, captivity and contaminants among others (Siegel & Gross 2000, Davis et al. 2008). Even though relative leukocyte ratios have been widely used as an estimator of long-term stress or baseline hormones levels (Davis et al. 2008), some studies have shown that in some avian species the handling stress can significantly affect leukocyte counts within 30 and 60 min after capture (Cirule et al. 2012), showing that leukocyte response to stress may be quicker than traditionally assumed. For this reason, the interval between bird capture and sample collection should be minimized to obtain a more precise estimation of baseline stress level. Also, Müller et al. (2011) found in free-living kestrel nestlings that baseline corticosterone levels and the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio differ in the sensitivity to various stressors suggesting that both measures should be taken when possible.

The Burrowing Owl (*Athene cunicularia*) is a ground-nesting raptor widely distributed throughout the mid to low latitude regions of Americas. Burrowing Owls' habitat has experienced important changes in the last decades due to human activities, such as agriculture, tourism and urbanization. It has been reported that some Burrowing Owl populations have been strongly affected by habitat change in its northern range, to the point of being considered as threatened in some areas of North America (Poulin *et al.* 2011). In contrast, at its southernmost distribution this species has managed to

survive and prosper in urban habitats, often reaching higher densities in such heavily disturbed habitats than in their natural habitats (Martínez *et al.* 2017). Living in close proximity to humans presupposes a frequent exposure to anthropogenic stress factors, which Burrowing Owls have overcome mainly through behavioral plasticity (Cavalli *et al.* 2016a, 2016b).

The aim of this study was to compare leukocyte profile, the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio and body condition of Burrowing Owls inhabiting urban and rural habitats of southeastern Pampas region. Considering that Burrowing Owls showed no breeding and behavioural limitations to establish in urban habitats (Cavalli *et al.* 2016a, 2016b, Martínez *et al.* 2017) and have demonstrated a good ability to live in a wide variety of habitat types and with different levels of disturbance (Baladrón *et al.* 2016, Martínez *et al.* 2017), we hypothesize that this species presents good adaptability to live in urban areas and should not perceive urban habitats as more stressful than rural areas.

METHODS

The study was conducted in the southeast portion of the Pampas region of Argentina. The area was dominated in the past by sand dunes, wetlands and grasslands (Vervoost 1967), and is nowadays a mosaic of different land-uses where agroecosystems (grazing fields, croplands, and pasturelands) and thriving urban centers share the landscape (Pedrana et al. 2008). Here, Burrowing Owls inhabit rural habitats, vegetated sand dunes, and urban habitats (Baladrón et al. 2016). Urban and rural habitats were sampled in Mar Chiquita district (37°44.6'S; 57°25.7'W) and General Pueyrredón district (38°00.8'S; 57°33.1'W). In these regions, urban habitat is mostly represented by peri-urban areas (small touristic villages with < 800 inhabitants and scattered houses) and, to a lesser extent, suburban areas of larger cities (Pedrana et al. 2008, Zelaya et al. 2016). Rural habitats are mostly devoted to livestock production, thus grazing fields are the dominant landscape unit, whereas croplands are limited to best-quality upland soils. In this context, we defined urban habitats as builtup areas where owls will regularly encounter humans and considered as urban owls those whose nests were surrounded by more than 35 houses within a radius of 200 m. Rural habitat comprised open farmlands, grazing fields, and croplands, and distance from owl nests to houses in rural habitats was always greater than 1 km.

Adults and chicks (~10 days old) from different nests were sampled during January 2014 and 2015. Burrowing Owls were captured with noose carpets (Bloom *et al.* 2007). Two researchers remain constantly watching traps with binoculars from a blind and run to handle owls immediately after they were trapped. Owls were weighed using a spring scale (d = 5 g, precision $\pm 0.3\%$). A preliminary inspection of each captured individual was performed in order to register health status. Health status of each individual was classified as healthy (i.e., no external signs of illness based on the brightness of plumage, good flight capacity in adults owls, absence of feather damage from ectoparasites, and standard body mass: 198.5 ± 22.8 g for adults, Baladrón et al. 2015) or non-healthy (i.e., missing feathers, presence of ectoparasites, below normal body mass), and only those of the former group were used for further analyses. A drop of blood was extracted from their brachial vein using 0.5 mm needles. Samples were collected within 5 min of capture to minimize capture and handling stress (Davis 2005). After collecting a blood sample and taking morphometric measurements, we released owls at the same place that they were captured. For all these procedures, we adhered to guidelines for the use of animals in research and to the legal requirements of Argentina (permit numbers: 2145-14331 and 22500-24871).

Thin smears from fresh blood were prepared on individual slides, air dried, fixed with methanol (Reagents, Inc.) for 10 min and then stained with May-Grünwald (BIOPUR®) and Giemsa (BIOPUR®). Smears were examined using a light microscope scanning monolayer fields with similar densities of erythrocytes for all individuals (Campbell 1994). The proportion of each leukocyte type was obtained from a sample of 100 leukocytes viewed in 1000× magnification (oil immersion) and expressed as percentage of basophils (B%), heterophils (H%), eosinophils (E%), lymphocytes (L%), and monocytes (M%) (Campbell 1994). The heterophil/lymphocyte ratio (H/L) was calculated from the leukocyte counts and was used as an indicator of stress (Davis et al. 2008). In general, higher H/L ratio values indicate higher levels of individual stress while lower values indicate the opposite. Relative leukocyte count (RLC) per 10,000 erythrocytes was estimated by counting the number of all erythrocytes in one microscopic visual field and multiplied by the number of the microscopic visual fields that were scanned until reaching 100 leukocytes, following Lobato et al. (2005).

Body mass (g) and tarsus length (mm, measured with a digital caliper) was measured to calculate a body condition index (Peig & Green 2009). Since both variables do not differ between Burrowing Owls sexes (see Baladrón *et al.* 2015) we pooled them indistinctly. To quantify body mass in relation to body size, we calculated a scaled mass index of body condition following the procedure described by Peig & Green (2009). The index was calculated as follows: The scaling exponent bSMA was calculated indirectly by dividing the slope from an ordinary least squares regression on log transformed tarsus length and body mass variables by the Pearson's correlation coefficient (r). We chose tarsus length as the proxy for skeletal body size as this measure has been routinely taken during all captures.

Leukocyte values were compared between owls from rural and urban habitats (only for adult owls since no chicks were captured at rural habitats) and between age groups (chicks and adults) using Student's t-test and the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test when data did not show a normal distribution. Normality was assessed by performing Shapiro-Wilk's test (Zar 2010). RLC was compared between habitats (rural and urban adult owls) and between age groups (chicks and adults) using Mann-Whitney test. Scaled mass index of body condition were compared between rural and urban adult owls by Student's t-test (Zar 2010). A part of the data used to calculate body condition belonged to a previous data set that was partly published by Baladrón et al. (2015), but none of the blood smears examined in this study were obtained from owls examined in that study.

RESULTS

Relative leukocyte counts, H/L ratios and RLC showed no significant differences between rural and urban adult Burrowing Owls (P > 0.05, see Table 1). No significant difference was found between adult rural and urban Burrowing Owls in scaled mass index of body condition (mean urban owls = 205.5 g, SE = 3.8, n = 42; mean rural owls = 204.1 g, SE = 11.1, n = 9; t = 0.15, df = 49, P = 0.88). Only one adult owl from a rural habitat was excluded from our data set since it was classified as a non-healthy individual (missing feathers, body mass below the population mean: scaled mass index of body condition 149.7 g, had only one eye while the other showed infection signs evidenced by its color).

No significant differences were identified between age groups in heterophils (H), monocytes (M), basophiles (B) and relative leukocyte counts (RLC) (P > 0.05, see Table 2). Percentage of lymphocytes (L) was higher for chicks than for adult Burrowing Owls while percentage of eosinophils (E) was higher for adults (Table 2). The H/L ratio was higher for adult than for chick Burrowing Owls. Fig. 1 shows the morphology of erythrocytes, heterophils, eosinophils, lymphocytes, monocytes and thrombocytes.

Body mass of individual $i \times (\frac{\text{Average tarsus length of the study population}}{\text{Individual tarsus length of individual }})$ bSMA



Figure 1. Burrowing Owl (*Athene cunicularia*) blood smears. Erythrocytes (Er), thrombocytes (T), heterophils (H), lymphocytes (L), eosinophils (E) and monocytes (M). × 100 objective.

Table 1. Mean ± standard error (SE), range (minimum - maximum) of relative leukocyte counts, relative leukocyte
count (RLC) and heterophil/lymphocyte ratio (H/L) from rural and urban adult Burrowing Owls (Athene cunicularia)
from southeast of Pampas region in Argentina. Sample size (n) is shown in parentheses. Leukocyte types are expressed as
percentage of heterophils (H%), lymphocytes (L%), monocytes (M%), basophils (B%) and eosinophils (E%).

	Rural $(n = 4)$		Urban	(n = 11)		D 1
	Mean ± SE	Range	Mean ± SE	Range	Statistical test	12-values
H%	36.1 ± 0.4	33.6 - 37.1	37.5 ± 3.6	19.0 - 61.4	t = -0.2	0.81
L%	40.3 ± 0.7	38.9 - 42.0	35.7 ± 1.9	25.8 - 47.6	t = 1.3	0.13
М%	1.0 ± 0.7	0.88 – 3.1	0.9 ± 0.3	0.75 - 3.3	<i>U</i> = 21	0.94
В%	0.2 ± 0.2	0.0 - 0.7	0.1 ± 0.1	0.0 - 1.7	<i>U</i> = 19	0.58
E%	22.3 ± 1.9	18.1 - 27.2	25.5 ± 2.6	15.3 – 37.1	<i>U</i> = 27	0.55
H/L	0.9 ± 0.02	0.8 - 0.9	1.1 ± 0.1	0.4 - 1.5	<i>U</i> = 29	0.39
RLC	94.5 ± 25.2	121.0 - 160.0	91.0 ± 9.5	59.0 - 132.0	<i>U</i> = 23.5	1.00

Table 2. Mean \pm standard error (SE), range (minimum – maximum) of relative leukocyte counts, relative leukocyte count (RLC) and heterophil/lymphocyte ratio (H/L) from chick and adult Burrowing Owls (*Athene cunicularia*) from southeast of Pampas region in Argentina. Sample size (*n*) is shown in parentheses. Leukocyte types are expressed as percentage of heterophils (H%), lymphocytes (L%), monocytes (M%), basophils (B%) and eosinophils (E%).

_	Chicks	(n = 10)	Adults	(<i>n</i> = 15)	- Statistical toot	Devalues
	Mean ± SE	Range	Mean ± SE	Range	Statistical test	12-values
H%	34.3 ± 2.2	27.3 - 46.4	37.2 ± 2.5	19.0 - 61.4	<i>U</i> = 91	0.36
L%	51.9 ± 2.3	39.5 - 63.0	36.9 ± 1.5	25.8 - 47.6	<i>t</i> = -5.6	< 0.001
М%	0.5 ± 0.2	0.0 - 1.4	0.9 ± 0.3	0.0 - 3.3	<i>U</i> = 82	0.69
В%	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 - 0.0	0.2 ± 0.1	0.0 - 1.6	<i>U</i> = 85	0.26
E%	13.3 ± 2.3	6.0 - 27.2	24.7 ± 1.9	12.9 – 37.1	<i>t</i> = 3.7	0.001
H/L	0.6 ± 0.1	0.5 - 1.0	1.1 ± 0.1	0.4 - 2.4	<i>U</i> = 120	0.01
RLC	76.6 ± 7.1	48.0 - 127.0	92.0 ± 9.3	39.0 - 160.0	<i>U</i> = 96.5	0.24

DISCUSSION

Animals often respond to the challenges found in urban areas through changes in their body condition and physiological stress responses (Davis et al. 2008). The magnitude and prevalence of stress levels may vary according to the species and its tolerance to the different stressor agents associated to urban life (i.e., if it is an avoider, adaptable or exploiter of urban areas; Blair 1996, McKinney 2002). Our results show that leukocyte profiles and the body condition of wild Burrowing Owls did not differ significantly between urban and rural habitats, corroborating the notion that this is an urbanadaptable species. This finding is similar to that reported for other urban-exploiter such as House Sparrows (Passer domesticus). Urban and rural House Sparrows have been show to display similar levels of stress hormones (Bókony et al. 2012) and their immunological status does not vary among urbanization levels (Chávez-Zichinelli et al. 2010). However, the range of indicators of physiological stress response (immunoglobulin and corticosterone concentrations) is wider in habitats with more stressful stimuli. In line with this idea, we found that urban areas housed both high- and low-stressed owls, as relative counts for all leukocyte types showed wider ranges in urban areas in comparison to rural areas.

In addition, we found that the heterophil-lymphocyte (H/L) ratio, a parameter widely used as indicators of stress response, does not differ between urban and rural Burrowing Owls. This is similar to the pattern reported by Fokidis et al. (2008) for the Northern Mockingbird (Mimus polyglottos), which is also an urban-adaptable species. However, these authors also reported the same for the Curve-billed Thrasher (Toxostoma curvirostre), an urban avoider species. This suggests that the ability to cope with human stressors in urban habitats might be associated with intrinsic characteristics of each species and with its capacity to adapt to new environmental conditions, or alternately it could be interpreted as indicating that the physiological responses to urban stressors might not necessarily involve substantial changes to the H/L ratio.

Even though leukocyte counts and the H/L ratio are considered reliable stress indicators in birds (Davis *et al.* 2008), some authors argue that these variables should be interpreted cautiously since they may vary in response to inflammatory or infectious processes. In this sense, it has been suggested that the H/L ratio should be considered a complementary measure to the corticosterone level in blood and that these parameters are not interchangeable (Müller *et al.* 2011). Regarding this, it would be interesting to incorporate corticosterone level information into future studies comparing physiological stress between urban and rural owls. Rebolo-Ifrán *et al.* (2015) recently reported that feathers from urban and rural Burrowing Owls showed similar values of corticosterone, suggesting that life in urban settings might not represent an additional source of stress for individuals living in this environment.

The percentage of eosinophils we observed in circulating blood was similar between owls from rural and urban habitats and, in both habitats, values were higher than the typical reported for birds in general (*e.g.*, E% = 2.5 - 5.6; Davis *et al.* 2008). This type of cell is strongly associated with helminth parasite load and activity (Johnstone *et al.* 2012). However, the high counts of eosinophils observed for Burrowing Owls in our study is consistent with numbers reported for most healthy raptor species studied to date (Copete-Sierra 2013). In addition, the low percentages of other leukocyte types, such as monocytes (associated with defense against infections and bacteria) and basophils (associated with inflammatory processes) (Campbell 1994), support the idea that the Burrowing Owls examined in this study were healthy.

We found that chicks and adult Burrowing Owls showed differences in relative leukocyte counts, which could be explained by different developmental stages of the immune system in young Burrowing Owls. The thymus and bursa are proportionally up to 10 times larger in chicks than in adults, and lymphocytes are naturally more abundant in earlier stages of development (Maxwell & Robertson 1998). As chicks grow, the number of lymphocyte cells decrease and the thymus and bursa decrease in size (Maxwell & Robertson 1998, Dunbar et al. 2005). For these reasons, even though the H/L ratio has been considered a reliable index to determine individual physiological condition and a stress indicator (Maxwell & Robertson 1998, Davis et al. 2008), the differences observed in Burrowing Owls' H/L ratio between ages is probably related to the ontogenetic development rather than to a difference in how they respond to stress situations.

In summary, our study indicates that urban Burrowing Owls show similar relative leukocyte counts, H/L ratios, and body condition than rural individuals. Even when such similarity may be influenced by the analytical tool employed (*e.g.*, another parameter different of H/L ratio and RLC should have been used) or the limited sample (*e.g.*, a relatively small number of rural individuals was sampled), our findings suggest that living in urban habitats might not significantly affect the haematological parameters of Burrowing Owls.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank N. Martínez-Curci, L. Biondi, R. Zenuto and F. Vera for their help and suggestions during previous

stages of this work. We thank *Grupo Invertebrados* from UNMdP for lending the microscope camera. We appreciate the improvements in English usage made by Phil Whitford through the Association of Field Ornithologists' program of editorial assistance. This study was funded by *Universidad Nacional de Mar del Plata* (grant to *Grupo Vertebrados*), and *Agencia Nacional de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica* (grant to J.P.I.), CONICET (Doctoral fellowship to M.C.), Western Bird Banding Association (grant to M.C.), and the International Osprey Foundation (grant to A.V.B.).

REFERENCES

- Baladrón A.V., Cavalli M., Isacch J.P., Bó M.S. & Madrid E. 2015. Body size and sexual dimorphism in the southernmost subspecies of the Burrowing Owl (*Athene cunicularia cunicularia*). *Journal of Raptor Research* 49: 479–485.
- Baladrón A.V., Isacch J.P., Cavalli M. & Bó M.S. 2016. Habitat selection by Burrowing Owls *Athene cunicularia* in the Pampas of Argentina: a multiple-scale assessment. *Acta Ornithologica* 51: 137–150.
- Blair R.B. 1996. Land use and avian species diversity along an urban gradient. *Ecological Applications* 6: 506–519.
- Bloom P.H., Clark W.S. & Kidd J.W. 2007. Capture techniques, p. 193–219. In: Bird D.M. & Bildstein K.L. (eds.). *Raptor research* and management techniques. Surrey: Hancock House Publishers.
- Bókony V., Seress G., Nagy S., Lendvai Á.Z. & Liker A. 2012. Multiple indices of body condition reveal no negative effect of urbanization in adult House Sparrows. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 104: 75–84.
- Bonier F. 2012. Hormones in the city: endocrine ecology of urban birds. *Hormones and Behavior* 61: 763–772.
- Bonier F., Martin P.R. & Wingfield J.C. 2007. Urban birds have broader environmental tolerance. *Biology Letters* 3: 670–673
- Campbell T. 1994. Hematology, p. 176–198. In: Ritchie B.W., Harrison G.J. & Harrison L.R. (eds.). *Avian medicine: principles and application*. Lake Worth: Wingers Publishing.
- Cavalli M., Baladrón A.V., Isacch J.P., Biondi L.M. & Bó, M.S. 2016a. Differential risk perception of rural and urban Burrowing Owls exposed to humans and dogs. *Behavioural Processes* 124: 60–65.
- Cavalli M., Isacch J.P., Baladrón A.V., Biondi L.M. & Bó M.S. 2016b. Differing nest-defence behaviour in urban and rural populations of breeding Burrowing Owls. *Emu* 116: 428–434.
- Chávez-Zichinelli C.A., MacGregor-Fors I., Rohana P.T., Valdéz R., Romano M.C. & Schondube J.E. 2010. Stress responses of the House Sparrow (*Passer domesticus*) to different urban land uses. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 98: 183–189.
- Cirule D., Krama T., Vrublevska J., Rantala M.J., & Krams I. 2012. A rapid effect of handling on counts of white blood cells in a wintering passerine bird: a more practical measure of stress? *Journal of Ornithology* 153: 161–166.
- Copete-Sierra M. 2013. Aspectos generales de la evaluación hematológica en fauna silvestre y no convencional. Memorias de la Conferencia Interna en Medicina y Aprovechamiento de Fauna Silvestre, Exótica y no Convencional 9: 17–55.
- Davis A.K. 2005. Effect of handling time and repeated sampling on avian white blood cell counts. *Journal of Field Ornithology* 76: 334–338.
- Davis A.K., Maney D.L. & Maerz J.C. 2008. The use of leukocyte profiles to measure stress in vertebrates: a review for ecologists.

Functional Ecology 22: 760–772.

- Dunbar M.R., Greg M.A., Crawfordd J.A., Giordano M.R. & Tornquist S.J. 2005. Normal hematologic and biochemical values for prelaying Greater Sage Grouse (*Centroscerus urophasianus*) and their influence on chick survival. *Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine* 36: 422–429.
- Fokidis H.B, Greiner E.C. & Deviche P. 2008. Interspecific variation in avian blood parasites and haematology associated with urbanization in a desert habitat. *Journal of Avian Biology* 39: 300–310.
- Johnstone C.P., Lill A. & Reina R.D. 2012. Does habitat fragmentation cause stress in the Agile Antechinus? A haematological approach. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systems, and Environmental Physiology* 182: 139–155.
- Lobato E., Moreno J., Merino S., Sanz J.J. & Arriero E. 2005. Haematological variables are good predictors of recruitment in nestling Pied Flycatchers (*Ficedula hypoleuca*). *Ecoscience* 12: 27– 34.
- Martínez G., Baladrón A.V., Cavalli M., Bó M.S. & Isacch J.P. 2017. Microscale nest- site selection by the Burrowing Owl (*Athene cunicularia*) in the Pampas of Argentina. *Wilson Journal of Ornithology* 129: 62–70.
- Marzluff J.M. 2001. Worldwide urbanization and its effects on birds, p. 19–47. In: Marzluff J.M., Bowman R. & Donnelly R. (eds.). *Avian ecology and conservation in an urbanizing world*. New York: Springer Science.
- Maxwell M.H. & Robertson G.W. 1998. The avian heterophil leucocyte: a review. *World's Poultry Science Journal* 54: 155–178.
- McKinney M.L. 2002. Urbanization, biodiversity, and conservation. *BioScience* 52: 883–890.
- Müller C., Jenni-Eiermann S. & Jenni L. 2011. Heterophils/ lymphocytes ratio and circulating corticosterone do not indicate the same stress imposed on Eurasian Kestrel nestlings. *Functional Ecology* 25: 566–576.
- Partecke J., Schwabl I. & Gwinner E. 2006. Stress and the city: urbanization and its effects on the stress physiology in European Blackbirds. *Ecology* 87: 1945–1952.
- Pedrana J., Isacch J.P. & Bó M.S. 2008. Habitat relationships of diurnal raptors at local and landscape scales in southern temperate grasslands of Argentina. *Emu* 108: 301–310.
- Peig J. & Green A.J. 2009. New perspectives for estimating body condition from mass/length data: the scaled mass index as an alternative method. *Oikos* 118: 1883–1891.
- Poulin R., Todd L.D., Haug E.A., Millsap B.A. & Martell, M.S. 2011. Burrowing Owl (*Athene cunicularia*), p. 227–228. In: Poole A. (ed.). *The birds of North America online*. New York: Cornell Lab of Ornithology.
- Rebolo-Ifrán N., Carrete M., Sanz-Aguilar A., Rodríguez-Martínez S., Cabezas S., Marchant T.A., Bortolotti G.R. & Tella J.L. 2015. Links between fear of humans, stress and survival support a nonrandom distribution of birds among urban and rural habitats. *Scientific Reports* 5: 13723.
- Romero L.M. & Reed J.M. 2005. Collecting baseline corticosterone samples in the field: is under 3 min good enough? *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology* 140: 73–79.
- Shanahan D.F., Strohbach M.W., Warren P.S. & Fuller R.A. 2014. The challenges of urban living, p. 3–20. In: Gil D. & Brumm H. (eds.). Avian urban ecology: behavioural and physiological adaptations. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Siegel H.S. 1980. Physiological stress in birds. *BioScience* 30: 529–534.
- Siegel P.B. & Gross W.B. 2000. General principles of stress and wellbeing, p. 27–42. In: T. Grandlin (ed.). *Livestock handling and transport*. Wallingford: CABI Publishing.
- Sol D., Lapiedra O. & González-Lagos C. 2013. Behavioural

adjustments for a life in the city. *Animal Behaviour* 85: 1101–1112. Vervoost F.B. 1967. *La vegetación de la República Argentina VII. Las*

- vervoost F.B. 1967. La vegetación de la Republica Argentina VII. Las comunidades de la Depresión del Salado (Provincia de Buenos Aires). Serie Fitogeográfica del INTA, No. 7, Buenos Aires.
- Wada H. 2015. Developmental plasticity of individual variation in stress responses, p. 187–206. In: Martin L.B., Ghalambor C.K. & Woods H.A. (eds.). *Integrative organismal biology*. New Jersey: Wiley Blackwell.
- Wingfield J.C. & Sapolsky R.M. 2003. Reproduction and resistance to stress: when and how. *Journal of Neuroendocrinology* 15: 711– 724.
- Zar J.H. 2010. *Biostatistical analysis, 5th edn*. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice Hall.
- Zelaya K., van Vliet J. & Verburg P.H. 2016. Characterization and analysis of farm system changes in the Mar Chiquita Basin, Argentina. *Applied Geography* 68: 95–103.

Associate Editor: Leandro Bugoni.

Diet of the Spectacled Owl (*Pulsatrix perspicillata*) in Zapotillo, southwestern Ecuador

Adrian Orihuela-Torres^{1,5}, Leonardo Ordóñez-Delgado¹, Andrés Verdezoto-Celi² & Jorge Brito^{3,4}

Departamento de Ciencias Biológicas, Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja, 11-01-608, Loja, Ecuador.

Programa ProCamBio, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) GmbH, Quito, Ecuador.

³ Instituto de Ciencias Biológicas, Escuela Politécnica Nacional, 17-01-2759, Quito, Ecuador.

⁴ Instituto Nacional de Biodiversidad. Calle Rumipamba 341 & Av. de los Shyris, 17-07-8976, Quito, Ecuador.

⁵ Corresponding author: adrian.orihuela89@gmail.com

Received on 11 September 2017. Accepted on 20 February 2018.

ABSTRACT: We describe the diet of the Spectacled Owl (*Pulsatrix perspicillata*) based on the collection and analysis of pellets between 20 to 24 December 2016, from a reproductive territory located in Zapotillo, southwestern Ecuador. Mammals were the main food source of the species, accounting for 80% of the identified prey items and 94% of the biomass. Other taxonomic groups, such as amphibians, reptiles and crabs were also identified. Based on our results and the existing observations, *P. perspicillata* consumed a big amount of arboreal prey or those that are located at medium height within the forest. This may be due to their hunting habits, the abundance of available prey or a combination of both. Our observation is the first to document the diet of the subspecies *P. perspiciliata chapmani*, and increases scarce knowledge about the trophic ecology of this species.

KEY-WORDS: owls, pellets, prey, trophic ecology, tropical dry forest.

One of the most important natural history observations to understand the ecology of a species is the knowledge of its diet, especially the taxonomy of the ingested prey (Pardiñas & Cirignoli 2002, Cadena-Ortiz *et al.* 2011). Knowing the diet of a species helps to determine, among other aspects, its intra and interspecific relationships (Marti *et al.* 1993). Nevertheless, study of the trophic ecology of birds faces methodological limitations, such as the difficulty in identifying the consumed prey (Rosenberg & Cooper 1990) and in nocturnal species, their stealth behavior and difficulty of detection, further complicate this type of research (Karr *et al.* 1990).

The level of knowledge about owls (Strigidae) in the Neotropics and even more so in Ecuador remains low (Enríquez *et al.* 2006, Freile *et al.* 2012, 2017), although there is information about their distribution and habitat, information on the ecological aspects such as behavior and trophic niche are deficient (Cadena-Ortiz *et al.* 2013).

Pulsatrix perspicillata (Latham, 1790) is distributed from southern Mexico and Central America, to northern Argentina (König & Weick 2008). In Ecuador it is distributed in the lowlands to the east and west of the Andes, primarily under the 1000 m a.s.l. (Ridgely & Greenfield 2001, Freile *et al.* 2017). With two subspecies, *Pulsatrix perspicillata chapmani* (Griscom, 1932) occupies west of the Andes, and *Pulsatrix perspicillata perspicillata* (Latham, 1790) occupies the east of the mountain range (McMullan & Navarrete 2017). This species inhabits the dense rainforest, savanna forests, and tropical dry forest, as well as areas with scattered trees, coffee plantations, and forest galleries (Holt *et al.* 2017). These authors suggest that their populations are numerous, but there is scarce information on their abundance, population ecology, and behavior. The Spectacled Owl is a species with nocturnal activity, although it can occasionally be found on cloudy days, where it usually rests on leafy trees at banks of streams or near bodies of water, at medium height with dense foliage (König & Weick 2008).

Knowledge about the diet of *P. perspicillata* is mentioned in some field guides (*e.g.*, Stiles & Skutch 1989, Sick 1993, König & Weick 2008), on the online database (Holt *et al.* 2017), and report data of prey published in Panama (Voirin *et al.* 2009), Brazil (Carvalho *et al.* 2011), and Ecuador (Cadena-Ortiz *et al.* 2013, Daza *et al.* 2017). There is a single detailed study based on pellets of the Mexican subspecies *P. perspicillata saturata* (Silva *et al.* 1997), but information is lacking for the rest of its distribution. However, the subspecies of our study, *P. perspicillata chapmani*, is distributed throughout the Caribbean from Costa Rica, eastern Panama to Colombia, western Ecuador and northwestern Peru (Holt *et al.* 2017). This subespcies lacks detailed studies and only occurrence records are available (Voirin *et al.* 2009, Cadena-Ortiz et al. 2013).

In this study, we present information on the diet of *P. p. chapmani* in southwestern Ecuador, based on the analysis of pellets in a reproductive territory. The purpose of this study was to identify its main prey in pellets in the tropical dry forest and thus, widen the knowledge about its diet. This is the second detailed study on the trophic ecology of this species and the first of the subspecies *P. p. chapmani*.

We collected pellets from a breeding territory of P. p. chapmani located in Zapotillo, southwest of Ecuador (4°07'S; 80°20'W, 481 m a.s.l.), between 20 to 24 December 2016, corresponding to the dry season (Maldonado 2002). The nest of a family, composed by two adults and one fledgling (Fig. 1A), was located in a Ficus sp. tree, about 4.5 m height in an area with steep slopes and a few meters from a ravine with permanent water. The type of forest corresponds to dry semideciduous forest (Cueva & Chalán 2010). The forest is patchy with discontinuous clearings, natural or induced, and the presence of isolated trees. Characteristic species of this type of vegetation are Ceiba (Ceiba trichistandra (A. Gray) Bakh.), Guayacan (Tabebuia chrysantha G. Nicholson), Laurel (Cordia macrantha Chodat), and Pretino (Cavanillesia platanifolia (Bonpl.) Kunth), among others (Fig. 1B) (Cueva & Chalán 2010).

The analysis of the pellets was performed in the laboratory, where we measured the length and width of each pellets with a Stainless Hardened digital caliper (precision \pm 0.01 mm), and dry mass using a Sartorius LA-230P precision balance. We analyzed the pellets and separated the elements according to their identification and quantification (Marti *et al.* 2007).

The analyzed material in pellets was separated according to the taxonomic groups to which they

belonged and later classified at the species level. The minimum number of individuals consumed (MNI), was determined by counting homologous mandibles and discarding the other skeletal remains to avoid recounting (Manning & Jones-Jr. 1990), except for *Hypolobocera aequatorialis* (Ortmann, 1897) (Decapoda) which was identified by carapace remains. To calculate the biomass, the average mass of the species consumed was multiplied by the MNI of the species (Herrera & Jaksic 1980). The different food components were identified using available guides (Brito *et al.* 2016, Torres-Carvajal *et al.* 2016, Ron *et al.* 2017) and comparisons were made with reference material deposited in the Museum of the Escuela Politécnica Nacional (MEPN).

53

The nine pellets samples were of the following sizes: length (mean = 44 mm, range = 34 - 59 mm), width (mean = 21 mm, range = 13 - 33 mm), mass (mean = 4.3 g, range = 2.4 - 8.5 g). There were 15 prey items belonging to four taxonomic classes: Mammalia (3 sp.), Reptilia (1 sp.), Amphibia (1 sp.) and Malacostraca (1 sp.), (Table 1). The body mass of prey varied from *Stenocercus puyango* Torres-Carvajal, 2005 (Reptilia) (13 g) to *Proechimys decumanus* Thomas, 1899 (Mammalia) (285 g).

Mammals were recorded in 100% of the dissected pellets and were the main prey group, both in the minimum number of individuals consumed (80%) and in biomass (93.6%) (Fig. 2). The consumption of amphibians, reptiles, and crustaceans was similar. The most consumed species was the rodent *Rhipidomys leucodactylus* (Tschudi, 1845) and the marsupial *Marmosa simonsi* Thomas, 1899, with six and five individuals respectively (Table 1). For biomass, species that contributed most was *R. leucodactylus* with 53.6%. The absence of birds and invertebrates in their diet is striking,



Figure 1. Young (left) of Spectacled Owl *Pulsatrix perspicillata chapmani* next to an adult (right), in Zapotillo, southwestern Ecuador (**A**). Typical ecosystem where the study of the diet of the Spectacled Owl was carried out (**B**). Photo author: A. Orihuela-Torres.

except the observation of *H. aequatorialis* (Decapoda).

According to previous information published on the diet of *P. perspicillata* (Stiles & Skutch 1989, Sick 1993, Silva *et al.* 1997, König & Weick 2008, Holt *et al.* 2017), their main prev are mammals. This is further corroborated



Figure 2. Minimum number of individuals consumed (MNI%) and biomass consumed (B%) in the diet of *Pulsatrix perspicillata chapmani* in a breeding territory of Zapotillo, southwestern Ecuador.

by our findings, in which mammals contributed almost all the biomass (93.6%). One of the most abundant prey items was *M. simonsi* (MNI = 33.3%, B = 22%), a nocturnal marsupial with arboreal habits (Rossi *et al.* 2010, Astúa 2015). This genus, belonging to the family Didelphidae, is very common in the diet of *P. perspicillata* (Silva *et al.* 1997, König & Weick 2008, Holt *et al.* 2017). The other most abundant species was *R. leucodactylus*, a rodent of nocturnal and arboreal habits (Tribe 2015, Tirira 2017), which contributed with 53.6% in biomass. The only mammalian prey species with primarily terrestrial habits was the Pacific Spiny Rat *P. decumanus* (Tirira 2017).

In Mexico, Silva *et al.* (1997) showed a greater intake of *P. perspicillata* for a semi arboreal rat (*Tylomys nudicaudus* Peters, 1866). It appears that *P. perspiciliata* hunts preferentially over arboreal prey or prey located in the middle stratum of the forest (Silva *et al.* 1997), although it can occasionally hunts terrestrial prey. Additional studies will be required to determine if this intake can be attributed to hunting habits, the availability

Taxa	Mass (g)	MNI (%)	Biomass (%)
Mammalia		12 (80)	1487 (93.6)
Didelphimorphia			
Didelphidae			
Marmosa simonsi	70	5 (33.3)	350 (22.0)
Rodentia			
Cricetidae			
Rhipidomys leucodactylus	142	6 (40)	852 (53.6)
Echyimidae			
Proechimys decumanus	285	1 (6.7)	285 (18.0)
Amphibia		1 (6.7)	14 (0.9)
Anura			
Hylidae			
Trachycephalus quadrangulum	14	1 (6.7)	14 (0.9)
Reptilia		1 (6.7)	13 (0.8)
Squamata: Sauria			
Tropiduridae			
Stenocercus puyango	13	1 (6.7)	13 (0.8)
Malacostraca		1 (6.7)	75 (4.7)
Decapoda			
Pseudothelphusidae			
Hypolobocera aequatorialis	75	1 (6.7)	75 (4.7)
Total		15	1589

Table 1. Composition of the diet of *Pulsatrix perspicillata chapmani* in a breeding territory of Zapotillo, southwestern Ecuador. The mass of each species is shown (Mass, in g), the number of individuals and their percentage (MNI, in %), the total biomass in grams and the percentage (Biomass, in %).

of prey, or a combination of both. Voirin *et al.* (2009) reported the attack of *P. perspicillata* on a *Bradypus variegatus* Schinz, 1825 (Mammalia) when it descended to the ground to defecate. These attacks are not common in owls, as they usually swallow their whole prey and therefore do not consume prey greater than their own body mass (Marti 1974). However, it evidences that the species effectively exploits every opportunity to get food.

The absence of birds and insects in our study may be biased due to the small sample size. Although, we found a small proportion of crustaceans, similar to those reported in other studies (Silva *et al.* 1997, König & Weick 2008, Holt *et al.* 2017). As far as we know, the record of the anuran *Trachycephalus quadrangulum* (Peters, 1867) constitutes the first evidence of amphibian consumption within the diet of the Spectacled Owl.

In the two specific reports on the diet of *P. perspicillata* in Ecuador (Cadena-Ortiz *et al.* 2013, Daza *et al.* 2017), only reptiles are documented. In our study, reptiles were represented by *S. puyango*, a common species in the tropical dry forest of southwestern Ecuador (Yánez-Muñoz *et al.* 2016). A report of the diet of its congener *Pulsatrix melanota* (Tschudi, 1844) in Ecuador showed differences in the diet of these species, in this case, only arthropods appeared in the stomach contents (Cadena-Ortiz *et al.* 2011). However, the sample sizes were small in these reports and are unable to represent the changes in diet due to the availability of food throughout the year, the breeding and non-breeding season and other environmental conditions.

Although the study by Silva *et al.* (1997) was carried out in Mexico on another subspecies (*P. perspicillata saturata*), in another season (rainy season) and with a small sample size (19 pellets), it showed important similarities with our study. In both cases, mammals were the main prey and Didelphidae played an important role in their diet, constituting themselves as a potential prey for this nocturnal raptor throughout its range of distribution.

Owing to the limited knowledge about owls in the Neotropics (Enríquez 2017), this type of study is of particular importance, as it will allow us to understand the role of these cryptic species in their environment, and to better understand how organisms interact. Trophic ecology is a fundamental element to understand this complex and important group of birds and contribute to their conservation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To the Department of Biological Sciences - Section of Ecology and Systematics of the UTPL for institutional support in the development of this work. Equanativa S.A., for financing field trips. Reed Ojala-Barbour and Daniel Rosado collaborated by reviewing the manuscript and writing the English.

REFERENCES

- Astúa D. 2015. Family Didelphidae (oppossums), p. 70–186. In: Wilson D.E. & Mittermeier R.A. (eds.). *Handbook of the mammals* of the world, v. 5 (monotremes and marsupials). Barcelona: Lynx Editions.
- Brito J., Camacho M.A. & Vallejo A.F. 2016. *Mamíferos del Ecuador*, v. 2016.0. Museo de Zoología, Pontificia Universidad Católica del Ecuador. http://zoologia.puce.edu.ec/Vertebrados/mamiferos/ MamiferosEcuador/ (accessed on 20 July 2017).
- Cadena-Ortiz H., Bahamonde-Vinueza D. & Bonaccorso E. 2011. Notas sobre la dieta del Búho Ventribandeado (*Pulsatrix melanota*) en Ecuador. *Ornitología Neotropical* 22: 471–475.
- Cadena-Ortiz H., Freile J.F. & Bahamonde-Vinueza D. 2013. Información sobre la dieta de algunos búhos (Strigidae) del Ecuador. Ornitología Neotropical 24: 469–474.
- Carvalho L.F.A.C., Cunha N.L., Fischer E. & Santos C.F. 2011. Predation on Broad-eared Bat *Nyctinomops laticaudatus* by the Spectacled Owl *Pulsatrix perspicillata* in southwestern Brazil. *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* 19: 417–418.
- Cueva J. & Chalán L. 2010. *Cobertura vegetal y uso actual del suelo de la provincia de Loja*. Informe Técnico del Departamento de Sistemas de Información Geográfica de Naturaleza & Cultura Internacional. Loja: Gráficas Amazonas.
- Daza J.D., Price L.B., Schalk C.M., Bauer A.M., Borman A.R. & Peterhans J.K. 2017. Predation on Southern Turnip-tailed Geckos (*Thecadactylus solimoensis*) by a Spectacled Owl (*Pulsatrix perspicillata*). Cuadernos de Herpetología 31: 37–39.
- Enríquez P.L. (ed.). 2017. *Neotropical owls: diversity and conservation*. Cham: Springer.
- Enríquez P.L., Johnson D.H. & Rangel-Salazar J.L. 2006. Taxonomy, distribution and conservation of owls in the Neotropics: a review, p. 254–307. In: Rodríguez-Estrella R. (ed.). *Current raptor studies in Mexico*. Mexico: Centro de Investigaciones Biológicas del Noroeste and CONABIO.
- Freile J.F., Castro D.F. & Varela S. 2012. Estado del conocimiento, distribución y conservación de aves rapaces nocturnas en Ecuador. Ornitología Neotropical 23: 235–244.
- Freile J.F., Guevara E.A., Pacheco C. & Santander T. 2017. The owls of Ecuador, p. 373–395. In: Enríquez P.L. (ed.). *Neotropical owls: diversity and conservation*. Cham: Springer.
- Herrera C.M. & Jaksic F.M. 1980. Feeding ecology of the Barn Owl in central Chile and southern Spain: a comparative study. *Auk* 97: 760–767.
- Holt D.W., Berkley R., Deppe C., Enríquez Rocha P., Petersen J.L, Rangel-Salazar J.L., Segars K.P., Wood K.L & Kirwan G.M. 2017. Spectacled Owl (*Pulsatrix perspicillata*). In: del Hoyo J., Elliott A., Sargatal J., Christie D.A. & de Juana E. (eds.). *Handbook of the birds of the world alive*. Barcelona: Lynx Editions. http://www. hbw.com/node/55053 (accessed on 27 June 2017).
- Karr J.R., Nichols J.D., Klimkiewicz M.K. & Brawn J.D. 1990. Survival rates of birds of tropical and temperate forests: will the dogma survive? *American Naturalist* 136: 277–291.
- König C. & Weick F. 2008. Owls of the world, 2nd edn. London: Helm.
 Maldonado N. 2002. Clima y vegetación de la región sur del Ecuador,
 p. 1–28. In: Aguirre Z., Madsen J.M., Cotton E. & Balslev H. (eds.). Botánica Austroecuatoriana. Estudios sobre los recursos vegetales en las provincias de El Oro, Loja y Zamora Chinchipe. Loja: Editorial EDILOJA Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja.

- Manning R.W. & Jones-Jr. J.K. 1990. Remains of small mammals recovered from Barn Owl pellets from Crosby county, Texas, USA. *Texas Journal of Science* 42: 311–312.
- Marti C.D. 1974. Feeding ecology of four sympatric owls. *Condor* 76: 45–61.
- Marti C.D., Steenhof K., Kochert M.N. & Marks J.S. 1993. Community trophic structure: the roles of diet, body size, and activity time in vertebrate predators. *Oikos* 67: 6–18.
- Marti C.D., Bechard M. & Jaksic F.M. 2007. Food habits, p. 129– 151. In: Bird D.M. & Bildstein K.L. (eds.). *Raptor research and management techniques manual*. Blaine: Surrey: Raptor Research Foundation, Hancock House Publishers.
- McMullan M. & Navarrete L. 2017. Fieldbook of the birds of Ecuador including the Galapagos Islands and common mammals, 2nd edn. Quito: Ratty Ediciones.
- Pardiñas U.F.J. & Cirignoli S. 2002. Bibliografía comentada sobre los análisis de egagrópilas de aves rapaces en Argentina. Ornitología Neotropical 13: 31–59.
- Ridgely R.S. & Greenfield P.J. 2001. The birds of Ecuador, v. I: status, distribution and taxonomy. New York: Cornell University Press.
- Ron S.R., Yánez-Muñoz M.H., Merino-Viteri A., Ortiz D.A. & Nicolalde D.A. 2017. *AmphibiaWebEcuador, v. 2017.0.* Museo de Zoología, Pontificia Universidad Católica del Ecuador. http:// zoologia.puce.edu.ec/Vertebrados/anfibios. (accessed on 20 July 2017).
- Rosenberg K.V. & Cooper R.J. 1990. Approaches to avian diet analysis. *Studies in Avian Biology* 13: 80–90.
- Rossi R.V., Voss R.S. & Lunde D.P. 2010. A revision of the didelphid Marsupial genus *Marmosa*. Part 1. The species in Tate's 'mexicana' and 'mitis' sections and other closely related forms. *Bulletin of the*

American Museum of Natural History 334: 1–83.

- Sick H. 1993. Birds in Brazil. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Silva H.G., Pérez-Villafaña M. & Santos-Moreno J.A. 1997. Diet of the Spectacled Owl (*Pulsatrix perspicillata*) during the rainy season in northern Oaxaca, Mexico. *Journal of Raptor Research* 31: 385–387.
- Stiles F.G & Skutch A.F. 1989. A guide to the birds of Costa Rica. New York: Comstock Publishing Associates.
- Tirira D. 2017. Guía de campo de los mamíferos del Ecuador, 2nd edn. Quito: Asociación Ecuatoriana de Mastozoología y Editorial Murciélago Blanco.
- Torres-Carvajal O., Salazar-Valenzuela D., Merino-Viteri A. & Nicolalde D.A. 2016. *ReptiliaWebEcuador, v. 2016.0.* Museo de Zoología QCAZ, Pontificia Universidad Católica del Ecuador. http://zoologia.puce.edu.ec/Vertebrados/reptiles/reptilesEcuador (accessed on 20 July 2017).
- Tribe C.J. 2015. Genus *Rhipidomys* Tshudi, 1845, p. 583–617. In: Patton J.L., Pardiñas U.F.J. & D'Elía G. (eds.). *Mammals of South America, v. 2. Rodents*. Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press.
- Voirin J.B., Kays R., Lowman M.D. & Wikelski M. 2009. Evidence for Three-toed Sloth (*Bradypus variegatus*) predation by Spectacled Owl (*Pulsatrix perspicillata*). *Edentata* 8–10: 15–20.
- Yánez-Muñoz M., Venegas P., Cisneros-Heredia D. & Perez J. 2016. Stenocercus puyango. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T50950699A50950702. http://dx.doi.org/10.2305/ IUCN.UK.2016-1.RLTS.T50950699A50950702.en (accessed on 23 July 2017).

Associate Editor: Cristiano S. Azevedo.

Rapid southward and upward range expansion of a tropical songbird, the Thrush-like Wren (*Campylorhynchus turdinus*), in South America: a consequence of habitat or climate change?

Floyd E. Hayes^{1,3}, Peter Lecourt¹ & Hugo del Castillo²

¹ Department of Biology, Pacific Union College, 1 Angwin Ave., Angwin, CA 94508, USA.

² Asociación Guyra Paraguay, Parque Ecológico Capital Verde. Avda. Carlos Bóveda CC 1719. Asunción, Paraguay.

³ Corresponding author: floyd_hayes@yahoo.com

Received on 05 July 2017. Accepted on 28 March 2018.

ABSTRACT: The Thrush-like Wren (*Campylorhynchus turdinus*) is a polytypic, non-migratory, cooperatively breeding species of bird widely distributed in central South America. In recent decades it has expanded its range by approximately 24%, based on a published map of its distribution in the mid-1980s and recent reports submitted to eBird up through March 2017. The northwestern subspecies, *C. t. hypostictus*, dramatically expanded its elevation range upward from approximately 1200 m to 4200 m a.s.l. in the Peruvian Andes. During 1977–2015 the southwestern subspecies, *C. t. unicolor*, dramatically expanded the southern border of its range from central Brazil and northern Paraguay (approximately 22°06'S) southward into northeastern Argentina and throughout Paraguay to 29°40'S in southeastern Brazil, extending its range east-southeast approximately 934 km at a rate of 24.6 km/yr, and latitudinally southward 838 km at a rate of 22.1 km/yr. It also expanded its range westward into the relatively dry Chaco of western Paraguay and north-central Argentina. Midwinter records near the southern border of its range in northeastern Argentina suggest it is non-migratory. Because of its affinity for disturbed habitats, its range expansion has been attributed to deforestation, but its range expansion is also consistent with the prediction that organisms are extending their geographic distribution toward higher latitudes and elevations as a consequence of climate change.

KEY-WORDS: Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, distribution, elevation, global warming, Paraguay, Peru.

INTRODUCTION

Because birds are abundant and conspicuous organisms that can be easily monitored, they represent ideal bellwethers for the impacts of anthropogenic habitat change and climate change on biodiversity (Morrison 1986, Hutto 1998). Short-term changes in the distributional ranges of birds are usually caused by stochastic population fluctuations or habitat change, but may also be attributed to climate change (Parmesan & Yohe 2003, Root et al. 2003, Hickling et al. 2006, Parmesan 2006, Chen et al. 2011). Birds may respond to recent increases in temperature and changes in precipitation by either attempting to adapt to changes in situ or by spatially shifting their distribution to areas with more optimal conditions (Huntley et al. 2006). Distributional shifts toward higher latitudes and elevations, in concert with phenological shifts toward earlier breeding, occur globally across a wide array of taxonomic groups, providing a fingerprint of climate change (Parmesan & Yohe 2003, Root et al. 2003, Hickling et al. 2006,

Parmesan 2006, Chen *et al.* 2011). For example, analyses of the breeding ranges of birds in the temperate northern hemisphere reveal that they are shifting northward at an average rate of 2.4 km/year in North America (Hitch & Leberg 2007), 1.6 km/year in Finland (Brommer 2004), and 1.0 km/year in Britain (Thomas & Lennon 1999). The winter ranges of temperate North American birds are also shifting northward at an average rate of about 1.5 km/year (La Sorte & Thompson-III 2007).

Distributional range shifts by birds in the southern hemisphere are not as well documented, but many species of birds in South Africa and some in Australia appear to be rapidly expanding their ranges southward (Chambers *et al.* 2005, Olsen 2007, Hockey *et al.* 2011). In South America, several tropical bird species appear to be rapidly expanding their ranges southward into subtropical Argentina, Paraguay, and Brazil (*e.g.*, Straube *et al.* 2006, 2007, Piacentini *et al.* 2009, del Castillo *et al.* 2012, Pagano & Bodrati 2017). And several species of birds appear to be rapidly expanding their ranges upward in elevation in the Andes (*e.g.*, Henry 2005, 2012, Solano-Ugalde & Real-Jibaja 2010, Gibbons *et al.* 2011, Avendaño *et al.* 2013). The driver of such rapid changes in bird distribution in South America is usually attributed to habitat change, even though such changes are predicted by a warming climate (Parmesan & Yohe 2003, Root *et al.* 2003, Hickling *et al.* 2006, Parmesan 2006, Jetz *et al.* 2007, Chen *et al.* 2011). More detailed analyses of individual species are needed to assess the validity of claims that distributional ranges are shifting toward higher latitudes and elevations, and to document the rate of change. In this paper we document unusually rapid range expansion, both southward and upward in elevation, in a tropical songbird, providing evidence that climate change in addition to (or instead of) habitat change may be accelerating its range expansion.

METHODS

Study subject

The Thrush-like Wren (Campylorhynchus turdinus) is a polytypic species of the avian family Troglodytidae with three distinct subspecies inhabiting tropical South America (Hellmayr 1934, Ridgely & Tudor 1989, Kroodsma & Brewer 2005). The northwestern subspecies, C. t. hypostictus, occurs from the east slope of the Andes of Colombia, Ecuador, Peru, and northern Bolivia eastward through Amazonian Brazil. The southwestern subspecies, C. t. unicolor, occurs in the lowlands of Bolivia, Paraguay, and southwestern Brazil (Ridgely & Tudor 1989, Kroodsma & Brewer 2005), but has recently expanded its range southward into northern Argentina (Contreras & Contreras 1986) and southeastern Brazil (Bencke et al. 2008). The eastern subspecies, nominate C. t. turdinus, occurs in a disjunct population along the coast of eastern Brazil.

Data gathering

To document the southward and upward range expansion of *C. turdinus*, we reviewed published distributional records and unpublished reports submitted to eBird (ebird.org) through mid-March 2017. The latitude and longitude of each location were obtained from the original source or, if absent, estimated by consulting either an ornithological gazetteer for each country (Paynter-Jr. & Traylor 1981, 1991, Stephens & Traylor-Jr. 1983, Paynter-Jr. 1985, 1989) or Google Earth (www.google. com/earth). The elevation of each location was obtained from the original source. Using ArcGIS software (www. arcgis.com), we constructed maps and calculated the area (km²) of its range in the 1980s, based on Ridgely & Tudor (1989), and the area of its current range, based on reports submitted to eBird through March 2017 plus the southernmost record published by Vargas-Peixoto & Bosholn (2016). Google Earth was used to measure the rate of range expansion as a straight line between two points and in a southward line between degrees of latitude.

RESULTS

A comparison of the past and present ranges of *C. turdinus* revealed that its range has expanded by about 24% (Fig. 1), from approximately 4,329,243 km² in the mid-1980s (Ridgely & Tudor 1989) to approximately 5,671,727 km² by March 2017 (eBird). In the following accounts we describe its range expansion by country.

Colombia

Although the northwestern subspecies, *C. t. hypostictus*, has not expanded its range northward, it has expanded its range northeastward along the Inírida River and Guaviare River in Guaviare (eBird; Fig. 1). The northeasternmost record is from Guainía-Puerto Inírida (04°01'S; 67°45'W), only about 5 km west of the Venezuelan border, on 24 August 2016 (Valerie La May, Marie Lister & Warren Stevens in eBird).

Peru

The northwestern subspecies, C. t. hypostictus, has expanded its range westward up into the Peruvian Andes. Fjeldså & Krabbe (1990) did not include it in their book on birds of the Andes because it had not been recorded in the temperate zone above 2300 m a.s.l. Ridgely & Tudor (1989) reported its maximum elevation range along the east slopes of the Andes as 1200 m a.s.l., which was repeated by Clements & Shany (2001). In 1998, Hornbuckle (1999) reported it at a site with an elevation range of 1300-1600 m a.s.l. east of Abra Patricia Pass, San Martín (05°41'S; 77°41'W), which may account for Kroodsma & Brewer (2005) reporting its maximum elevation as 1300 m a.s.l. Schulenberg et al. (2007) reported it occurring up to 1500 m a.s.l. In 2009, Robbins et al. (2011) observed it at an elevation of about 1700 m a.s.l. at Alto Materiato, Cusco (12°42'S; 72°53'W). It has now expanded its distribution dramatically upward to well over 3000 m a.s.l. in Cusco (several 2016 records in eBird), with a maximum elevation of about 4200 m a.s.l. at ACP Ábra Málaga Thastayoc, Cusco (13°09'S; 72°18'W), on 18 October 2014 (Celeste Morien in eBird).

Paraguay

The first record of *C. turdinus* in Paraguay was a specimen collected in 1928 on the west bank of the upper Paraguay



Figure 1. The known distribution of the Thrush-like Wren (*Campylorhynchus turdinus*) in the mid-1980s (A), based on Ridgely & Tudor (1989), and in February 2017 (B), based on observations reported to eBird (ebird.org) and Vargas-Peixoto & Bosholn (2016).

River at Puerto Guaraní in southeastern Alto Paraguay (21°17'S; 57°55'W; Zotta 1940). Given the paucity of specimen records at the time from the upper Paraguay River region, it remains uncertain whether the specimen was within the ancestral range of the species or represented an actively expanding population.

In July 1977, Robert Ridgely observed several along the Apa River in northern Concepción (Ridgely & Tudor 1989). The specific locality was not reported, so we assume it was in the vicinity of San Lázaro in northwestern Concepción (22°06'S; 57°58'W), which was relatively accessible at the time. By 1988 and 1989 C. turdinus had become common along both banks of the Paraguay River as far south as Puerto Militar (formerly Villa Militar) in northeastern Presidente Hayes (23°24'S; 57°28'W) and Concepción in western Concepción (23°24'S; 57°26'W; Hayes et al. 1990). Nesting was subsequently confirmed at Puerto Militar in 1991 (Contreras et al. 1993). Because no C. turdinus had been collected during extensive field work resulting in the collection of perhaps more than a thousand bird specimens in southeastern Alto Paraguay (e.g., Puerto La Victoria, formerly Puerto Casado; 22°17'S; 57°57'W), northeastern Presidente Hayes (e.g., Puerto Pinasco; 22°43'S; 57°57'W), and northern Concepción (e.g., Apa River; 22°05'S) up through 1945 (Paynter-Jr. 1989, Hayes 1995), all records south of 22°S almost certainly represented a subsequent range expansion rather than a previously undetected population.

In 1986 a specimen was collected 140 km west of the Paraguay River at Pozo Colorado in central Presidente Hayes (23°25'S; 58°50'W; Contreras & Contreras 1986), in a region of the Paraguayan Chaco where a few thousand bird specimens, but none of *C. turdinus*, had been collected prior to 1975 (Hayes 1995). Numerous individuals were seen in the area, indicating a population had recently become established. The first record for southern Presidente Hayes occurred at Estancia La Golondrina (24°59'S; 57°43'W) during 6–9 November 1995 (James Lowen). It is now widespread throughout the eastern Paraguayan Chaco (eBird).

On 16 July 1993, one was observed on the east side of the Paraguay River 5 km east of Villeta in western Central (25°30'S; 57°31'W; Contreras *et al.* 1993), providing the first record for southern Paraguay. The first for Bahía de Asunción, Central, which had been frequently visited by ornithologists since 1987, was noted in October 1998 (H.C., unpub. data).

In subsequent years C. turdinus spread rapidly throughout eastern Paraguay (eBird), although the first department records occurred sporadically rather than progressively southward. During 3-4 October 1989, six were observed at Puerto Olivares (25°09'S; 57°15'W), providing the first record for Cordillera (Paul Scharf). One was observed during 4-5 May 1990 somewhere between Curuguaty (24°35'S; 55°25'W) and Colonia Nueva Durango (24°15'S; 55°50'W), representing the first record for Canendiyú (Paul Scharf). On 8 June 1999 it was recorded at Ybytyruzú (25°50'S; 56°13'W), providing the first record for Guairá (Guyra Paraguay, in eBird). The first record for San Pedro occurred on 23 January 2000 at Laguna Blanca (23°49'S; 56°17'W; Guyra Paraguay in eBird). By 2000 it appeared in several areas of Alto Paraná, including Presidente Franco (27°03'S; 58°37'W; Nelson Pérez in Savigny 2010). On

22 January 2005 it was observed at Mamoreí (26°23'S; 57°02'W), representing the first record for Paraguarí (Guyra Paraguay in eBird). The first record for Amambay occurred on 24 March 2005, when it was noted south of Bella Vista Norte (22°10'S; 56°30'W; Guyra Paraguay in eBird). In 2005 it was observed at Estancia Tapytá (26°14'S; 55°58'W), providing the first record for Caazapá (Velázquez et al. 2016). The first records for Itapúa occurred on 18 February 2006 in the vicinity of Estación Biológica Kanguery (26°26'S; 55°48'W; Guyra Paraguay in eBird). During 2-4 February 2010 it was recorded at Estancia La Graciela (26°35'S; 56°49'W), providing the first record for Misiones (Silvia Centrón & Cristina Morales). By 2012 multiple C. turdinus had reached the southern border of Paraguay at Encarnación in southern Itapúa (27°21'S; 55°52'W; Smith et al. 2013). It was not recorded in Caaguazú until 9 January 2013, when it was reported from Rancho Rosalba (25°15'S; 56°17'W; A. Lesterhuis in eBird). The first record for Neembucú occurred on 16 September 2014, when one was observed at Humaitá (27°04'S; 58°30'W; Sergio Rios in eBird), in southwestern Paraguay.

In addition to expanding its range southward and eastward, *C. turdinus* has also expanded its range westward, albeit more slowly, into the dry Alto Chaco region of western Paraguay. The first record for Boquerón comprised a pair observed at Estancia Teniente Montania in eastern Boquerón (21°57'S; 60°07'W), representing the westernmost record in Paraguay, on 29 September 2016 (Alberto Esquivel in eBird).

Argentina

Dabbene (1910) reported a specimen collected in 1880 from Córdoba in Córdoba (31°24'S; 64°11'W), but Hellmayr (1934, p. 135) stated that the locality "can hardly be correct" and Zotta (1940) concurred. Thus, a sight record by Pablo Canevari at Parque Nacional Río Pilcomayo (25°04'S; 58°09'W) in eastern Formosa (Contreras & Contreras 1986) provided the first accepted record for Argentina. Unfortunately the date of Canevari's observation was not published, not even in his own book (Canevari et al. 1991), but occurred no later than the publication of Contreras & Contreras (1986). Canevari's sighting was subsequently verified by sightings of multiple birds in 1988 (Finch 1991) and 1993 (Fortabat et al. 1995). Canevari's sighting represented a remarkable southward range extension of at least 330 km since Ridgely's observations in 1977 along the Apa River of Paraguay (Ridgely & Tudor 1989). Assuming Canevari's sighting was in the year 1986, C. turdinus had extended its range southward at a rate of 36.7 km/yr from 1977-1986.

In subsequent decades C. turdinus continued

to disperse southward in the Argentinian Chaco. In September 2009, two vocalizing C. turdinus were observed at Puerto Las Palmas in eastern Chaco (27°03'S; 58°37'W; Bodrati et al. 2012). On 6 October 2016 a group of eight was building a nest at Isla del Cerrito in eastern Chaco (27°17'S; 58°37'W; Pagano & Bodrati 2016). And on 10 October 2012, two were observed at Puerto Antequeras in eastern Chaco (27°27'S; 58°51'W; Fabricio Gorleri in eBird), providing the southernmost record for Argentina. Since Ridgely's observations in 1977 along the Apa River of Paraguay (Ridgely & Tudor 1989), C. turdinus extended its range slightly west of south about 595 km at a rate of 17.1 km/yr and southward 593 km at a rate of 17 km/yr. And since its first arrival in the Argentinian Chaco in about 1986 (Contreras & Contreras 1986), C. turdinus extended its range slightly west of south 274 km at a rate of about 10.5 km/yr and southward 265 km at a rate of 10.2 km/yr.

The first record in northeastern Argentina occurred on 23 May 2003, when three *C. turdinus* were observed at Puerto Iguazú, Misiones (25°37'S; 54°35'W; Rey & Zurita 2004). The southernmost records from northeastern Argentina are from Posadas, Misiones (27°23'S; 55°57'W), where it was reported in four localities in 2016 (eBird).

In addition to expanding its range southward and eastward, *C. turdinus* continues to expand its range westward into the dry Argentinian Chaco, with the westernmost record at Bartolomé de las Casas, Formosa (25°24'S; 59°35'W), on 14 December 2016 (Sebastán Dardanelli in eBird).

There are midwinter records from July near the southernmost extent of its range at Posadas (Joel Martínez in eBird), suggesting that the southernmost populations are non-migratory or, possibly, partially migratory.

Brazil

In central Brazil, *C. turdinus* has expanded its range into the gap between Pará and Mato Grosso do Sul states since the 1980s (Fig. 1), but it is unclear whether the northwestern subspecies *C. t. hypostictus* or the southwestern subspecies *C. t. unicolor* inhabits this area.

In the isolated population along the coast of eastern Brazil, nominate *C. t. turdinus* has not expanded its range southward, but it has expanded its range northward (Fig. 1). The northernmost record is from Reserva Biológico de Saltinho, Pernambuco, Brazil (8°44'S; 35°11'W), on 30 October 2013 (Forest Rowland in eBird).

In 1941, a specimen of *C. t. unicolor* was collected on the east bank of the Paraguay River at Pôrto Quebracho (21°50'S; 57°53'W), in southwest Mato Grosso do Sul (Contreras *et al.* 1993), representing the southwesternmost record for Brazil (Naumburg 1930, Hellmayr 1934). This locality is about 60 km south of where the nearest specimen had been previously collected at Puerto Guaraní (21°17'S), Paraguay. Again, given the paucity of specimen records at the time from the upper Paraguay River region, it remains uncertain whether the specimen was within the ancestral range of the species or represented an actively expanding population.

Farther south, in southern Rio Grande do Sul, Helmut Sick (in Belton 1985) reported hearing a C. turdinus vocalizing at Fazenda da Invernada (31º05'S; 52°52'W), on 25 November 1972. According to Belton (1985, p. 105), Sick felt "absolutely sure of it, as voice is very easy to recognize with nothing similar to it". Nevertheless, the record was considered unreliable and rejected by Bencke et al. (2010). In 2008, a singing C. turdinus was heard at Foz do Iguaçu in central Paraná (25°37'S; 54°29'W; Bencke et al. 2008). A remarkable range extension occurred in 2015, when a singing C. turdinus was photographed at Santa Maria in central Rio Grande do Sul (29°40'S; 53°48'W; Vargas-Peixoto & Bosholn 2016), providing the southernmost confirmed record for the species. Although the authors did not assign it to a subspecies, photographs reveal the bird's unspotted creamy underparts, which are typical of C. t. unicolor, contrasting with the spotted underparts of nominate C. t. turdinus of coastal eastern Brazil (Ridgely & Tudor 1989, Sick 1993). Since Ridgely's observations in 1977 along the Apa River of Paraguay (Ridgely & Tudor 1989), by 2015 C. turdinus had extended its range slightly east of south 934 km at a rate of 24.6 km/yr and southward 841 km at a rate of 22.1 km/yr (Fig. 2).

DISCUSSION

Campylorhynchus turdinus is just one of several tropical bird species in southern South America that is rapidly expanding its range southward into subtropical latitudes (*e.g.*, Straube *et al.* 2006, 2007, Piacentini *et al.* 2009, del



Figure 2. Southward range expansion of the Thrush-like Wren (*Campylorhynchus turdinus*) illustrated by the southernmost record *vs.* year, based on data in the Results section.

Castillo et al. 2012, Pagano & Bodrati 2017). Vagrancy, the long-distance dispersal of individuals beyond their normal distribution or migratory path (e.g., Thomson 1964, Veit 2000), occurs less frequently among nonmigratory than migratory species of birds (Lees & Gilroy 2009). Data from eBird indicate that C. turdinus occurs near its southernmost limit in Argentina throughout the winter, indicating that it is non-migratory or, possibly, partially migratory. Vagrancy was thought to occur less frequently among cooperatively breeding than among non-cooperatively breeding species of birds (Zack 1990), but Rusk et al. (2013) provided evidence that vagrancy occurs just as frequently in cooperatively breeding species. Rabenold (1990) reported that C. turdinus breeds cooperatively, although no data have been published. Despite its apparent non-migratory and cooperatively breeding habits, long-distance vagrancy appears to be a life history trait in C. turdinus, and is presumably increasing as a consequence of rapid demographic population growth (Veit 2000).

It is difficult to attribute changes in the spatial distribution of any single species to either habitat or climate change. Because of its affinity for disturbed habitats, C. turdinus's rapid southward range expansion has been attributed to deforestation (Rey & Zurita 2004, Bodrati et al. 2012). The subtropical moist broadleaf forests of eastern Paraguay, southern Brazil, and northeastern Argentina have been subjected to extensive deforestation in recent decades (Hansen & DeFries 2004, Fleytas 2007, Huang et al. 2007, Aide et al. 2013, Hansen et al. 2013), plausibly facilitating the southward range expansion of C. tudinus. However, the rate of deforestation on the east slopes of the Andes, including the region east of Cusco, Peru, has been considerably slower (Aide et al. 2013, Zegarra & Gayoso 2015), suggesting that habitat change may not adequately account for the rapid upward range expansion of C. turdinus in Cusco, Peru.

The rapid range expansion of C. turdinus both southward and upward is consistent with the prediction that organisms are extending their geographic distribution toward higher latitudes and elevations as a consequence of global warming (Parmesan & Yohe 2003, Root et al. 2003, Hickling et al. 2006, Parmesan 2006, Chen et al. 2011). The region in which C. turdinus is expanding its range southward in southern South America is warming relatively rapidly (Easterling et al. 1997, Rosenblüth et al. 1997, Vincent et al. 2005). Because the northern boundaries of North American songbirds appear to be limited by winter nighttime temperatures (Root 1988), the southern boundaries of South American songbirds may also be limited by winter nighttime temperatures. If so, songbirds in southern South America may be able to extend their ranges southward as winter nighttime temperatures increase, which may be the case with C. turdinus and several other species of birds in southern

South America (*e.g.*, Straube *et al.* 2006, 2007, Piacentini *et al.* 2009, del Castillo *et al.* 2012, Pagano & Bodrati 2017). However, temperatures are not rising much in the Peruvian Andes (Easterling *et al.* 1997, Vincent *et al.* 2005), suggesting that climate change may not adequately account for the rapid upward range expansion of *C. turdinus* in Cusco, Peru. Perhaps habitat change and climate change combined best accounts for its rapid upward range expansion in Cusco, Peru.

Because tropical species of birds tend to have relatively small distributional ranges resulting in a high degree of endemicity, and occur in climatically stable environments where they tend to be K-selected with greater longevity and smaller clutch sizes, resulting in lower demographic flexibility, they are thought to be more vulnerable to anthropogenic changes in habitat and climate than temperate species of birds (Jetz et al. 2007, Şekercioğlu et al. 2012, Reif & Štěpánková 2016). Tropical birds may be adversely affected by climate change in many different ways, such as susceptibility to extreme weather events, habitat loss, emerging diseases, invasive species, and hunting (Jetz et al. 2007, Şekercioğlu et al. 2012, Botero 2015). Nevertheless, some tropical bird species, such as C. turdinus, may benefit from anthropogenic changes in the environment by expanding their ranges into disturbed habitats in response to habitat change or expanding their ranges toward higher latitudes and elevations in response to climate change. It remains uncertain which of these two drivers, or both combined, or if there is another yet to be identified, best explains the rapid range expansion of C. turdinus. More research is needed to evaluate whether range expansion southward and upward are general trends among a large number of bird species in South America, and what the drivers may be for such range expansion.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Jeff Gerbracht and the staff of eBird for providing us with a file of records from eBird Basic Dataset, Version: EBD relFeb-2017, Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, New York, Feb 2017. Patricia Capllonch and Linda Maberly assisted with providing literature.

REFERENCES

- Aide T.M., Clark M.L., Grau H.R., López-Carr D., Levy M.A., Redo D., Bonilla-Moheno M., Riner G., Andrade-Núñez M.J. & Muñiz M. 2013. Deforestation and reforestation of Latin America and the Caribbean (2001–2010). *Biotropica* 45: 262–271.
- Avendaño J.E., Cortés-Herrera J.O. Briceño-Lara E.R. & Rincón-Guarín D.A. 2013. Crossing or bypassing the Andes: a commentary on recent range extensions of cis-Andean birds to the west of the Andes of Colombia. *Orinoquia* 17: 207–214.

- Belton W. 1985. Birds of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. Part 2. Formicariidae through Corvidae. *Bulletin of the American Museum* of Natural History 180: 1–242.
- Bencke G.A., Dias R.A., Bugoni L., Agne C.E., Fontana C.S., Maurício G.N. & Machado D.B. 2010. Revisão e atualização da lista das aves do Rio Grande do Sul, Brasil. *Iheringia, Série Zoologia* 100: 519–556.
- Bencke G.A., Dias R.A. & Fontana C.S. 2008. Observações ornitológicas relevantes no Parque Nacional do Iguaçu e arredores, incluindo o primeiro registro de *Campylorhynchus turdinus* para o Paraná. *Atualidades Ornitológicas* 145: 6–7.
- Bodrati A., Areta J.I. & White E. 2012. La avifauna de La Posada y Reserva Puerto Bemberg, Misiones, Argentina. *Nuestras Aves* 57: 63–79.
- Botero E.U. 2015. *El cambio climático y sus efectos en la biodiversidad en América Latina*. Santiago: Comisión Económica para América Latina y el Caribe (CEPAL), Naciones Unidas.
- Brommer J.E. 2004. The range margins of northern birds shift polewards. *Annales Zoologici Fennici* 41: 391–397.
- Canevari M., Canevari P., Carrizo G.R., Harris G., Mata J.R. & Straneck R.J. 1991. *Nueva guía de las aves argentinas*. Buenos Aires: Fundación Acindar.
- Chambers L.E., Hughes L. & Weston M.A. 2005. Climate change and its impact on Australia's avifauna. *Emu* 105: 1–20.
- Chen I-C., Hill J.K., Ohlemüller R., Roy D.B. & Thomas C.D. 2011. Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. *Science* 333: 1024–1026.
- Clements J.F. & Shany N. 2001. A field guide to the birds of Peru. Temecula: Ibis Publishing Company.
- Contreras J.R. & Contreras A.O. 1986. Acerca de *Campylorhynchus turdinus unicolor* Wied en Paraguay y en la República Argentina (Aves: Trogloditidae [*sic*]). *Historia Natural* 6: 75–76.
- Contreras J.R., Contreras A.O. & Argaña J.E. 1993. Comentarios acerca de algunas especies de aves nuevas o poco conocidas para el Paraguay. *Nótulas Faunísticas* 43: 1–7.
- Dabbene R. 1910. Ornitología argentina. Catálogo sistemático y descriptivo de las aves de la República Argentina. Anales del Museo Nacional de Buenos Aires 18: 1–513.
- del Castillo H., Kruchowski S., Castillo L., Allende S.M. & Krauczuk E.R. 2012. Distribution of *Eupetomena macroura* in Paraguay, new records for Misiones Province, Argentina, and comments on its geographic expansion. *Atualidades Ornitológicas* 170: 12–15.
- Easterling D.R., Horton B., Jones P.D., Peterson T.C., Karl T.R., Parker D.E., Salinger M.J., Razuvayev V., Plummer N., Jamason P. & Folland C.K. 1997. Maximum and minimum temperature trends for the globe. *Science* 277: 364–367.
- Finch D.W. 1991. Novedades ornitológicas argentinas. *Nuestras Aves* 24: 24–25.
- Fjeldså J. & Krabbe N. 1990. *Birds of the high Andes*. Svendborg, Copenhagen: Zoological Museum, University of Copenhagen and Apollo Books.
- Fleytas M.C. 2007. Cambios en el paisaje: evolución de la cobertura vegetal en la región oriental del Paraguay, p. 77–88. In: Salas-Dueñas D.A. & Facetti J.F. (eds.). *Biodiversidad del Paraguay:* una aproximación a sus realidades. Asunción: Fundación Moisés Bertoni.
- Fortabat S.H., Gil G. & Marino G. 1995. Sobre las aves del Parque Nacional Río Pilcomayo con la adición de *Basileuterus flaveolus* a la avifauna argentina. *Hornero* 14: 69–70.
- Gibbons R.E., Benham P.M. & Maley J.M. 2011. Notes on birds of the high Andes of Peru. *Ornitología Colombiana* 11: 76–86.
- Hansen M.C. & DeFries R.S. 2004. Detecting long-term global forest change using continuous fields of tree-cover maps from 8-km Advanced Very High Resolution Radiometer (AVHRR) data for the years 1982–99. *Ecosystems* 7: 695–716.
- Hansen M.C., Potapov P.V., Moore R., Hancher M., Turubanova S.A., Tyukavina A., Thau D., Stehman S.V., Goetz S.J., Loveland T.R.,

Kommareddy A., Egorov A., Chini L., Justice C.O. & Townshend J.R.G. 2013. High-resolution global maps of 21st-century forest cover change. *Science* 342: 850–853.

- Hayes F.E. 1995. *Status, distribution and biogeography of the birds of Paraguay.* Monographs in Field Ornithology No. 1. Colorado Springs: American Birding Association.
- Hayes F.E., Goodman S.M. & López N.E. 1990. New or noteworthy bird records from the Matogrosense region of Paraguay. *Bulletin of* the British Ornithologists' Club 110: 94–103.
- Hellmayr C.E. 1934. Catalogue of birds of the Americas and the adjacent islands. *Field Museum of Natural History, Zoological Series* 13: 1–531.
- Henry P.-Y. 2005. New distributional records of birds from Andean and western Ecuador. *Cotinga* 23: 27–32.
- Henry P.-Y. 2012. Distributional and altitudinal range extensions for birds from Ecuador. *Boletín SAO* 20: 89–106.
- Hickling R., Roy D.B., Hill J.K., Fox R. & Thomas C.D. 2006. The distributions of a wide range of taxonomic groups are expanding polewards. *Global Change Biology* 12: 450–455.
- Hitch A.T. & Leberg P.L. 2007. Breeding distributions of North American bird species moving north as a result of climate change. *Conservation Biology* 21: 534–539.
- Hockey P.A.R., Sirami C., Ridley A.R., Midgley G.F. & Babiker H.A. 2011. Interrogating recent range changes in South African birds: confounding signals from land use and climate change present a challenge for attribution. *Diversity and Distributions* 17: 254–261.
- Hornbuckle J. 1999. The birds of Abra Patricia and the upper Río Mayo, San Martín, north Peru. *Cotinga* 12: 11–28.
- Huang C., Kim S., Altstatt A., Townshend J.R.G., Davis P., Song K., Tucker C.J., Rodas O., Yanosky A., Clay R. & Musinsky J. 2007. Rapid loss of Paraguay's Atlantic Forest and the status of protected areas – a Landsat assessment. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 106: 460–466.
- Huntley B., Collingham Y.C., Green R.E., Hilton G.M., Rahbek C. & Willis S.G. 2006. Potential impacts of climatic change upon geographical distributions of birds. *Ibis* 148: 8–28.
- Hutto R.L. 1998. Using landbirds as an indicator species group, p. 75– 92. In: Marzluff J.M. & Sallabanks R. (eds.). Avian conservation: research and management. Covelo: Island Press.
- Jetz W., Wilcove D.S. & Dobson A.P. 2007. Projected impacts of climate and land-use change on the global diversity of birds. *PLoS Biology* 5: e157.
- Kroodsma D.E. & Brewer D. 2005. Family Troglodytidae (wrens), p. 356–447. In: del Hoyo J., Elliott A. & Christie D. (eds.). *Handbook of the birds of the world, v. 10 (cuckoo-shrikes to thrushes).* Barcelona: Lynx Editions.
- La Sorte F.A. & Thompson-III F.R. 2007. Poleward shifts in winter ranges of North American birds. *Ecology* 88: 1803–1812.
- Lees A.C. & Gilroy J.J. 2009. Vagrancy mechanisms in passerines and near-passerines, p. 1–23. In: Slack R. (ed.). *Rare birds, where and when: an analysis of status and distribution in Britain and Ireland, v. 1 (sandgrouse to New World orioles)*. York: Rare Bird Books.
- Morrison M.L. 1986. Bird populations as indicators of environmental change, p. 429–451. In: Johnston R.F. (ed.). *Current ornithology*, v. 3. New York and London: Plenum Press.
- Naumburg E.M.B. 1930. The birds of Matto Grosso, Brazil. *Bulletin* of the American Museum of Natural History 60: 1–432.
- Olsen P. 2007. The state of Australia's birds. 2007. Birds in a changing climate. Supplement to *Wingspan* 14: 1–32.
- Pagano L.G. & Bodrati A. 2016. Ratona Grande (*Campylorhynchus turdinus*) en Isla del Cerrito, Chaco, Argentina. *Nuestras Aves* 61: 22.
- Pagano L.G. & Bodrati A. 2017. En menos de 15 años la Mosqueta Pico Pala (*Todirostrum cinereum*) se expandió por Misiones, Argentina. *Nuestras Aves* 62: 11–13.
- Parmesan C. 2006. Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 37: 637–669.

- Parmesan C. & Yohe G. 2003. A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. *Nature* 421: 37–42.
- Paynter-Jr. R.A. 1985. *Ornithological gazetteer of Argentina*. Cambridge: Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University.
- Paynter-Jr. R.A. 1989. Ornithological gazetteer of Paraguay. 2nd edn. Cambridge: Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University.
- Paynter-Jr. R.A. & Traylor-Jr. M.A. 1981 Ornithological gazetteer of Colombia. Cambridge: Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University.
- Paynter-Jr. R.A. & Traylor-Jr. M.A. 1991. Ornithological gazetteer of Brazil, v. I & 2. Cambridge: Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University.
- Piacentini V.Q., Ghizoni-Jr. I.R., Azevedo M.A.G., Carrano E., Borchardt-Jr. C.A., Amorim J.F. & Grose A.V. 2009. Ocorrência, expansão e distribuição do Maçarico-de-cara-pelada *Phimosus infuscatus* (Lichtenstein, 1823) (Ciconiiformes: Threskiornithidae) no estado de Santa Catarina, sul do Brasil. *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* 17: 107–112.
- Rabenold K.N. 1990. *Campylorhynchus* wrens: the ecology of delayed dispersal and cooperation in the Venezuelan savanna, p. 159–196.
 In: Stacey P.B. & Koenig W.D. (eds.). *Cooperative breeding in birds*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Reif J. & Štěpánková K. 2016. Global analysis of threat status reveals higher extinction risk in tropical than in temperate bird sister species. *European Journal of Ecology* 2: 21–34.
- Rey N. & Zurita G. 2004. Primer registro de la Ratona Grande (*Campylorhynchus turdinus*) en la província de Misiones, Argentina. *Nuestras Aves* 48: 21–22.
- Ridgely R.S. & Tudor G. 1989. *The birds of South America, v. 1. The oscine passerines*. Austin: University of Texas Press.
- Robbins M.B., Geale D., Walker B., Davis T.J., Combe M., Eaton M.D. & Kennedy K.P. 2011. Foothill avifauna of the upper Urubamba Valley, dpto. Cusco, Peru. *Cotinga* 33: OL34–45.
- Root T. 1988. Energy constraints on avian distributions and abundances. *Ecology* 69: 330–339.
- Root T.L., Price J.T., Hall K.R., Schneider S.H., Rosenzweig C. & Pounds J.A. 2003. Fingerprints of global warming on wild animals and plants. *Nature* 421: 57–60.
- Rosenblüth B., Fuenzalida H.A. & Aceituno P. 1997. Recent temperature variations in southern South America. *International Journal of Climatology* 17: 67–85.
- Rusk C.L., Walters E.L. & Koenig W.D. 2013. Cooperative breeding and long-distance dispersal: a test using vagrant records. *PLoS* ONE 8: e58624.
- Savigny C. 2010. Aportes al conocimiento de la avifauna del Parque Nacional Iguazú y alrededores. *Nuestras Aves* 55: 20–22.
- Schulenberg T.S., Stotz D.F., Lane D.F., O'Neill J.P. & Parker-III T.A. 2007. *Birds of Peru. Revised and updated edition*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Şekercioğlu Ç.H., Primack R.B. & Wormworth J. 2012. The effects of climate change on tropical birds. *Biological Conservation* 148: 1–18.
- Sick H. 1993. *Birds in Brazil: a natural history*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Smith P., Derna R., Wainwright B., Bromfield G., Nossent R. & Betuel A. 2013. Noteworthy Paraguayan records and range extensions of birds from the city of Encarnación, departamento Itapúa, Paraguay. *Atualidades Ornitológicas* 174: 10–13.
- Solano-Ugalde A. & Real-Jibaja G.J. 2010. New distributional bird records from the eastern Andean slopes of Ecuador. *Check List* 6: 326–329.
- Stephens L. & Traylor-Jr. M.A. 1983. Ornithological gazetteer of Peru. Cambridge: Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard University.
- Straube F.C., Urben-Filho A., Deconto L.R. & Patrial E.W. 2007. *Fluvicola nengeta* (Linnaeus, 1766) nos estados do Paraná e Mato

Grosso do Sul e sua expansão de distribuição geográfica pelo sul do Brasil. *Atualidades Ornitológicas* 137: 33–38.

- Straube F.C., Urben-Filho A. & Piacentini V.Q. 2006. O Beija-flortesoura *Eupetomena macroura* (Gmelin, 1788) e sua ampliação de distribuição pelo sul do Brasil. *Atualidades Ornitológicas* 132: 1–4.
- Thomas C.D. & Lennon J.J. 1999. Birds extend their ranges northwards. *Nature* 399: 213.
- Thomson A.L. (ed.). 1964. A new dictionary of birds, covering the birds of the world. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Vargas-Peixoto D. & Bosholn M. 2016. A new southern limit for the distribution of the Thrush-like Wren, *Campylorhynchus turdinus* (Aves: Troglodytidae). *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* 24: 58–61.
- Veit R.R. 2000. Vagrants as the expanding fringe of a growing population. *Auk* 117: 242–246.
- Velásquez M., Ramírez F. & Fernández S. 2006. Lista de aves de la Reserva Natural Privada Tapyta, p. 209–216. In: Feltes R.P. (ed.). *Reserva Natural Privada Tapyta. Plan de Manejo 2006–2010.* Asunción: Fundación Moisés Bertoni para la Conservación de la Naturaleza (FMB) and United States Agency for International Development (USAID).
- Vincent L.A., Peterson T.C., Barros V.R., Marino M.B., Rusticucci M., Carrasco G., Ramirez E., Alves L.M., Ambrizzi T., Berlato M.A., Grimm A.M., Marengo J.A., Molion L., Moncunill D.F., Rebello E., Anunciação Y.M.T., Quintana J., Santos J.L., Baez J., Coronel G., Garcia J., Trebejo I., Bidegain M., Haylock M.R. & Karoly D. 2005. Observed trends in indices of daily temperature extremes in South America 1960–2000. *Journal of Climate* 18: 5011–5023.
- Zack S. 1990. Coupling delayed breeding with short-distance dispersal in cooperatively breeding birds. *Ethology* 86: 265–286.
- Zegarra E. & Gayoso J.P. 2015. Cambios en la agricultura y deforestación en la selva peruana: análisis basado en el IV censo agropecuario, p. 225–286. In: Escobal J., Fort R. & Zegarra E. (eds.). Agricultura peruana: nuevas miradas desde el censo agropecuario. Lima: Grupo de Análisis para el Desarrollo.
- Zotta A.R. 1940. Una nueva especie y otra confirmada para la fauna del Paraguay. *Hornero* 7: 364–365.

Associate Editor: Fábio R. Amaral.

New and noteworthy records of waterbirds from Paraguay

Arne J. Lesterhuis^{1,2,4}, Robert P. Clay¹ & Paul Smith³

¹ Western Hemisphere Shorebird Reserve Network, Rodríguez de Francia 869, Asunción, Paraguay.

² Guyra Paraguay, Av. Carlos Bóveda, Parque Ecológico Capital Verde, Asunción, Paraguay.

³ FAUNA Paraguay, Encarnación, Dpto. Itapúa, Paraguay and Para La Tierra, Centro IDEAL, Mariscal Estigarribia 321 c/ Tte. Capurro, Pilar, Dpto. Neembucú, Paraguay.

⁴ Corresponding author: arnelesterhuis@gmail.com

Received on 26 October 2017. Accepted on 06 March 2018.

ABSTRACT: Previously unpublished new and noteworthy Paraguayan reports of Anatidae, Ardeidae, Podicipedidae and Rallidae are provided. The first documented records of Speckled Teal *Anas flavirostris*, Yellow-billed Pintail *Anas georgica*, Blue-winged Teal *Anas discors* and Red-gartered Coot *Fulica armillata* are detailed with a review of previous undocumented reports of the species. Additional records of a further five rarely-recorded waterbird species are also reported: Silvery Grebe *Podiceps occipitalis*, Great Grebe *Podiceps major*, Little Blue Heron *Egretta caerulea*, Cinnamon Teal *Anas cyanoptera* and Red Shoveler *Anas platalea*. The new additions add up to a total of 123 waterbird species documented to occur in Paraguay.

KEY-WORDS: Anatidae, Ardeidae, distribution, Podicipedidae, Rallidae.

INTRODUCTION

Less is known about waterbirds in the Neotropics than in any other region of the world (Wetlands International 2012). Within South America, data are especially limited for Paraguay, where very few studies of waterbirds have been undertaken despite 26% of the avifauna being wetland dependent (Clay et al. 2004). Paraguayan waterbirds are distributed amongst 19 families, of which 60% (74 species) are considered resident (Guyra Paraguay 2004). However, even among these resident species field observations by the authors and others suggest some unusual patterns of movement, with species becoming momentarily abundant in a given locality or region and then become rare or even completely unrecorded for many years. With Paraguay's position at the centre of the continent, the documentation of such records takes on renewed significance for helping to understand regional movements and population dynamics.

Previously unpublished waterbird counts have been taking place in Paraguay since 2001, stimulated in part by the Neotropical Waterbird Census. These have led to a number of new and interesting records, including four species which are documented here for the first time in Paraguay (three Anatidae and one Rallidae). Furthermore, we present a full summary of records for five other rarely recorded waterbirds (two Podicipedidae, one Ardeidae and two Anatidae) that show irregular patterns of occurrence. We also speculate on some of the factors that may influence their movements.

METHODS

The Paraguayan waterbird records presented here were compiled from the published literature, museum specimens, on-line databases like Worldbirds (www. worldbirds.org) and e-Bird (www.ebird.org), the Guyra Paraguay Biodiversity Database, the authors' own field observations and through consultations with ornithologists and birdwatchers. Abbreviations used in the text are: dept. – departamento (a geopolitical division of Paraguay); USNM – National Museum of Natural History, Washington, USA (formerly the US National Museum of Natural History); UMMZ – University of Michigan Museum of Zoology (Ann Arbor, USA). Nomenclature follows the South American Classification Committee (Remsen-Jr. *et al.* 2017).

Newly documented species

Speckled Teal *Anas flavirostris* (Anatidae): a specimen of *Anas flavirostris* in the US National Museum of Natural History (USNM 59140) labelled "Paraguay" was supposedly collected by Captain T.J. Page in the mid-1800s during a US Navy exploration of the La Plata River Basin. However, no additional locality information was provided (J. Dean, in litt. 2004), and Page did not include it in his appendix of "natatores - swimming birds" collected during the expedition (Page 1859: 602). If this specimen was indeed collected by Page, then it was probably collected outside of the current borders of Paraguay. Page collected widely in southern South America, at a time when the political limits of Paraguay were much greater than they are today. Given that the species is much more common to the south, the balance of probability is that he collected the bird within what is now Argentine territory. Berlepsch (1887) included the species in a list of birds of likely occurrence in Paraguay, but it was omitted from the next list of Paraguayan species (Bertoni 1901). Phillips (1923) categorically stated that the species "does not occur" in the country.

Consequently, the first concrete mention of "Paraguay" in the species range appears to be Zotta (1935). This was cited by Laubmann (1939) who added that the presence of the species in Paraguay had not yet been established. Bertoni (1939) provided the first locality of "R. Paraguay", having omitted the species entirely from Bertoni (1914), but no details accompanied the record. More recently undocumented observations of 14 individuals were reported during July 1991 in the Paraguayan Chaco (López 1992) and 80 individuals at Laguna Millón in July 1992 (López 1993).

Hayes (1995) considered the occurrence of Speckled Teal in Paraguay to be hypothetical. He stated that though it is often cited to occur in Paraguay, no details of records are available. However, he added that it "may occur as an austral migrant".

On 26 May 2001, R.P.C. observed a single Speckled Teal with a group of eight White-cheeked Pintail Anas bahamensis at Campo María, Presidente Hayes dept. (22°34'1''S; 59°20'52''W). The bird was easily identified because of its combination of bright yellow sides to the bill, clearly rounded dark brown head, and speckled breast contrasting with the clear unmarked flanks. In flight, the bright green speculum bordered buff in front and narrowly with white at the rear was clearly visible in the otherwise dark brown wing. The species was considered "pending documentation" on the basis of this well-described report (Guyra Paraguay 2004) and was later documented photographically at the same location by Hemme Batjes (Fig. 1A) on 29 July 2006 (P.S., H. del Castillo, H. Batjes and A. Betuel). Additional subsequent records are provided in Table 1. Although the nominate race of A. flavirostris appears to be a partial austral migrant (Blake 1977, Johnsgard 1978, Madge & Burn 1988), in Paraguay the species is apparently of only intermittent occurrence. We feel that it is best considered an irregular vagrant to Paraguay.

Yellow-billed Pintail *Anas georgica* (Anatidae): Berlepsch (1887) included the species in a list of birds of likely occurrence in Paraguay. It was omitted from the next list of Paraguayan species (Bertoni 1901). Bertoni (1914) listed the species for "Alto Paraná" but he never published any details of any record.

Wetmore (1926) referred to a small series of specimens from Chile, Argentina, Paraguay and Peru, but failed to provide information as to where these specimens are located, and none are located in the USNM where he worked. Zotta (1935) then included "Paraguay" in the range, perhaps following Bertoni (1914), who was in close contact with him. This locality was then updated to "Alto Paraná (Puerto Bertoni)" in Bertoni (1939), suggestive that it was a first-hand record by the author, who resided there.

According to Laubmann (1939) and Hayes (1995), Kerr (1892) reported the species from Paraguay from "near Fortín Donovan", but the coordinates provided (stated to be "approximate" by Kerr 1892) place the locality in Formosa province, Argentina.

López (1992) reported flocks of 60 and 24 from the central Chaco during July 1992, but Hayes considered these large numbers to be "unsubstantiated". Given the lack of available details for any of these records, Hayes (1995) opted to treat the species as hypothetical, noting however that it possibly occurs in Paraguay as an austral migrant.

On 16 June 2004, A.J.L. observed a pair of A. georgica among a flock of A. bahamensis and Black-headed Duck Heteronetta atricapilla, at Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept. (24°08'S; 59°00'W). They were readily identifiable by their large size, with overall mottled brown plumage, a much paler chin and foreneck, and yellow bill with black culmen stripe. The following day (17 June 2004), a bird was observed flying in a westerly direction at the same site (A.J.L.). The first documented record is of a single bird photographed (Fig. 1B) loafing with a group of A. bahamensis at Campo María, Presidente Hayes dept. on 13 October 2008 (P.S., Hugo del Castillo and M. Martin). There is one subsequent record, of two birds with a small flock of A. bahamensis in the Bahía de Asunción, Central dept. (25°20'S; 57°35'W) on 26 April 2009 (R.P.C.). Anas georgica spinicauda is considered an austral migrant, wintering into southern Brazil (Johnsgard 1978, Madge & Burn 1988). Individuals occurring in Paraguay are most likely to be of this subspecies, and the species can be considered of intermittent occurrence or at best an irregular vagrant.

Blue-winged Teal *Anas discors* (Anatidae): Hayes (1995) considered two female or immature *Anas* observed in the Bahía de Asunción on the 15 February 1989 to possibly refer to Blue-winged Teal, but most likely Cinnamon Teal *A. cyanoptera*. This appears to be the only reference to Blue-winged Teal potentially occurring in Paraguay.

On the 13 January 2003, R.P.C. found a drake


Figure 1. (**A**) Distant individual of *Anas flavirostris* at Campo Maria Private Nature Reserve, Cuenca Upper Yacaré Sur, Presidente Hayes dept. (Photo author: Hemme Batjes); (**B**) Adult *Anas georgica*, Campo Maria Private Nature Reserve, Cuenca Upper Yacaré Sur, Presidente Hayes dept. (Photo author: Paul Smith); (**C**) Adult male *Anas discors*, Laguna Capitán, Presidente Hayes dept. (Photo author: Oscar Bordón); (**D**) Adult *Fulica armillata*, Estancia La Graciela, Misiones dept. (Photo author: Arne Lesterhuis).

Date	Locality	Number of individuals	Observer
Speckled Teal (Anas flat	virostris)		
16 January 2004	Laguna Buena Vista (22°36'22''S; 59°42'00''W)	1	J. Klavins
16–17 June 2004	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	At least 2	A.J.L., H. del Castillo, M. de Bernard, M. Montiel
02 July 2005	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	2	R.P.C.
Red-gartered Coot (Ful	ica armillata)		
17 June 2004	Laguna Sanidad, Presidente Hayes dept.	13	A.J.L.
09 October 2004	Laguna Sanidad, Presidente Hayes dept.	19	R.P.C.
02–04 July 2005	Laguna Sanidad, Presidente Hayes dept.	13	R.P.C., H. del Castillo
23 September to 14 October 2004	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	1–3	R.P.C., A.J.L., P.S., H. del Castillo
20 September 2009	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	1	R.P.C., A.J.L.
Silvery Grebe (Podiceps	occipitalis)		
15 June 2004	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, President Hayes dept.	7 (non-breeding plumage)	A.J.L.
17 June 2004	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, President Hayes dept.	61	A.J.L.
13 July 2004	Chaco Lodge, President Hayes dept.	175	Lesterhuis et al. (2005)
13 July 2004	Campo Maria, President Hayes dept.	78	Lesterhuis et al. (2005)
16 October 2005	Campo Maria, President Hayes dept.	100+	P.S., R.P.C., R. Elsam, R. McCann

Table 1. New records of Speckled Teal Anas flavirostris, Red-gartered Coot Fulica armillata, Silvery Grebe Podiceps occipitalis, Little Blue Heron Egretta caerulea, Cinnamon Teal Anas cyanoptera, Red Shoveler Anas platalea in Paraguay.

Date	Locality	Number of individuals	Observer
14 July 2006	Campo Maria, President Hayes dept.	6	P.S., H. del Castillo, A. Holman
27 July 2006 Little Blue Heron (<i>Egr</i>	Campo Maria, President Hayes dept. Petta caerulea)	1	Adam Betuel
20 April 2001	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	1 (non-breeding adult)	A.J.L., F. Fragano
06 February 2005 21 February 2010 10 October 2010	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept. Bahía de Asunción, Central dept. Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	1 (immature) 1 (immature) 1 (immature)	R.P.C. R.P.C. R.P.C., A.J.L., H. del Castillo
30 October 2010	Cercanías del Rió Aquidaban, Amambay dept.	1 (adult)	O. Rodríguez
02 July 2012 19 August 2012 13 December 2014	Campo María, Presidente Hayes dept. Asunción, Central dept. Asunción, Central dept.	1 (immature) 1 (adult) 1 (adult)	P.S. R.P.C. R.P.C.
10 November 2015 23 July–14 Sep 2016	Asunción, Central dept. Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	l (adult) 1 (immature)	R.P.C. R.P.C., O. Bordon, J.L. Mendez, A. Martin
Cinnamon Teal (Anas	cyanoptera)		Mendez, A. Martin
May 1997	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	a few individuals (including adult males)	H. del Castillo
20-25 July 1999	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	1 male	H. del Castillo
16 June 2004	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	2 pairs	A.J.L., H. del Castillo
02–03 July 2005	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	2 pairs and a female	R.P.C., H. del Castillo, L. López
Red Shoveler (Anas pla	atalea)		
May 1997	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	Up to 30 individuals (pair shot by hunters photographed)	H. del Castillo
20–25 July 1999	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	Few individuals	H. del Castillo
05–16 May 2004	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	1 male (presumably the same bird? Remains later found on 21 May)	R.P.C., A.J.L., H. del Castillo
30 May 2004	Estancia La Graciela, Misiones dept.	12	H. del Castillo, M. de Bernard, M. Montiel, A. Stroessner
03 June 2004	Estancia La Graciela, Misiones dept.	7	A.J.L., H. del Castillo, R. Elsam, M. Ibarra

Date	Locality	Number of individuals	Observer
05 June 2004	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	3 (adult male and female, and an immature male)	R.P.C.
15–18 June 2004	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	125	A.J.L., H. del Castillo, M. de Bernard, M. Montiel
14 July 2004	Laguna Campo Leon, Presidente Hayes dept.	8	A.J.L., E. Coconier
29 June–04 July 2005	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	2 males	R.P.C., P.S., C. Morales, S. Centrón, L. López, H. Batjes, C. Hesse
03 July 2005	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	950	R.P.C., H. del Castilo, L. López, S. Centrón, H. Cabral Beconi
02 September 2005	Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept.	<1000	H. del Castillo, H. Cabral Beconi, R. Zarza, F. Fragano
26 April 2009	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	18	R.P.C.
21 June 2009	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	2 males	P.S.
05 October 2009	Bahía de Asunción, Central dept.	1	R.P.C., A.J.L., M. Jeffrey, K. Pierson
07 July 2015	Laguna Lucero, Presidente Hayes dept. (22°33'S; 59°26'W).	10	A.J.L., H. Cabral Beconi

Blue-winged Teal in the company of c. 100 Ringed Teal Callonetta leucophrys and Brazilian Teal Amazonetta brasiliensis at Campo María, Presidente Hayes dept. The bird was easily identified through a combination of small size, longish body, bluish-grey head contrasting with warm brown underparts heavily marked with dark spotting, white facial crescent, white flank patch and black vent. In flight, the pale blue forewing, bordered by a white greater covert bar (broadening distally) and green speculum were obvious, while the largely white underwing with broad blackish leading edge was also conspicuous. An adult male, was observed at Laguna Capitán, Presidente Hayes dept. (22°32'S; 59°40'W) during November 2004 by N. López (pers. comm. 2005). The first documented record of the species in Paraguay was a male at Campo Leon (22°34'S; 59°32'W) photographed by O. Bordon on 6 August 2016 (Fig. 1C).

Anas discors is found with some regularity as far south as Argentina (Mazar-Barnett & Pearman 2001), thus its occurrence in Paraguay is not surprising. All three records have been in relative proximity and given that the species can live for over 20 years (USGS Patuxent Wildlife Research Center 2015), it is possible that the records refer to the same individual.

Red-gartered Coot *Fulica armillata* (Rallidae): Hayes (1995) considered the occurrence of this species in Paraguay as hypothetical based on a lost specimen collected by Félix Posner at Monte Sociedad Colony (now Benjamín Aceval), Presidente Hayes dept. (Bertoni 1930). In that publication, Bertoni (1930) stated that he had never recorded the species in the forested area of the Oriental region. Bertoni's (1939) listing of Villa Hayes is in reference to the same record. However, numerous previous citations of the species in Paraguay also exist.

Vieillot (1817) described the species based on Azara 448 "Focha de ligas roxas" and gave the type locality as "Paraguay", but in fact Azara (1802) states that his two specimens came from Buenos Aires, Argentina and he makes no mention of the species in Paraguay, contra Hartlaub (1854) and Laubmann (1939). Hartlaub (1854) and Berlepsch (1887) included the species for Paraguay based on Azara 448, but also cite a specimen from "Misiones" Paraguay collected by Bonpland, and deposited in the Museum d'Histoire Naturelle de Paris, though we were unable to trace this specimen. Though Aimé Bonpland lived in the town of Santa María de Fé in Paraguay for many years, he also spent much of his time in Corrientes, Argentina (at that time part of Paraguay) and thus the exact collection locality of this bird is of some relevance. Subsequent to this, it was also included in the Paraguayan avifauna by Sharpe (1894), Bertoni (1901, 1914), Ihering (1904), Peters (1934) and Hellmayr & Conover (1942), amongst others. In August 1995, the species was reported by Kevin Burns at Rancho

Chaco (Presidente Hayes dept.), but no further detail of the record was provided. However there have been very few concrete, well-documented reports.

On the 30 May 2004, H. del Castillo, M. de Bernard, A. Stroessner and M. Montiel found a *F. armillata* with eight White-winged Coots *Fulica leucoptera* in a small artificial lagoon at Estancia La Graciela, Misiones Department (26°34'52''S; 56°49'18''W). The bird was still present on 03 June 2004, when it was also seen by A.J.L., J. Klavins, R. Elsam, A. Spiridonoff and M. Ibarra. This bird was documented by photos taken by A.J.L. which clearly show the wine-red band separating the rather broad yellowish bill from the frontal shield (Fig. 1D). The bird was also noticeably larger than the accompanying *F. leucoptera*. Additional subsequent records are provided in Table 1.

The population of northeastern Argentina is considered to consist of austral migrant birds (Taylor 1998). In Paraguay it appears to occur in small numbers as a rare but regular austral migrant during the austral winter, probably as part of the same northward movement.

Noteworthy records

Silvery Grebe *Podiceps occipitalis* (Podicipedidae): Hayes *et al.* (2004) summarized records of the species in Paraguay to that point, considering *P. occipitalis* to be an uncommon austral migrant to Paraguay. He reported one individual at Estancia Golondrina, Presidente Hayes dept. (24°56'S; 57°42'W) and observations of up to ten birds at Laguna Salada, Presidente Hayes dept. (22°32'S; 59°18'W). Details of additional new records, including flocks of 175 and 78 birds simultaneously in the central Chaco (Lesterhuis *et al.* 2005), are provided in Table 1.

It seems likely that *P. occipitalis* has been somewhat overlooked in Paraguay, occurring as an irregular and irruptive austral migrant. Large numbers, such as those observed in 2004 and 2005, seem to occur during very cold winters and are most likely to be observed in the Paraguayan Chaco west of the Paraguay River.

Great Grebe *Podiceps major* (Podicipedidae): Bertoni (1901) and presumably also Ihering (1904) listed the species for Paraguay on the basis of Azara No. 443 "Macá Cornudo". Azara (1805) does not clarify the origin of his birds, but does state in the introduction to the family that he "described them all from Paraguay" and that he "released them in his room". Schlegel (1867) reported two specimens from "Paraguay" in "perfect plumage", one of which is sexed as a male, but no more details were provided and we have been unable to trace them. Berlepsch (1887) listed the species with a query, Bertoni (1914, 1939) listed it as requiring confirmation, and the species was omitted entirely by Laubmann (1939).

The first verifiable Paraguayan records of the species

were specimens collected 235 km W of Río Negro (Presidente Hayes dept.) in June and September 1939 (Storer 1989). One of these birds was a juvenile with wings too short for flight, suggestive of local breeding (Storer 1989, Hayes 1995). Two further specimens in USNM (59894, 59896) with locality "Paraguay, Santa Fe, Rio Salado" seem certain to have come from Argentina and not Paraguay (Storer 1989). Contreras et al. (1989a, 1989b) provided a review of Paraguayan records of the species until that point, citing additional records from Lago Ypoá, Paraguarí dept., on 27 August 1989; the Paraná River at Refugio Biológico Mbaracayú, Canindeyú dept. (28 August to 09 September 1985); Ruta Transchaco km 416, Boquerón dept. (07 December 1990); the Paraguay River near the mouth of the Bermejo River (07 July 1992) and the Paraguay River at Puerto Naranjito (17 September 1992), both at Neembucú dept.

Additional subsequent records include one individual on 25 July 2009 at Laguna Blanca (Smith *et al.* 2016), one individual observed at Bahía de Asunción on 10 and 14 October 2010 (R.P.C., A.J.L., P.S. and H. del Castillo) and three at Laguna León (Chaco Central) on 11 July 2012 and 26 August 2012 (R.P.C.).

This species seems to occur fairly regularly in the country. However, the species is not resident and the pattern of records is not suggestive of migration so much as random dispersal or nomadism. Consequently, we consider this species to be a regular vagrant in Paraguay, noting that it might occasionally breed when conditions are suitable.

Little Blue Heron *Egretta caerulea* (Ardeidae): first listed for Paraguay in a catalogue by Pinto (1938), with no details provided, and then by Bertoni (1939) who cited it as his source. Hellmayr & Conover (1948) specifically stated that the species had "never been recorded in Paraguay" and the country was subsequently omitted from the range of the species in an updated edition of the same catalogue (Pinto 1978), suggesting a retraction of the earlier report.

The first record with a locality is thus Peris & Suárez (1985) who reported small flocks of 2–3 birds in southern Presidente Hayes dept. along the Ruta Trans Chaco between km 100 and km 260 during December 1983. However, Hayes (1995) considered these as hypothetical due to a lack of details. The first documented record was a non-breeding individual photographed by F. Hayes on 18 August 1988 at Puerto Bahía Negra, Alto Paraguay dept. (Hayes *et al.* 1990). Subsequently, R. Ryan observed one bird at Ruta Trans Chaco km 79, President Hayes dept., on 08 August 1994 (Hayes 1995). Additional unpublished records are provided in Table 1. This species seems to be occurring with increasing frequency in central South America and may be undergoing range expansion. For the time being we consider this species to be an

increasingly regular vagrant in Paraguay.

Cinnamon Teal *Anas cyanoptera* (Anatidae): Berlepsch (1887) included the species in his list of "potential" additions to the Paraguayan avifauna. Bertoni (1914, 1939) however, included the species as confirmed in Paraguay, though he provided no locality or reference to support this. Hayes (1995) reported just two localities for the species, one of which "near Fortín Donovan" (Kerr 1892) is actually in Argentina according to the coordinates provided. Consequently, the first documented record is a specimen of the subspecies *A. c. cyanoptera* collected 170 km W of Puerto Casado on 01 March 1938 (UMMZ 96201) (Storer 1989).

Two additional specimens of Cinnamon Teal are purportedly from Paraguay. A specimen labelled as "*Anas cyanoptera* or *Anas discors*" in the Jacob Unger Museum in Filadelfia, Boquerón Department, is clearly this species, identifiable by the large broad bill, plain head pattern and rufous wash to the plumage, especially on the flanks and breast sides. Although no locality data are provided, all specimens in the museum were collected by Jacob Unger, who is only known to have collected in the central Paraguayan Chaco. An additional specimen held in the USNM (USNM 571248) was collected during the 1850s or 1860s by Captain T.J. Page of the US Navy Steamer Water Witch. The only locality information is "Paraguay", but the specimen probably originates from Argentina.

The latest records of the species are all from the same locality, Laguna Sanidad, Estero Patiño, Presidente Hayes dept. Details are provided in Table 1. This species is known from very few records of a small number of individuals from March to July. We consider this species to be a rare and irregular straggler to Paraguay, with records representing overshooting migrants from further south.

Red Shoveler *Anas platalea* (Anatidae): first reported for Paraguay by Azara (1802) as his No. 431 "Pato Espátula", where he notes that "Noséda killed two of three birds in Paraguay during July". Padre Nóseda was based at San Ignacio, Misiones dept., and this may be presumed to be the collection site. Berlepsch (1887), Bertoni (1901, 1914, 1939), Ihering (1904) and Hellmayr & Conover (1948) then all listed the species for Paraguay, without providing any additional locality data.

Hayes (1995) listed six reports of Red Shoveler in Paraguay, one of which from the vicinity of Fortín Donovan (Kerr 1892) is actually in Argentina, according to the coordinates provided. The author reported his own sight records of a single bird at Estancia La Golondrina, Presidente Hayes dept. on 09 July 1989; a pair at Bahía de Asunción, Central dept. on 11 January 1989, a female only at the same locality on 18 January 1989 and a single female on 15 February 1989. Additionally, he reported three older specimen records, one held in the UMMZ (a male, 105029) and two in the USNM (a male and female, USNM 390658 and 399450). An additional specimen record, a female collected by Alberto Schulze and Jacob Unger on 17 February 1939, 170 km W of Puerto Casado (UMMZ 105030) was apparently overlooked by Hayes (J. Hinshaw, *in litt.* 2004). It would appear that all of these are from the same series of specimens, as all four birds were collected in February 1939, at least three from the same general area (there is no locality information for USNM 399450; J. Dean, *in litt.* 2004, J. Hinshaw, *in litt.* 2004). Additional subsequent records are provided in Table 1.

Hayes (1995) considered Red Shoveler to be a breeding resident, presumably on the basis of the records in January and February. However, we are not aware of any evidence of breeding, and the recent records in discrete windows of time, sometimes involving quite large numbers, suggests the species may be somewhat nomadic, mainly during winter and in response to favourable local conditions.

DISCUSSION

With these new additions to the list of Paraguayan avifauna, including the recently added gull and tern species described in Clay et al. (2017), the total of true waterbird species in Paraguay is 123, comprising 19 families. Most of these new additions are a direct result of a growing interest in birding amongst Paraguayans, leading to a "mini-revival" of waterbird watching in the country. The subsequent increase in field effort is having a positive effect on the amount of data available to researchers and previously undetected patterns of movement are beginning to emerge. Whilst it is still too early to begin to formulate hypotheses, the signs for being able to do so in the near future are positive. On the other hand, just as interest in the local fauna is beginning to take off, the country is also facing severe environmental challenges with accelerating deforestation rates in the Chaco region (one of the hotspots for "waterbirding") and the draining of wetlands and seasonally flooded grasslands in southern Paraguay amongst the most serious conservation issues affecting the country and its waterbird populations. The availability and publication of data that contributes to a better understanding of the patterns and processes affecting waterbird distribution in Paraguay is thus an obligation to field researchers working in the country.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

James Dean (Smithsonian Institution) and Janet Hinshaw (UMMZ) checked the identification and label and

catalogue details of Paraguayan specimens. Also, thanks to current and former staff and members of Guyra Paraguay that joined fieldtrips and/or shared their observations (J. Klavins, H. del Castillo, M. de Bernard, M. Montiel, R Elsam, F. Fragano, L. López, A. Stroessner, E. Coconier, S. Centrón, H. Cabral Beconi, R. Zarza). P.S. is grateful to the tour participants on FAUNA Paraguay tours during which some of these species were recorded. P.S. thanks the PRONII program of CONACYT for its support. R.P.C. and A.J.L. thank Wetlands International and the Canadian Wildlife Service for the financial support to Guyra Paraguay to implement the Neotropical Waterbird Census. Finally, the authors want to thank Hemme Batjes and Oscar Bordón for their kind permission to use their photos for this article.

REFERENCES

- Azara F. de. 1802. Apuntamientos para la historia natural de los páxaros del Paraguay y Rio de la Plata. Madrid: Imprenta de la Viuda Ibarra.
- Berlepsch H. von. 1887. Appendix. Systematisches verzeichniss in der Republik Paraguay bisher beobachteten vogelarten. Journal für Ornithologie 35: 113–134.
- Bertoni A.W. 1901. Aves nuevas del Paraguay. Continuación á Azara. Anales Científicos Paraguayos 1: 1–216.
- Bertoni A.W. 1914. Fauna Paraguaya: catálogos sistemáticos de los vertebrados del Paraguay. Peces, batracios, reptiles, aves y mamíferos conocidos hasta 1913. Asunción: M. Brossa.
- Bertoni A.W. 1930. Sobre ornitología del Chaco Paraguayo. Aves colectadas por Félix Posner en la Colonia "Monte Sociedad", hoy Benjamin Aceval (Villa Hayes). *Revista de la Sociedad Científica del Paraguay* 2: 241–258.
- Bertoni A.W. 1939. Catálogos sistemáticos de los vertebrados del Paraguay. Revista de la Sociedad Científica del Paraguay 4: 1–60.
- Blake E.R. 1977. *Manual of Neotropical birds, v. 1.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Clay R.P., Lesterhuis A.J. & López L. 2004. Aves de los humedales del Paraguay, p. 175–190. In: Salas-Dueñas D.A., Mereles F. & Yanosky A. (eds.). *Los humedales del Paraguay*. Asunción: Comité Nacional de Humedales.
- Clay R.P., Lesterhuis A.J. & Smith P. 2017. Status and distribution of the suborder Lari in Paraguay, including new country records. *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* 25: 128–136.
- Contreras J.R., González-Romero N., Peris-Álvarez S., Contreras A.O. & Acevedo-Gómez C. 1989a. Contribución al conocimiento de la avifauna del Lago Ypoá y regiones adyacentes del departamento Paraguarí, República del Paraguay. *Informe Científica del Instituto de Ciencias Básicas* 6: 35–53.
- Contreras J.R., Colmán-Jara A. & Pérez-Villamayor N. 1989b. Notas ornitológicas Paraguayas II. *Podiceps major major* (Boddaert, 1783) (Aves: Podicipedidae). *Nótulas Faunísticas* 30: 1–3.
- Guyra Paraguay. 2004. *Lista comentada de las aves de Paraguay*. Asunción: Editorial Guyra Paraguay.
- Hartlaub G. 1854. Kritische revision der Gattung Fulica *Lin. Journal für Ornithologie* 1: 73–89.
- Hayes F.E. 1995. *Status, distribution and biogeography of the birds of Paraguay.* New York: American Birding Association. Monographs in Field Ornithology No.1.
- Hayes F.E., Goodman S.M. & López N.E. 1990. New or noteworthy bird records from the Matogrosense region of Paraguay. *Bulletin of* the British Ornithologists' Club 110: 94–103.

- Hayes F.E., Lyons J.A. & Escobar-Argaña J. 2004. Additional records of the Silvery Grebe (*Podiceps o. occipitalis*), a Neotropical austral migrant, in Paraguay. *Cotinga* 22: 107–108.
- Hellmayr C.E. & Conover B. 1942. Catalogue of the birds of the Americas and the adjacent islands, Part 1, Number 1. *Field Museum of Natural Histor,y Publication 514, Zoological Series* 13: 1–636.
- Hellmayr C.E. & Conover B. 1948. Catalogue of the birds of the Americas, Part 1, Number 2. *Field Museum of Natural History, Publication 615, Zoological Series* 13: 1–434.
- Ihering H. von. 1904. Aves do Paraguay. *Revista do Museu Paulista* 6: 316–344.
- Johnsgard P.A. 1978. *Ducks, geese, and swans of the world.* Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.
- Kerr J.G. 1892. On the avifauna of the lower Pilcomayo. *Ibis* 6: 120–152.
- Laubmann A. 1939. Wissenschaftliche ergebnisse der Deutschen Gran Chaco-Expedition: Die Vogel von Paraguay. Stuttgart Strecker und Schroder.
- Lesterhuis A.J., Clay R.P. & Cabrera E. 2005. Paraguay. Informe Annual 2004, p. 74–81. In: López-Lanús B. & Blanco D.E. (eds.). *El censo Neotropical de aves acuáticas 2004*. Global Series No. 17. Buenos Aires: Wetlands International.
- López N.E. 1992. Paraguay, p. 32–36. In: Blanco D. & Canevari P. (eds.). *Censo Neotropical de aves acuáticas 1991*. Buenos Aires: Programa de Ambientes Acuáticos Neotropicales.
- López N.E. 1993. Paraguay, p. 38–48. In: Blanco D. & Canevari P. (eds.). *Censo Neotropical de aves acuáticas 1992*. Buenos Aires: Humedales para las Américas.
- Madge S. & Burn H. 1988. *Wildfowl: an identification guide to the ducks, geese and swans of the world.* London: Christopher Helm Publishers.
- Mazar-Barnett J. & Pearman M. 2001. Lista comentada de las aves Argentinas. Barcelona: Lynx Editions.
- Page T.J. 1859. La Plata, the Argentine Confederation and Paraguay. New York: Harper & Brothers.
- Peris S.J. & Suárez F. 1985. Algunas aves invernantes en el Bajo Chaco Paraguayo. *Volante Migratorio* 5: 20.
- Peters J.L. 1934. Check-list of birds of the world, v. 2. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Phillips J.C. 1923. A natural history of the ducks, v. 2: the genus Anas. Boston and New York: Houghton Mifflin.
- Pinto O.M.O. 1938. Catálogo das aves do Brasil e lista dos exemplares que as representam no Museu Paulista. *Revista do Museu Paulista* 22: 1–566.
- Pinto O.M.O. 1978. *Novo catálogo das aves do Brasil, v. 1.* São Paulo: Empresa Gráfica da Revista dos Tribunais.
- Remsen-Jr. J. V., Cadena C.D., Jaramillo A., Nores M., Pacheco J.F., Pérez-Emán J., Robbins M.B., Stiles F.G., Stotz D.F. & Zimmer K.J. 2017. A classification of the bird species of South America. American Ornithologists' Union. http://www.museum.lsu. edu/~Remsen/SACCBaseline.htm (access on 11 February 2017).
- Schlegel H. 1867. Urinatores. *Muséum d'Histoire Naturelle des Pays-Bas* 33: 1–52.
- Sharpe R. 1894. Catalogue of birds in the British Museum v. 23. Fulicariae (Rallidae and Heliornithidae) and Alectorides (Aramidae, Eurypygidae, Mesitidae, Rhinochaetidae, Gruidae, Psophidae, and Otididae in the British Museum. London: British Museum of Natural History.
- Smith P., del Castillo H. & Guest K. 2016. Birds of Reserva Natural Laguna Blanca, departamento San Pedro, Paraguay and the imminent threats to their conservation. *Revista de Biodiversidad Neotropical* 6: 55–67.
- Storer R.W. 1989. Notes on Paraguayan birds. Occasional Papers of the Museum of Zoology of the University of Michigan 719: 1–21.
- Taylor B. 1998. *Rails:* a guide to the rails, crakes, gallinules and coots of the world. New Haven : Yale University Press.

- USGS Patuxent Wildlife Research Center. 2015. Longevity records of North American birds. https://www.pwrc.usgs.gov/bbl/longevity/ longevity_main.cfm
- Vieillot L.J.P. 1817. *Nouveau dictionnaire d'histoire naturelle, v. 12.* Paris: Detterville.
- Wetlands International. 2012. Waterbird population estimates, 5th edn. Summary Report. Wageningen: Wetlands International.
- Wetmore A. 1926. Observations on the birds of Argentina, Paraguay, Uruguay and Chile. *Bulletin of the United States National Museum* 133: 1–448.
- Zotta A.R. 1935. Lista sistemática de las aves Argentinas. *Hornero* 6: 151–196.

Associate Editor: Marcos P. Dantas.

Instructions to Authors

The *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* will accept original contributions related to any aspect of the biology of birds, with emphasis on the documentation, analysis, and interpretation of field and laboratory studies, presentation of new methodologies, theories or reviews of ideas or previously known information. Studies using animals in captivity, zoos or rehabilitation centers should have a clear focus on applicability to wild birds; otherwise will be rejected without review. The *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* is interested in publishing ornithological studies on behavior, behavioral ecology, biogeography, breeding biology, community ecology, conservation biology, distribution, evolution and genetics, landscape ecology, methods and statistics, migration, nomenclature, paleontology, parasites and disease, phylogeography, physiology, population biology, systematics, and taxonomy. Significant range extensions and novel geopolitical (*e.g.* first country) records of vagrants are also welcome, but not mere lists of the avifauna of a specific locality, nor limited extensions in distribution. Monographs may be considered for publication upon consultation with the editor. **Research papers** are usually over 3000 words, including Abstract and References), with over 3 figures and/or tables. **Short-communications** (lower than 3000 words and up to 3 figures and/or tables) are also acceptable. We encourage submissions of thorough **Review Papers**, on methods or on a particular theoretical subject, which will receive priority during the review process. **Obituaries** and **Book Reviews** are also acceptable.

Manuscripts submitted to the *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia* must not have been published previously or be under consideration for publication, in whole or in part, in another journal or book. Manuscripts may be written only in American English and must be typed in Microsoft Word, using Times New Roman 12, spacing 1.5 and left justified, throughout the MS, including references and tables. Authors for whom English is not their native language are strongly recommended to have their manuscript professionally edited before submission to improve the English. Two of these independent suppliers of editing services in Brazil can be found through maryandriani@yahoo.com or the web site www.idstudio.art.br. All services are paid for and arranged by the author, and use of one of these services does not guarantee acceptance or preference for publication.

Scientific names must be shown in *italic*, and authors are encouraged to follow the latest systematic sequence, spelling and taxon authors of the Brazilian (Piacentini *et al.* 2015. *Rev. Bras. Ornitol.* 23: 91–298) or South American (<u>www.museum.lsu.edu/~Remsen/SACCBaseline.html</u>) bird lists, when pertinent and at their discretion. When using one of each of those sources, please be explicit about which one is being used, following it consistently throughout the manuscript. Common names should also follow those recommended by Brazilian or South American lists). Common names should be capitalized (*e.g.*, Kaempfer's Woodpecker, Common Tern).

SUBMISSION

Originals must be submitted by the online submission system at <u>http://www.museu-goeldi.br/rbo</u> and as a single Microsoft Word file (tables and figures must be at the end of the manuscript). Upon manuscript acceptance, high quality image files (extensions JPG, TIF, PSD, PDF, AI, EPS, WMF or XLS; minimum resolution of 300 dpi) of the original figures will be requested. The *title* must be concise and clearly define the topic of the manuscript. Generic expressions such as "contribution to the knowledge..." or "notes on..." must be avoided. The name of each author must be written in full, followed by the full mailing address, identified by superscript numerals, and author for correspondence, in the case of multiple authors.

The parts of the Research papers must be organized as follows:

- Title of the manuscript and author names, in lowercase not capitals and in bold, followed by addresses of all authors. Titles longer than 100 characters with spaces should be accompanied by a running-head, or short title, no longer than 100 characters in total, also provided in the first page of the manuscript.
- ABSTRACT/KEY-WORDS (with title and up to 300 words; five to eight key-words related to the main topics of the manuscript and *not already mentioned in the title* must be provided in alphabetical order and separated by comma). For Short-communications an abstract of up to 150 words is required, in addition to key-words.
- INTRODUCTION (starting on a new page).
- METHODS (this and subsequent parts continue without page breaks).
- **RESULTS** (only the results, succinctly).
- DISCUSSION (avoid repetition of results and speculations, keeping Discussion as short as possible).
- ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
- **REFERENCES** (check and follow format carefully).
- Tables
- Figure Legends
- Figures

For Short-communications, only the subheadings ABSTRACT, KEY-WORDS, ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS, and REFERENCES are required.

Each Table should be on a separate page, numbered in Arabic numerals, with its own heading.

Figure legends, occupying one or more pages following the tables, should be numbered successively, also in Arabic numerals. Figures will follow, one to each page, and clearly numbered in agreement with the legends. Figures should be pooled as composition (Fig. 1A, B, C) always as possible.

As necessary, subsections may be identified and labeled as such, lower case, in bold, central. If another subheading is necessary, please use in italics, left-justified. All pages should be numbered.

The following *abbreviations* should be used: h (hour), min (minute), s (second), km (kilometer), m (meter), cm (centimeter), mm (millimeter), ha (hectare), kg (kilogram), g (gram), mg (milligram), all of them in lowercase (not capitals) and with no "periods" ("."). Use the following *statistical notations: P, n, t, r, F, G, U, df* (degrees of freedom), χ^2 , ns (non-significant), CV (coefficient of variation), SD (standard deviation), SE (standard error). With the exception of temperature and percentage symbols (*e.g.*, 15°C, 45%), leave a space between the number and the unit or symbol (*e.g.*, n = 12, P < 0.05, 25 min), also in figures and tables.

Latin words or expressions should be written in italics (*e.g.*, *i.e.*, *c.*, *et al.*, *in vitro*, *in vivo*, *sensu*, *a priori*). The same rule applies to words in a language distinct from the manuscript language, *i.e.*, English, but does not apply to references, which follow distinct format rules, as indicated below. Numbers one to ten should be written out, unless a measurement (*e.g.*, four birds, 6 mm, 2 min); from 11 onwards use numbers.

Author *citations* in the text must follow the pattern: (Pinto 1964) or Pinto (1964); two publications of the same author must be cited as (Sick 1985, 1993) or (Ribeiro 1920a, b); Two authors are cited in text with "&" (*e.g.* Aleixo & Pacheco 2006). Three or more authors must be presented as the first author followed by *et al.* (*e.g.* Aleixo *et al.* 2013). Avoid multiple citations in text, such as more than 3 references to support an idea or information. Multiple references should be listed in chronological order (*e.g.* Sick 1997; Narosky & Yzurieta 2003; BirdLife International 2015). Unpublished information by third parties must be credited to the source by citing the initials and the last name of the informer followed by the appropriate abbreviation: (pers. obs.); when only one of the authors deserves credit for the unpublished observation or another aspect cited or pointed out in the text, this must be indicated by the name initials: "... in 1989 A.S. returned to the area...". *Unpublished manuscripts* (*e.g.*, technical reports, Undergraduate Monographs, M.Sc. Dissertations and Doctoral Thesis) and *meeting abstracts* should be cited only exceptionally, in cases they are absolutely essential and no alternative source exists. The *reference* list must include all and only the cited publications (titles written in full, not abbreviated), in alphabetical order by the authors' last name:

Articles

Fargione J., Hill J., Tilman D., Polasky S. & Hawthornez P. 2008. Land clearing and the biofuel carbon debt. Science 319: 1235–1238.

Santos M.P.D. & Vasconcelos M.F. 2007. Range extension for Kaempfer's Woodpecker *Celeus obrieni* in Brazil, with the first male specimen. *Bulletin of the British Ornithologists' Club* 127: 249–252.

Worthington A.H. 1989. Adaptations for avian frugivory: assimilation efficiency and gut transit time of *Manacus vitellinus* and *Pipra mentalis. Oecologia* 80: 381–389.

Books and Monographs

Sick H. 1985. Ornitologia brasileira, uma introdução, v. 1. Brasilia: Editora Universidade de Brasilia.

Book Chapters

Thiollay J.M. 1994. Family Accipitridae (hawks and eagles), p. 52–205. In: del Hoyo J., Elliott A. & Sargatal J. (eds.). *Handbook of birds of the world, v.* 2 (New World vultures to guineafowl). Barcelona: Lynx Editions.

Theses and Dissertations

Novaes F.C. 1970. Estudo ecológico das aves em uma área de vegetação secundária no Baixo Amazonas, Estado do Pará. Ph.D. Thesis. Rio Claro: Faculdade de Filosofia, Ciencias e Letras de Rio Claro.

Cavalcanti L.M.P. 2014. Sazonalidade na estação reprodutiva de aves de uma área de Caatinga e sua relação com a precipitação. Bachelor's Monograph. Mossoró: Universidade Federal Rural do Semiárido.

Web-based References

IUCN. 1987. A posição da IUCN sobre a migração de organismos vivos: introduções, reintroduções e reforços. http://iucn.org/themes/ssc/pubs/policy/ index.htm (access on 25 August 2005).

Dornas T. 2009a. [XC95575, Celeus obrieni]. http://www.xeno-canto.org/95575 (access on 25 February 2012).

Pinheiro R.T. 2009. [WA589090, Celeus obrieni Short, 1973]. http://www.wikiaves.com/589090 (access on 05 March 2012).

Footnotes will not be accepted in the text, but should be used in exceptional cases, or in tables.

Illustrations and *tables*. The illustrations (photographs, drawings, graphics and maps), which will be called figures, must be numbered with Arabic numerals in the order in which they are cited and will be inserted into the text. Upon manuscript acceptance, high quality image files (extensions JPG, TIF, PSD, AI, EPS, WMF or XLS; minimum resolution of 300 dpi) of the original figures will be requested. Tables and figures will receive independent numbering. In the text, mentioning figures and tables must follow the pattern: "(Fig. 2)" or "... in Fig. 2." Table headings must provide a complete title, and be self-explanatory, without needing to refer to the text. All figure legends must be grouped in numerical order on a separate sheet from the figures.

Authors are invited to check recent issues published by *Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia*, for style and format.

All materials must be submitted through the Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia web site: www.museu-goeldi.br/rbo

Only submissions through the web site will be considered. A letter of submission must accompany the manuscript. Notification of receipt of the submission will be sent automatically to the corresponding author. Please follow instructions strictly for preparation of manuscripts, otherwise they will be rejected without revision. Once the manuscript is finally accepted and a final version consolidated, PDF proofs will be sent by email to the corresponding author for revision. The correction of the final version sent for publication is entirely the authors' responsibility. The first author of each published paper will receive via e-mail, free of charge, a PDF file of the published paper. In the case of doubts as to the rules of format, please contact the editor prior to submission:

Leandro Bugoni Universidade Federal do Rio Grande - FURG Instituto de Ciências Biológicas, Caixa Postal 474, CEP 96203-900, Rio Grande, RS, Brazil. Phone: (55) 53 3293 5059 E-mail: editoriarbo@gmail.com

Revista Brasileira de Ornitologia Volume 26 – Issue 1 – March 2018

CONTENTS

BEHAVIOR

Influence of urbanization on the distribution and defense strategies of the Burrowing Owl <i>Athene cunicularia</i> in the city of Uberlândia, southeastern Brazil	
Felipe Fina Franco & Oswaldo Marçal-Junior	1
A review of flocking behavior by Hook-billed Kite, <i>Chondrohierax uncinatus</i> , in South America	
Sidnei de Melo Dantas, Carlos Eduardo Bustamante Portes, Eleonora Pinheiro & Guy M. Kirwan	9
Several cavity-nesting birds fight for a single tree hollow in an Atlantic Forest fragment: consequence of increasing nest-site limitation?	
Alexander V. Christianini	12

ECOLOGY & CONSERVATION

A review of the ornithological knowledge of the northern Serra do Mar mountains in the state of São Paulo, southeastern Brazil	
Fabio Schunck, José Fernando Pacheco, Alexsander Z. Antunes, Ricardo Luís Gagliardi & Luís Fábio Silveira	15
Leukocyte profiles and body condition of free-living Burrowing Owls (<i>Athene cunicularia</i>) from rural and urban areas in the Argentinean Pampas	
Matilde Cavalli, Alejandro V. Baladrón, Juan P. Isacch, Verónica D'Amico & María S. Bó	45
Diet of the Spectacled Owl (<i>Pulsatrix perspicillata</i>) in Zapotillo, southwestern Ecuador	
Adrian Orihuela-Torres, Leonardo Ordóñez-Delgado, Andrés Verdezoto-Celi & Jorge Brito	52

SYSTEMATICS, TAXONOMY AND DISTRIBUTION

Rapid southward and upward range expansion of a tropical songbird, the Thrush-like Wren (<i>Campylorhynchus turdinus</i>), in South America: a consequence of habitat or climate change?	
Floyd E. Hayes, Peter Lecourt & Hugo del Castillo	57
New and noteworthy records of waterbirds from Paraguay	
Arne J. Lesterhuis, Robert P. Clay & Paul Smith	65

Instructions to Authors	74
-------------------------	----

